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Dear Shareholders,

Italy finally emerged from recession in 2015 even though the signs of recovery are 
still weak and uncertain; this is mainly due to the performance of the world economy, with 
advanced countries, including Europe, slightly improving, but held back by the crisis in emerging 
economies and the ongoing slowdown in China which seems to have run out of steam in driving 
forward the entire global economy.

Even though the general situation has not yet successfully stabilised, the results obtained 
by the SIA Group in 2015 were better than those set out in the Strategic Plan and the 2014 
results, which had also benefitted from the extraordinary revenues arising through migration 
to the SEPA standards; this was due to the growth in electronic payment transactions, the 
increase in traffic volumes on the SIAnet network, the acquisition of new customers and cross-
selling, along with the development of new services and products.

Group revenues increased to € 449.4 million, with an increase of € 23.1 million (+5.4%) 
over 2014; EBITDA amounted to € 123.9 million, with an increase of € 1.3 million (+1.1%) and 
EBIT stood at € 100.5 million, up € 2.7 million compared to the previous year (+2.7%). The 
pre-tax profit amounted to € 100.6 million, up € 1.5 million (+1.6%), and net profit at € 69.8 
million was up by € 4 million (+6.2%). The 2015 financial statements were the first to be drawn 
up in accordance with the IAS/IFRS international accounting standards, which were adopted in 
view of a possible listing by the Group on a regulated market.

The positive results for the year also included significant improvement in the net financial 
position, which increased from € 75.5 million in 2014 to € 108.7 million in 2015 (+44%), and 
an increase in the shareholders’ equity of the Group, from € 181.1 million in 2014 to € 222 
million in 2015 (+22.6%). There was also a high level of investments made, amounting to € 20.7 
million during the year (4.6% of revenues), which mainly involved the further strengthening 
of the technological infrastructures and the study of new services to offer customers in 
order to consolidate the standards of excellence, innovation and reliability that have always 
characterised the Group.

The growth in revenues in a market that is constantly changing and highly competitive, meant 
that there was an increase in the contribution of foreign sales (+10.5%), which was higher than 
sales in Italy (+4.2%), confirming the commitment by the SIA Group to develop its business 
at European level. In 2015, the SIA group managed a total of 9.9 billion clearing transactions 
(+7.7% compared to 2014), 3.9 billion issuing and acquiring transactions (+10.2%) and 2.8 
billion payment transactions (+3.6%). The number of trading and post-trading transactions on 
the financial markets increased to 41.7 billion from 30.2 billion in 2014, with an increase of 
38%. 358 terabytes of data was managed on the 180,000 kilometres of the SIAnet network, 
up about 10% over 2014, with a service continuity level of 100%.

Letter to the shareholders
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As part of the Group streamlining process, there was a merger between the RA Computer 
company (previously 100% owned) and the parent company SIA S.p.A., and a merger between 
the "Gateway" business unit and the subsidiary TSP which took effect from 1 January 2015; 
these operations had been decided on the previous year. There were over 120 new hires during 
the year to deal with the constantly growing business, increasing the total number of Group 
employees to 1,612 by the end of 2015. To this end, we should note how much effort SIA 
devotes to staff recruitment, in addition to personnel management, including through advanced 
company welfare policies, with the aim of attracting and holding onto the best talents in the 
Group, who will find that SIA is a place where they can express their potential and be rewarded 
on their merits.

The new Strategic Plan was put into place in 2015; it sets out the lines of development for 
the 2016-2018 three-year period, identifying organic growth, maintenance of profitability and 
growth through extraordinary transactions as its main goals.

At year end, SIA also created the first "Report on Economic, Social and Environmental 
Sustainability" of the Group, and made it available to all its stakeholders; it was published 
along with these consolidated financial statements and is full of data and information that 
can be used to assess the activities, results and growth prospects on company values in the 
broadest sense.

In summary, the Group continued to develop throughout the year, established its corporate 
organisation, strengthened its economic and financial results and expanded its market share. 
Statistical studies predict general growth for electronic payments - which represent our 
core business - over the next few years: there is annual growth of 4.1% forecast for Europe, 
increasing from 131 billion electronic transactions in 2014 to 195 billion transactions in 2024. 
Italy has an extensive payment card acceptance network, but there is still a low percentage 
of payments made by card. There are about thirty POS terminals in Italy for every thousand 
inhabitants: three times more than in Germany. However, the annual number per capita of card 
payments (thirty-three) is much lower than the leading European economies and the average 
recorded across the nineteen countries of the euro area (seventy-four) and the entire twenty-
eight countries in the European Union (eighty-nine). This all augurs well for the SIA Group 
to continue its solid course of development to the benefit of all its stakeholders, both on 
the home market and at international level. We know that we can count on the capacity and 
professional expertise of everyone who works in the Group. We would like to extend our thanks 
and appreciation to all employees for the commitment and passion applied each and every day 
to constantly meet new challenges.

 The Chairman    The CEO
 Giuliano Asperti    Massimo Arrighetti
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SIA S.p.A.
Registered office in Via Francesco Gonin 36, Milan
Share Capital € 22,274,619.51.= fully paid-up
Companies’ Register, Tax Code and VAT no. 10596540152
Milan Economic and Administrative Register (REA) no. 1385874
Official Gazette Part II no. 32 of 15/03/2016

The shareholders of SIA S.p.A. are hereby called to the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting in 
Milan, at the registered office of SIA S.p.A., Via Francesco Gonin 36, Milan, on first call, on 15 
April 2016 at 12:00 p.m. and if necessary, on second call on 29 April 2016 at 12:00 p.m., at 
the same place, to discuss and resolve upon the following

agenda:

1) Approval of the Financial Statements as at 31 December 2015; related resolutions;
2) Appointment of the Board of Statutory Auditors for the 2016/2018 three-year period;
3) Calculation of the remuneration for the Board of Statutory Auditors;
4) Appointment of an Auditor or Independent Auditing firm

All holders of ordinary shares are entitled to attend the Shareholders’ Meeting upon presenta-
tion of the notice issued by an authorised intermediary pursuant to applicable law.

Milan, 10 March 2016

 SIA S.p.A.
 The Chairman of the Board of Directors
 Giuliano Asperti

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
Published on the Official Gazette no. 32 - Part II of 15 March 2016
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Executives in office

The Shareholders’ Meeting of 28 May 2014 appointed the following members of the Board 
of Directors of SIA S.p.A. for the 2014-2016 three-year period, and in any case, up to approval 
of the financial statements for the year ended as at 31 December 2016.

■■ Board of Directors 

Chairman Giuliano Asperti
Deputy Chairman Carlo Tresoldi
CEO Massimo Arrighetti
Directors Fabio Albano
 Giuseppe Dallona 
 Fiore della Rosa
 Paolo Maria Grandi 
 Barbara Poggiali 
 Barnaba Ravanne
 Marco Tugnolo
 Valerio Zappalà
Board's Secretary Monica Coppo

■■ Board of Statutory Auditors

Chairman Mario Cattaneo
Standing Auditors Pier Luigi Diociaiuti
 Giorgio Silva
Alternate Auditors Roberto Bianco
 Pietro Mastrapasqua

 The Statutory Auditors will remain in office until approval of the financial statements for 
the year ended on 31 December 2015

■■ Independent Auditing Firm Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.

The Independent Auditing Firm will stay in office until approval of the financial state-
ments for the year ended on 31 December 2015

■■ Supervisory Body 

Chairman Giuseppe Mazzini
Members Monica Coppo
 Raffaele Pace
 Roberto Strazzarino
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SIA is a European leader in the design, 
manufacture and management of infrastructures 
and technological services to be used by financial 
institutions, central banks, companies and the 
public administration in the areas of payments, 
e-money, network services and capital markets.

 The SIA Group has customers in over 40 
countries in Europe, the Middle East and Africa, 
and also operates through subsidiaries in 
Hungary and South Africa. The Group has offices 
in Milan, Rome, Turin, Macerata, Brussels, 
Utrecht, Budapest and Pretoria.

Group profile

Milan

Utrecht

Turin

Brussels

Macerata
Budapest

Pretoria

Rome
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Shareholding structure of the parent company SIA S.p.A.  
as at 31 December 2015

   

1. Through FSIA Investiment S.r.l. 
2. Through F2I Reti Logiche S.r.l. 
3. Through Orizzonte Infrastrutture Tecnologiche S.r.l.
4. Banca Mediolanum S.p.A. + Mediolanum S.p.A.

Fondo Strategico Italiano1

49.48%

Banca 
Mediolanum4

2.85%

Deutsche Bank
2.58%

Banco Popolare
2.52%

Other
8.94%

UniCredit
3.97%

Intesa Sanpaolo
3.97%

Orizzonte3

8.64%

Fondi Italiani 
per le Infrastrutture2

17.05%
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SIA Group corporate structure as at 31 December 2015

SIA Group values

    Our vision
To create a highly qualified and 

efficient international network of 
specialists and infrastructures and 
become the focal point of a flexible, 
well-organised network of excellence 
that operates at the highest levels of 

professional competence.

    Our mission
To design, build and manage 

cost-effective, safe and reliable 
transaction services in the areas 
of payments, e-money, networking, 
trading and post-trading on behalf 

of financial and central institutions, 
companies and the public 

administration.

100%100%100%100%51%

Participation ResponsibilityReliability InnovationExpertise
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The National 
Interbank 
Network and 
payment 
systems

•  Development of the 
National Interbank 
Network ("RNI") 
which connects 
all the financial 
institutions

•  Automation of the 
interbank payment 
system

•  Establishment of the 
first ATMs and POS 
terminals.

Automation  
of the financial 
markets

Technological innovation  
in the financial markets: 
SIA was a leading player 
in the automation of the 
Italian stock exchange 
(Borsa Italiana) markets 
and start up of wholesale 
Italian markets: the 
Interbank Deposits Market 
(e-MID) and the screen-
based government bond 
market (MTS).

The first projects 
involving payment 
cards were initiated: 
ATM card (bancomat)/
Pagobancomat, Fastpay, 
electronic purse and 
microcircuit project to 
change from magnetic strip 
cards to microchip cards.

Expansion  
in Europe

The technological 
excellence was recognised 
at European level.  
The company cast itself  
as a competitive player  
on the international 
market.

It developed innovative 
services related to the 
euro and Europe:

•  processing solutions for 
issuing and acquiring

•  EBA STEP2 platform for 
retail payments in euros

•  Monte Titoli post-trading

•  monitoring systems

•  participation in 
international EMV 
circuits and standards.

International 
experience 
and skills

•  Network Service 
Provider for access 
to T2S

•  SIAnet Financial 
Ring with 29 trading 
venues connected

•  Collateral 
management for 
central banks and 
CSD

•  4CBNet

•  Outsourcing for IP 
and Imel

•  Development of 
Jiffy service for P2P 
money transfers.

The 1980s

The 1990s

The 2000s 

2010 ∙ 2015

A history of innovation
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Group customer segments

* Note: net of Italian domestic volumes migrated to SEPA

Volumes of transactions handled (millions)

52

SIA pone grande attenzione alla qualità, qua-
le elemento cruciale di soddisfazione dei propri 
clienti. Infatti, il successo di SIA si basa sulla re-
putazione e sulla fiducia che in essa ripongono 
i clienti e gli altri stakeholder della comunità di 
business. E in quest’ottica, la sicurezza dei dati, 
la tutela della privacy e la continuità operativa 

sono aspetti di valore essenziale.
Per questo SIA aggiorna e incrementa quoti-

dianamente i sistemi di protezione e di resilien-
za dei servizi e prodotti offerti ai clienti, integran-
done i requisiti nei sistemi e nelle procedure sia 
interne che dei propri fornitori.

4.6  Qualità dei servizi 

POLITICA PER LA QUALITÀ DI SIA
Principi Guida

• Garanzia del soddisfacimento dei requisiti del cliente e dei requisiti normativi applicabili.

• Miglioramento continuo dei processi aziendali attraverso sistemi di misurazione e monitoraggio.

• Formazione comportamentale e tecnica finalizzata a garantire professionalità in grado di assicurare la soddisfazione del cliente.

• Riesame periodico della Politica stessa, per garantire la costante soddisfazione delle esigenze dei clienti e del mercato.

• Attuazione e manutenzione di un Sistema di Gestione Qualità conforme allo standard internazionale ISO 9001:2008.

Livelli di servizio
(Valori percentuali)

L’azienda ha predisposto un Sistema di Ge-
stione Qualità (SGQ), che comprende:
• la definizione dei processi aziendali;
• l’assegnazione delle relative responsabilità;
•  indicatori specifici per misurare la capacità 

dei propri processi e servizi di produrre i risul-
tati attesi a fronte di obiettivi definiti.

Attraverso l’analisi periodica degli indicatori è 
possibile individuare i punti di forza e di debo-
lezza del sistema, predisporre eventuali azioni 
correttive o preventive, garantire il costante mi-
glioramento del sistema stesso.

RETAIL SERVICES INSTITUTIONAL SERVICES NETWORK SERVICES

99,976%

99,8%

99,999% 100%

    2013

    2014

    2015

100%

99,9%

CARDS PAYMENTS* INSTITUTIONAL SERVICES

2014

3,575

2014

2,671

2014

9,167

2015

3,942

2015

2,768

2015

9,875

2013

3,284

2013

2,611

2013

2,161

2012

3,026

2012

2,335

2012

1,196

CAGR + 9.2%

CAGR + 5.8%

CAG
R + 10

2.1
%

Central 
Institutions

Financial
Institutions

Corporates Public Sector Capital 
Markets

Central banks

ACH

Financial 
associations

Financial 
institutions with 
system purpose

National and 
multinational 
banking groups

Financial 

Broker/trader

Service centres

Telco

Utility

Petrol

Insurance

Payment

Mobility institutions

Manufacturing

Retail

Media

Services

Centralised P.A.

Local P.A.

Agency for Digital 
Italy

Healthcare

Financial Markets

CSD

Clearing House 
shares

Global Custodian

Supervisory 
Authorities
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Service levels

Main operating volumes 2015

41.7 billion financial 
transactions

over 100 financial 
intermediaries in 18 
countries use the 
compliance and monitoring 
services of SIA with the 
ability to manage over

350 million orders per  
day (50,000 per second)

29 trading venues and over 
580 customers connected 
to the Financial Ring

9.9 billion clearing 
transactions

over 4,800 banks
using EBA STEP2

3.9 billion issuing and 
acquiring transactions 747,325 traders managed 65.1 milioni credit, debit 

and prepaid cards handled

2.8 billion transactions 1,154 customers

INSTITUTIONAL SERVICES

CARDS

PAYMENTS

358.2 terabytes 
transported on the network 100% availability 180,000 km SIAnet network

NETWORK

RETAIL SERVICES INSTITUTIONAL SERVICES NETWORK SERVICES

99.976%

99.8%

99.999% 100%

    2013

    2014

    2015

100%

99.9%
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The scope of consolidation did not 
change during the year – apart from the 
extraordinary transaction leading to the 
merger between RA Computer and SIA S.p.A. 
which took effect on 1 January 2015 – and 
includes the parent company, SIA S.p.A., the 

foreign subsidiaries, SIA Central Europe and 
Perago FSE, the Italian subsidiaries, TSP 
and Pi4Pay, all fully owned, and the Italian 
company Emmecom, in which it has a 51% 
stake. The 2015 results for the Group were 
higher than the previous year as a whole.

Economic performance (thousands of euros)

31/12/2014 31/12/2015 Changes %

Revenues from sales and services  426,295  449,409  23,114 5.4%

EBITDA  122,582  123,896  1,314 1.1%

% to revenues 28.8% 27.6%     
     
EBIT  97,801  100,456  2,655 2.7%

% to revenues 22.9% 22.4%     
         
Profit (loss) before taxes  99,057  100,623  1,566 1.6%

% to revenues 23.2% 22.4%     
     
Profit pertaining to the Group  65,763  69,818  4,055 6.2%

% to revenues 15.4% 15.5%     

Financial performance (thousands of euros)

31/12/2014 31/12/2015 Changes %

Tangible assets  33,646  30,220 (3,426) -10.2%

Intangible assets  43,398  44,348  950 2.2%

Total non-current assets  87,152  83,608 (3,544) -4.1%

Total current assets  236,806  280,271  43,465 18.4%
      

TOTAL ASSETS  323,958  363,879  39,921 12.3%

TOTAL GROUP SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  181,089  222,040  40,951 22.6%

Shareholders' equity – minority interests  488  734  246 50.4%

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  181,577  222,774  41,197 22.7%

Total non-current liabilities  35,424  37,101  1,677 4.7%

Total current liabilities  106,957  104,004 (2,953) -2.8%

TOTAL LIABILITIES  142,381  141,105 (1,276) -0.9%

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  323,958  363,879  39,921 12.3%

Summary of Group consolidated results
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REVENUES (millions of euros)

2012

348.3

2011

333.3

2015

449.4

2013

380.3
426.3

2014

EBITDA (millions of euros)

2012

89.8

2011

69.2

2015

123.9

2013

100.8

122.6

2014

EBIT (millions of euros)

2012

64.7

2011

47.5

20152013

75.0

97.8 100.5

2014

The figures relating to the financial years 2011, 2012 and 2013 refer to financial statements 
drawn up in accordance with Italian accounting standards while the IAS/IFRS international 
accounting standards were applied for the years 2014 and 2015.
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PROFIT (LOSS) PERTAINING TO THE GROUP 

(millions of euros)

2012

41.3

2011

21.6

2015

69.8

2013

48.8

65.8

2014

GROUP SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(millions of euros)

2012

183.9

2011

142.1

2015

222.0

2013

215.8

181.1

2014

NET INVESTED CAPITAL (millions of euros)

2012

73.6

2011

72.7

20152013

83.4

106.1
114.1

2014
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Main ratios in the consolidated financial statements
31/12/2014 31/12/2015 Note

ROE - Net profit/Group shareholders' equity 36.3% 31.4%  

ROI - EBIT/Invested capital 30.2% 27.6%  (1) 

EBIT/Revenues from sales and services 22.9% 22.4%  

Total assets/Shareholders' equity 1.78 1.63  

Current assets/Current liabilities 2.21 2.69  

Cash and cash equivalents / Current liabilities 0.88 1.18   

Non-current assets/Total assets 0.27 0.23  

Current assets/Total assets 0.73 0.77  

Quick ratio 2.18 2.68 (2)

FCF Conversion (FCFO /EBITDA) 0.60 0.45 (3)

(1)  The value of the total assets was considered as Invested capital
(2)  The Quick ratio is the ratio of current assets, net of inventories, to total current liabilities
(3)  The Operating Free Cash Flow is given by the sum of the net cash flows generated/absorbed by the operating activities (after taxes) 

and the net cash flows generated/absorbed by investing activities, both as reported in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Even though the ROE and ROI ratios are 
still at higher levels than the applicable market 
levels, the slight fall recorded in 2015 in these 
ratios - and with a company that is developing 
in terms of both revenues and profitability 
- is due to the capital strengthening policy 

pursued, which aimed to ensure adequate 
levels of return on capital while maintaining 
the financial resources needed to encourage 
the non-organic growth operations set out in 
the Strategic Plan.

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 
(millions of euros)

2012

106.9

2011

71.0

20152013

129.0

75.5

108.7

2014
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Global economy prospects are slightly 
improving in advanced countries while growth 
in emerging economies is still uncertain 
and exposed to risks associated with the 
Chinese situation. The most recent forecasts 
by the International monetary fund (IMF) 
for 2015 put global GDP growth at +3.1%, 
especially sustained by China (+6.9%) and 
India (+7.3%) as the emerging countries and 
by the United States and the United Kingdom 
(at +2.5% and +2.2% respectively) as the 
advanced economies. Russia (-3.7%) and 
Brazil (-3.8%) have slowed down much more 
than expected, while Japan will grow by 0.6% 
and the euro area by 1.5%. Global growth is 
sustained by industrial output dynamics, and 
to a lesser extent, by international trade (+2% 
yoy, half of what had been forecast in June). 
There are still negative signs, such as the 
fall in the price of raw materials, especially 
oil, and low inflation in advanced countries 
(all under 1%).

The growth in Europe in 2015 was 

supported by an increase in private and 
public consumption, while investments 
stayed stagnant and exports fell, leading to 
a fall of -0.3% in foreign trade in the third 
quarter.

The most recent preliminary Istat esti-
mates on the European front predict GDP 
growth of around 0.8% in Italy for 2015. This 
result was obtained through internal demand 
and more specifically household spending, 
especially in the area of durable goods. 
Industrial sales grew in 2015 (an average 
of +1.8% in the January-October period) 
and non-EU exports also grew. There was 
a positive foreign trade balance for 2015, 
but with signs of recovery in imports which 
will contribute to negative growth in the 
foreign component if confirmed next year. 
Inflation will stay very low, standing at 0.1% 
in December. In the first nine months of the 
year, both disposable income for households 
grew (+0.9%) and propensity towards savings 
(+0.9% in the third quarter).

Development of the macroeconomic 
scenario 
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Situation and prospects for the electronic 
payments market

At global level, 2014 figures (the latest 
figures available) indicate that the total number 
of transactions made during the year amounted 
to 4 thousand billion. Less than 11% of these 
(432 billion) were made electronically.

The market is also highly diverse in the 
various geographical areas: the percentage 
of electronic payments amounted to 36% 
out of a total of 274 billion transactions 
in Western Europe; in Eastern Europe, it 
amounted to 10% out of a total of 318 billion 
transactions; in the United States, which is 
the most advanced market, but with further 
room for development, the percentage of non-
cash transactions amounted to 51% out of a 
total of 284 billion transactions.

 
Payment digitalisation opportunities 
at global level

(2014 figures, billions of transactions)

3,929

2,323

274

284

318

382

Cash Electronic payments

Total

Asia 
and Pacific

South 
America
Eastern 
Europe

USA

Western 
Europe

89%

96%

89%

90%

49%

64%

11%

4%

11%

10%

51%

36%

Statistical studies predict general growth 
in electronic payments in the next few years: 
the forecasts by BCG Global Payment Model 
for 2024 indicate a global annual increase 
of 6.5%.

According to the BCG study, annual growth 
of 4.1% is forecast for Europe, increasing 
from 131 billion electronic transactions in 
2014 to 195 billion transactions by 2024.

Forecasts for growth in electronic 
transactions

2014A

Europe Rest of the world

2024E

301

432 615
+7.4%

+4.1%

810

131
195

CAGR +6.5%

Italy, as shown by the Cards&Payments 
Intelligence Centre figures shown in the 
graph below, has an extensive payment card 
acceptance network, but there is still a low 
percentage of payments made by card. There 
are about 30 POS terminals in Italy for every 
1000 inhabitants: this is three times higher 
than the figure in Germany. However, the 
annual number per capita of card payments 
(33) is much lower than both the leading 
European economies, and also the average 
recorded in the 19 euro area countries (74) 
and all 28 countries of the European Union 
(89).
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A comparison between the Cards&Payments 

Intelligence Center figures and the Eurostat 

figures shows that the transactions made in 

Italy in 2014 with payment cards/debit cards, 

equal to 142 billion euros, amounted to 13% 

of private consumption by households:

this penetration rate is very low if com-
pared with the more "virtuous" European 
countries such as Sweden (56%), the United 
Kingdom (54%) and Portugal (52%).

Note: UE28 does not include Malta or Cyprus - Source: Cards&Payments Intelligence Center
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Amount of the transactions (billion s of euros)
Amount of the transactions/ 

Household private consumption (%)

United Kingdom

France

Germany

Italy

Spain

Sweden

Netherlands

Norway

Belgium

Portugal

Denmark

Finland

Austria

Ireland

744 54

452 40

257 17

142 14

118 19

108 56

110 38

71 48

76 39

62 52

59 49

40 37

36 20

30 37

Source: Cards&Payments Intelligence Center, Eurostat, 2014.
Note: the amount of the transactions relates to transactions with debit and credit cards and does not include cash withdrawal transactions.

  Number of per capita payments 
made by card 

Transactions with payment cards / debit card 
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Business and positioning of the SIA Group

In 2015, the Group confirmed its position 
as the leading operator in the processing 
of electronic transactions and management 
of European service infrastructures, in card 
processing markets, payment services and 
systems, as well as in the market for financial 
intermediary solutions and the networking 
services area. The geographic coverage of 
customer services extends to more than 40 
countries spanning Europe, the Middle East 
and Africa.

SIA was able to enhance the value of its 
distinctive elements, more specifically:

 › proprietary technological platforms 
developed in-house with the most efficient, 
cutting-edge technology;

 › a unique track record in "zero impact" 
migration for e-money services from 
customer systems to the SIA systems;

 › experience accrued in the creation and 
management of infrastructure services 
considered as critical missions;

 › excellent know-how in the most critical 
areas for customers regarding compliance, 
safety and development in standards and 
regulations of international markets;

 › investments in the research into innovative 
solutions in frontier technology.

All company activities bear the hallmarks 
of quality, reliability, security, solidity and 
innovation. SIA continues to consider the 
pursuit of excellence to be a key factor in its 
success in increasingly competitive markets, 
and at the base of the core values of the 
company, embraced by all staff, i.e.:

 › expertise since the sector that the 
company operates in is complex and 
constantly evolving; 

 › responsibility as SIA is aware of how 
important and critical the activities that 
its customers require are to them; 

 › reliability, because the company honours 
its commitments; 

 › participation, because the company’s 
style is to both work as a team and 
providing the system with ideas, expertise 
and experience;

 › innovation, since SIA believes that its 
strong ongoing commitment will help it 
predict future requirements.
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Significant events during the financial period

We will set out the main events which 
occurred in 2015.

 › The partial demerger of TSP in favour 
of the parent company SIA took effect 
as of 1 January 2015. This transaction, 
with a condition involving transfer of the 
"Gateway" business unit and the full 
equity investment in the payment institute 
Pi4Pay, was essentially put in place to 
achieve technological completeness 
and provide a full set of services to 
operators in the Public Administration, 
while simultaneously providing the 
Group with greater synergy through more 
efficient commercial coordination and a 
reduction in overhead costs. The Notes 
to the financial statements explain the 
accounting effects of this transaction in 
more detail.

 › The merger by incorporation between RA 
Computer and SIA took effect as of 1 
January 2015. Within the scope of the 
merger, the data centre of RA Computer 
was consolidated into the data centre of 
SIA in January. The Notes to the financial 
statements provide more details on the 
effects of the merger on the accounts.

 › The process of adopting the IAS/IFRS 
accounting standards began on 1 
January 2015. The First Time Adoption 
was therefore established as 1 January 
2014. The adoption of the international 
accounting standards will allow for easier 
comparison of corporate results with 
those of foreign companies in accordance 
with the globalisation processes being 
implemented by the Group, and will also 
prepare it for a possible listing on the 
regulated market.

 ›  The agreement between the State Police 

and SIA for the prevention of IT crimes on 
the company’s critical infrastructures was 
renewed, with the aim of adopting agreed 
intervention procedures and exchange 
of information that could help prevent 
and fight computer attacks by terrorist or 
criminal elements.

 › SIA, in partnership with Colt, won the 
contract to connect the Hungarian Keler 
central depository owned by the Central 
Bank of Hungary and the Budapest Stock 
Exchange, to T2S, the single European 
platform to settle transactions in 
domestic and cross-border securities.

 › The SCC (STEP2 Card Clearing) service 
entered into production in April, which 
allows par ticipating banks to clear 
transactions made with payment cards 
/ debit cards using the STEP2 platform.

 › The new post-trading service created by 
SIA allowed Monte Titoli to migrate onto 
the new European settlement platform for 
transactions in euro securities managed 
by ECB Target2 Securities. The new 
network infrastructure that allows Monte 
Titoli to connect to Target2 Securities 
was also created in association with Colt.

 › The partnership with JCB was strength-
ened in Europe with the signing of a five-
year contract, which put SIA in charge 
of managing payment transactions of 
Italian traders affiliated with JCB on its 
technological platform, and so adding to 
the UK traders already on the platform.

 › The project, called active/active main-
frame, was completed in August, allowing 
e-money services to be provided at the 
same time by the two operating sites, 
and reducing recovery times to five 
minutes in the case of disaster.
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 › The Board of Directors of the parent 
company SIA S.p.A., in the meeting of 25 
June 2015 and the Shareholders’ Meeting 
held on 23 July, approved the share 
capital increase reserved to company 
management and the Belgian branch, 
with exclusion of the option rights due 
to company shareholders in accordance 
with article 2441, paragraph 8 of the 
Italian Civil Code. The share capital 
increase, which was fully subscribed, was 
made by issue of 1,410,253 new shares, 
with a nominal value of € 0.13 each, 
for a total value of about € 5.5 million, 
including the share premium. The shares 
issued were special category shares, and 
will give the right to dividends, but may 
not be transferred for 36 months starting 
from the date of subscription (lock-up 
period) and will not give voting rights at 
the Shareholders’ Meetings. The sale 
of shares to executives, on the basis of 
the fair value calculated by an external 
consultant, forms part of the share co-
investment plan, with the goal being 
to align the interests of management 
with the interests of shareholders for 
the three-year Strategic Plan, also in 
view of a possible future IPO (Initial 
Public Offering). Following this issue, 
the new share capital of SIA amounted 
to € 22,274,619.51 allocated among 
171,343,227 shares.

 › The "INCAS" (INternational Cards 
Authorisation System) project was 
completed in November, consolidating 
the authorisation front-end platforms of 
international credit cards and debit cards 
on to a proprietary system which allows 
SIA to control the know-how without 
having to depend on third parties.

 › Within the scope of the "3DSecure" 
project relating to the e-commerce 

service provided by SIA in compliance 
with the regulations governing the VISA 
and MasterCard circuits, aimed also 
at strengthening the technological 
infrastructure to deal with the increase in 
volume of transactions, eleven customers 
were set up on the SIA platform at the 
end of 2015.

 › SIA and INFORM, a leading German 
company in the development of risk 
management and fraud prevention 
systems, formed a partnership aimed 
at providing a fraud prevention and risk 
management service for the acquiring 
banks and financial sector customers in 
Europe.

 › Tw o  l e a d i n g  I t a l i a n  f i n a n c i a l 
institutions were able to launch the 
pilot "Family&Friends" system on the 
market for contactless payments using 
smartphones with Host Card Emulation 
technology and Visa and MasterCard 
certificates.

 › The Electronic Invoicing service was 
successfully initiated, and a system 
to support the simplification process 
of public payments to the Public 
Administration was carried out in 
association with leading Italian banks 
through use of the "Pago-Pa" payment 
centre of the Agency for Digital Italy.

 › There were over 250,000 active P2P 
Jiffy payment service users by the end 
of December; the system facilitates the 
transfer of money via smartphone in 
real time from current accounts to other 
current accounts, including to different 
banks. The service was expanded during 
the year, giving users the option to make 
donations to charities. As the system 
was being developed outside Italy, SIA 
also initiated an association with GFT 
Technologies to market Jiffy in Germany.
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2016-2018 Strategic Plan

SIA approved the new 2016-2018 
Strategic Plan in 2015, following the lines of 
development set out in the previous 2015-
2017 Plan, and maintaining the goal for 
organic and self-financing growth. In the long 
term, the Plan lays the foundation for SIA 
to become one of the leading international 
operators in the payment services segment 
in particular.

Growth in revenue and in market share 
within the payment sector in Europe will be 
pursued by the Group through financially 
sustainable initiatives which guarantee growth 
of market share and cash flow. SIA will also 
focus on developing systems in the Italian 
Public Administration. At the same time, the 
products will be expanded and diversified, 
including through the creation of internal 
start-ups. It will also continue to strongly 
monitor the "system" areas (clearing and 
settlement, market infrastructures, Interbank 
National Network) and act in its role as a 
reference figure for central institutions.

The road to growth is aimed at stabilising 
profitability and the creation of value and 
guaranteeing the distribution of dividends to 
shareholders in accordance with responsible 
management.

Based on the technical structure, the 
company has set objectives in the following 
areas:

 › cyber security: to further strengthen 
the already high levels of security and 
protection against cyber criminals and 
the security of the data processed;

 › Active/Active technology that guarantees 
continuity of the service though a network 
of processors that are distributed all over 
the territory;

 › streamlining the front ends of the SIA 
Group for authorisation transactions;

 › review of the corporate applications 
to align them with required standards 
and new generation technology, thus 
strengthening internal expertise with 
a view towards reducing costs and 
increasing flexibility in managing demand;

 › review of the applications used in the 
various business areas in order to 
restructure, secure and improve in terms 
of performance and synergy;

 › review of the processes and tools for 
the governance and development of 
the software factory, optimising the 
resources through "pooling" techniques, 
and reviewing contractual relationships 
with suppliers.

As regards human resource management 
in the next three years, the Strategic Plan 
provides for increased training and monitoring 
core platforms through the internationalisation 
of key skills with expert personnel. This will 
be accompanied by a recruiting policy which 
prioritises the hiring of recent graduates in 
order to promote mobility and internal growth 
paths. At the same time, SIA intends to 
continue to use "Smart Working" tools such as 
telecommuting and flexible work times, already 
successfully tested since 2014. A Business 
Process Reengineering plan has also been 
implemented and will continue for the entire 
duration of the Plan in order to review the main 
business processes and make them more 
efficient and effective. Finally, a system for the 
evaluation and certification of technical skills, 
and improvement in the supplier classification 
processes will be implemented.

28

SIA › Management Report and Financial Statements as at 31|12|2015



Results of the Group and of SIA S.p.A.

The results achieved by the SIA Group 
in 2015 were better than the 2014 results, 
which had benefitted from one-off revenues 
related to the effects of the SEPA migration. 
These results were achieved thanks to the 
growth in electronic payment transactions, 
the increase in traffic volumes on the SIAnet 
network, the acquisition of new customers and 
cross-selling, in addition to the development 
of new services. Customer attrition was very 
low, once again confirming the quality of the 
services offered and the very high reliability 
in managing the mission-critical services, 
with higher levels of service availability than 
market standards.

Most growth in 2015 was in the cards, 
especially debit cards, and to a lesser extent, 
the world of payments.

The Group position in clearing on the 
EBA Step2 platform was further strengthened 
in the institutional services, and volumes 

continue to increase on the trading platform, 
which managed over 40 billion orders (+38%).

With respect to innovation, mobile 
payment projects continued to be developed, 
and more specifically the innovative "Person 
to Person" (P2P) payment service called 
"Jiffy", launched in October 2014. The 
service was adopted during the year by the 
main Italian banks.

The decision, made last year, to 
monitor the Public Administration market 
with a department set up for the purpose, 
encouraged the development of systems 
designed for local public administrations, 
with design and development of the EasyCity 
platform which automates and integrates the 
active and passive cycles of an organisation.

EasyShop was developed for the 
network services, and aimed specifically at 
shopkeepers, freelance professionals and 
craftworkers; the launch is planned for 2016.
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■■ Consolidated Income Statement
(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Revenues from sales and services  449,409  426,295  23,114 5.4%

Other revenues and income  1,259  5,664 (4,405) -77.8%

Revenues  450,668  431,959  18,709 4.3%

Cost of production (176,350) (161,434) (14,916) 9.2%

Personnel costs (133,368) (131,195) 2,173 1.7%

Other operating costs (17,054) (16,748) (306) 1.8%

Operating costs (326,772) (309,377) (17,395) 5.6%

EBITDA  123,896  122,582  1,314 1.1%

Amortisation/depreciation, impairment  
and write-downs (23,361) (24,744)  1,383 -5.6%

Allocation to provision for risks (79) (37) (42)

EBIT  100,456  97,801  2,655 2.7%

Income (charges) on equity investments  -    -    -    

Share in equity investment income  -    -    -    

Financial income  833  1,819 (986) -54.2%

Financial charges (666) (563) (103) 18.3%

Profit (loss) before taxes  100,623  99,057  1,566 1.6%

Income tax (30,559) (33,217)  2,658 -8.0%

Net result from operating activities  70,064  65,840  4,224 6.4%

Net income from assets held for sale  
or discontinued operations  -    -    -   

Profit (loss) for the period  70,064  65,840  4,224 6.4%

Pertaining to minority interests  246  77  169 219.5%

Profit pertaining to the Group  69,818  65,763  4,055 6.2%

The higher revenues relate to the debit 
and credit card services, and especially the 
fraud management services, in addition to the 
topping up services by TSP and for project 
activities, and especially the Jiffy service. 
Higher revenues were also obtained for the 
Gateway services and the T2S and Globe 
Settlement service. These higher revenues 
were partially offset by lower one-off revenues 
for the EBA services, related to migration of the 
German community to SEPA in 2014 and lower 
revenues in the Payment services, Anti-Money 

Laundering and Document Management.
In relation to costs, there was an increase 

in cost of production due to higher use of the 
equipment, higher consultancy costs mainly 
due to development of new services and non-
recurring project activity, and higher payments 
to international circuits to manage the credit 
cards, which generated a corresponding 
increase in revenues for processing services. 
There was also an increase in purchase costs 
for mobile telephone top-ups for resale to a 
big operator.
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■■ Normalised Consolidated Income Statement
In order to help the reading of the financial 

development of the Group, provide an improved 
representation of the business capacity to 
generate profitability on a continuous basis, 
and compare performance, it was decided to 
provide a normalised consolidated EBITDA. 

The criteria used to calculate the 
normalised consolidated EBITDA exclude 
the revenues and costs in the Group EBITDA 

that are not related to the company’s core 
operations, and therefore originating from non-
recurring events and operations, or relating to 
income and charges to be considered or left 
out of the EBITDA calculation in accordance 
with whether they were linked to normal 
business operations or not.

The table below shows the adjustments 
made to each category.

Normalised EBITDA (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Notes

EBITDA  123,896  122,582   

Long Term Incentive  5,280  4,443  (1) 

Restructuring costs  2,590  2,713  (2) 

SEPA extraordinary revenue (3,185) (5,842)  (3) 

One-off costs  1,247  829  (4) 

Contingent assets and liabilities (158) (2,586)  (5) 

Capital gains and losses  5  384  (6) 

Bank expenses (320) (156)  (7) 

Discount on rental agreement  250  250  (8) 

Non-recurring consultancy fees  817  98 (9)

Normalised EBITDA  130,422  122,715  

Notes: 
(1) Monetary management incentives related to achieving long-term goals 

(three-year Strategic Plan)
(2) Individual incentives related to early job termination
(3) Extraordinary revenues related to the SEPA migration
(4) One-off costs to set up new customers/services
(5) Non-recurring contingent assets and liabilities or not yet vested

(6) Capital gains and losses from the sale of tangible assets
(7) Bank expenses recorded under financial expenses but relating to current 

operations
(8) Allocation of the discount given by the landlord in the first year of rental 

over the entire contract duration (12 years) in relation to rental of the 
corporate headquarters

(9) Costs incurred for professional services related to extraordinary events

NORMALISED EBITDA (millions of euros)

2012 
(Italian Accounting 

Body)

89.8

2011 
(Italian Accounting 

Body)

69.2

2015
(IAS) Normalised

2013 
(Italian Accounting 

Body)

100.8

122.7 130.4

2014
(IAS) Normalised

The figures relating to the financial years 2011, 2012 and 2013 refer to financial statements 
drawn up in accordance with Italian accounting standards and were not normalised, while the IAS/IFRS 
international accounting standards were applied for the years 2014 and 2015 and data were normalised 
as per the table above.
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■■ Reclassified consolidated statement of financial position
(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Inventories  2,029  3,710 (1,681) -45.3%

Trade receivables  130,256  116,490  13,766 11.8%

Trade payables (41,415) (39,657) (1,758) 4.4%

Commercial Working Capital A  90,870  80,543  10,327 12.8%

Other current receivables B  24,814  24,199  615 2.5%

Other current payables C (63,226) (59,694) (3,532) 5.9%

Net Working Capital D=A+B+C  52,458  45,048  7,410 16.4%

Goodwill  25,083  25,248 (165) -0.7%

Intangible assets  19,265  18,150  1,115 6.1%

Tangible assets  30,220  33,646 (3,426) -10.2%

Financial assets  758  758  -   0.0%

Fixed Assets E  75,326  77,802 (2,476) -3.2%

Employee-related provisions (18,903) (21,606)  2,703 -12.5%

Other provisions (2,309) (2,268) (41) 1.8%

Deferred tax provision  7,529  7,144  385 5.4%

Provisions F (13,683) (16,730)  3,047 -18.2%

Net Invested Capital G=D+E+F  114,101  106,120  7,981 7.5%

Non-current financial liabilities  9,921  11,151 (1,230) -11.0%

Current financial liabilities  5,022  7,606 (2,584) -34.0%

Cash and cash equivalents (123,130) (94,055) (29,075) 30.9%

Current financial assets (471) (143) (328) 229.4%

Non-current financial assets (15) (16)  1 -6.3%

Net Financial Position H (108,673) (75,457) (33,216) 44.0%

Total Shareholders' equity I  222,774  181,577  41,197 22.7%

Hedging L=H+I  114,101  106,120  7,981 7.5%

There was an increase in trade receiv-
ables partly due to the overall increase in 
sales and partly to certain projects that con-
tractually provided for deferred invoicing, to 
coincide with the delivery of specific software 
components.

There was also an increase in cash and 

cash equivalents, mainly from operating 
income and from the reserved capital 
increase to managers of the parent company.

Finally, the shareholders' equity was 
increased due to the 2015 profit by SIA, 
net of the 2014 portion of profit paid in 
dividends.
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■■ SIA S.p.A. reclassified Income Statement pro forma
(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
31/12/2014  

pro forma

2015  
changes  

vs pro forma %

Revenues from sales and services  388,820  336,880  375,679  13,141 3.5%

Other revenues and income  1,074  5,502  5,022 (3,948) -78.6%

Revenues  389,894  342,382  380,701  9,193 2.4%

Cost of production (129,708) (118,710) (124,515) (5,193) 4.2%

Personnel costs (127,327) (105,772) (122,442) (4,885) 4.0%

Other operating costs (16,293) (16,316) (16,525)  232 -1.4%

Operating costs (273,328) (240,798) (263,482) (9,846) 3.7%

EBITDA  116,566  101,584  117,219 (653) -0.6%

Amortisation/depreciation, impairment and write-downs (21,209) (21,506) (22,912)  1,703 -7.4%

Allocation to provision for risks  -    -    -    -   

EBIT  95,357  80,078  94,307  1,050 1.1%

Income (charges) on equity investments  6,664  6,623  6,623  41 0.6%

Financial income  811  1,783  1,824 (1,013) -55.5%

Financial charges (510) (505) (536)  26 -4.9%

Profit (loss) before taxes  102,322  87,979  102,218  104 0.1%

Income tax (29,317) (27,691) (32,487)  3,170 -9.8%

Net result from operating activities  73,005  60,288  69,731  3,274 4.7%

Net income from assets held for sale or discontinued 
operations  -    -    -    -   

Profit (loss) for the period  73,005  60,288  69,731  3,274 4.7%

Adjustments to dividends due to transition to IAS/IFRS (6,800)  -   (5,500) (1,300) 23.6%

Normalised profit (loss) for the period  66,205  60,288  64,231  1,974 3.1%

The pro forma column of the 2014 
financial statements was introduced to 
make the data from the separate financial 
statements of the parent company SIA S.p.A. 
easier to compare between the two financial 
years. The 2014 financial statements 
were added to neutralise the discontinuity 
caused by the merger of the subsidiary RA 
Computer and the TSP "Gateway" business 
unit, absorbed into SIA S.p.A. through partial 
demerger in favour of the parent company.

The costs and revenues of the aforemen-
tioned company mergers were added to the 
2014 pro forma column, i.e. to the figures 
of the separate financial statements, net of 
any intercompany amounts. RA Computer 

was fully merged, while the figures from 
the business unit merged into TSP were 
calculated on the basis of the results of the 
industrial accounting.

Two additional lines were added to help 
compare the data, in addition to the profit for 
the year, to take account, reversing them both 
in 2015 and in 2014, of the dividends stated 
on a cash basis (in accordance with the 
provisions of the IFRS accounting standards 
and unlike the past when they were stated on 
an accrual basis) distributed by the subsidiary 
TSP. This avoided the double effect of merging 
the TSP business unit (and addition of the 
figures into 2014), as an amalgamation of 
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the company structure on the one hand and 
as a dividend on the other.

The two results that could therefore be 
compared showed an improvement compared 
to 2014 - which had even benefitted from the 
one-off revenues from the SEPA migration 
- both in terms of revenues from sales 
and services (mainly due to the increased 

services for the debit and credit cards, 
project activity and higher revenues from the 
Gateway services) and the normalised net 
profit (loss), also in view of the reduction of 
the tax burden.

Cost movements are the same as noted 
above in relation to the consolidated income 
statement.

■■ Separate reclassified statement of financial position  
of SIA S.p.A.

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Inventories   853  2,046 (1,193) -58.3%

Trade receivables   126,072  92,048  34,024 37.0%

Trade payables  (32,976) (31,381) (1,595) 5.1%

Commercial Working Capital A  93,949  62,713  31,236 49.8%

Other current receivables B  21,672  19,531  2,141 11.0%

Other current payables C (57,125) (45,756) (11,369) 24.8%

Net Working Capital D=A+B+C  58,496  36,488  22,008 60.3%

Goodwill   3,854  3,854  -   0.0%

Intangible assets   15,996  14,554  1,442 9.9%

Tangible assets   26,540  30,492 (3,952) -13.0%

Financial assets   28,392  37,690 (9,298) -24.7%

Fixed Assets E  74,782  86,590 (11,808) -13.6%

Employee-related provisions  (18,329) (17,444) (885) 5.1%

Other provisions  (2,222) (2,236)  14 -0.6%

Deferred tax provision   7,493  6,752  741 11.0%

Provisions F (13,058) (12,928) (130) 1.0%

Net Invested Capital G=D+E+F  120,220  110,150  10,070 9.1%

Non-current financial liabilities   8,188  10,137 (1,949) -19.2%

Current financial liabilities   4,996  7,284 (2,288) -31.4%

Cash and cash equivalents  (105,248) (68,775) (36,473) 53.0%

Current financial assets  (2,361) (7,019)  4,658 -66.4%

Non-current financial assets  (15)  -   (15) 0.0%

Net Financial Position H (94,440) (58,373) (36,067) 61.8%

Total Shareholders' equity I  214,660  168,523  46,137 27.4%

Hedging L=H+I  120,220  110,150  10,070 9.1%

The main items reported in the table 
above cannot be compared on a standard 
basis since the figures for 2015 contain the 
amounts resulting from the merger of RA 
Computer and the TSP business unit.

 There is therefore a reduction in the 
financial assets following the merger of 
RA Computer and the merger of the TSP 

Gateway business unit, only partly offset by 
the direct holding of the equity investment 
in Pi4Pay, previously held by TSP.

There was also an increase in cash and 
cash equivalents, mainly from operating 
income and the capital increase reserved to 
the company managers.
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Starting from 2015, SIA changed the way 
it gave notice of its economic results and the 
description of its activities, identifying three 
business areas:

 › Cards Segment, that groups together 
the activities related to management of 
payments with payment / debit cards;

 › Payments Segment, that groups together 
the activities related to electronic 
payments that do not include payment/
debit cards;

 › Institutional Services Segment, that 
groups together the payment clearing 
and settlement services and those for 
financial market services.

On the one hand, the segment description 
simplifies the reading and interpretation of the 
results, and on the other, allows these results 
to be compared with the performance of the 
main business indicators of the applicable 
markets. 

Performance by business segment

REVENUES BY SEGMENT (2015)

RECURRING REVENUE AND NEW 
BUSINESS (2015)

REVENUE STRUCTURE BY IMPORTANCE  
OF CUSTOMER (2015)

Payments
25%

Institutional 
Services
26%

Cards
49%

€ 449 
million

New 
Business

21%

Recurring Revenue 
79%

€ 449 
million

Top 8
51%

Other
28%

Top 20
72%

€ 449 
million
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■■ Cards Segment
The public continued to change its 

payment habits in 2015, with increasing use 
of payment cards and electronic instruments 
over cash.

In accordance with this trend, and 
despite the low growth in consumption and 
economic activity, SIA managed about 3.9 
billion Issuing and Acquiring transactions in 
2015 in the e-money sector, representing 
a +10.2% increase over 2014. More 
specifically, transactions on International 
debit card circuits (Maestro and Visa 
Electron/Vpay) drove this growth, and with 
+24.0% confirmed the market trends of 
the past few years. ATM withdrawals and 
purchases made on POS terminals with debit 
cards on the national circuits (Bancomat and 
PagoBancomat) increased by +9.5%, while 
credit card transactions registered a +4.3% 
growth. Finally, prepaid card transactions 
were on a par with 2014.

The card portfolio increased by +0.9%, 
while the retailer portfolio showed a -10.6% 
decrease, due mainly to the gradual shift 
towards another operator of the retailer group 
managed by an important Italian customer. 
This migration did not have a significant 
impact in terms of transactions managed.

The interest by banks in digitalisation 
systems for physical payments increased 
further in 2015 due to the impact the media 
had on the launch by the Web giants (Apple 
Pay, Samsung Pay, Android Pay, Ali Pay, etc.) 
of new mobile proximity payment services 
based on the virtualisation of payment cards.

The commercial action in Italy by banks 
and financial institutions mainly focused on 
expanding the products towards previously 
acquired customers and developing 
campaigns aimed at acquiring new customers 
with innovative services.

Management of existing customers 
was increased, leading to the renewal of a 
significant issuing and processing contract 

and adoption of the Host Card Emulation 
(HCE) system by the two main Italian issuers. 
A system was set up to manage the retailers 
who use JCB Italia in the acquiring area.

The low attrition rate of existing customers 
is due to both the quality and innovation of 
the services offered, and SIA’s extremely high 
level of reliability in providing its services, 
which recorded excellent results also this 
year. More specifically, the authorisation 
services guaranteed 99.99% of availability 
and processing services 99.805%.

In 2015, SIA teamed up with the most 
important Italian issuer as its applicable 
technological partner, in the opening project 
to the acquiring services; the commercial 
launch is scheduled for the second quarter 
of 2016. SIA took over the "cashback" loyalty 
services for this big customer.

The development and implementation 
of Mobile Payment systems progressed 
further, allowing two large Italian financial 
institutions to make a pilot launch of the 
"Family & Friends" system on the market for 
contactless payments by smartphones with 
Host Card Emulation technology.

SlA won the "Mobile Wallet" tender 
contract in the Mobile Payments area, 
including the P2P, HCE and Masterpass 
services in Italy, issued by one of the top 10 
banks in Europe.

The campaign to launch the "3D 
Secure" anti-fraud service, specifically 
aimed at e-commerce transactions, was very 
successful commercially. The service uses 
an innovative dynamic password and was 
implemented with the leading Italian issuers, 
resulting in a significant reduction in the 
number of fraud cases.

Commercial activities carried out on the 
foreign market focused on European financial 
institutions also in 2015.

Business development activities were 
begun in Western Europe in countries with 
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higher potential such as Germany, France 
and the UK. The presence of the company in 
Germany was strengthened by expanding the 
team working on commercial development. 
A network of contacts and business 
collaborations was also created with local 
partners and consultancy firms. SIA acquired 
a new customer for acquiring services thanks 
to this work.

Commercial activity in Central-Eastern 
Europe focused on Poland, Hungary, the 
Czech Republic, Slovakia and Romania.

A representative office was opened 
in Poland, and promotional activity begun, 
including a conference in Warsaw in 
which impor tant representatives from 
the main Polish and international banks 
and associations took part as conference 
speakers. The main SIA contract in this area 
was renewed up to the end of 2021.

SIA won a tender contract issued by a 
leading bank in the Czech Republic to launch 
innovative Mobile Payments services as 
part of the "Host Card Emulation" (HCE). A 
leading bank launched the Dynamic Currency 
Conversion (DCC) service in Hungary on the 
ATM and POS terminals. E-money services 
were started up in Romania and Bulgaria 
for a French banking group, already used in 
other countries in the area. Finally, a Cypriot 
customer was acquired to manage the 
processing of the debit card portfolio.

New services were developed in the 
Cards segment during 2015, and others are 
at the development stage.

In the area of issuing, the range of 
products and services was increased to add 
to the SIA system in the bank portals and 
apps, through web-service based technology. 
The technological platform was updated in 
order to improve management of American 
Express cards, as they had not been 
previously supported, allowing for launch of 
the first dual card on the European market.

The fraud prevention ser vice was 
improved as part of the value added services. 

The "Smart Agent" service in particular was 
launched, allowing customers to rapidly and 
efficiently communicate with the owners of 
the cards issued, and to manage notifications 
of potential fraud through the main digital 
channels, allowing the customer banks to 
receive the fraud notifications and respond in 
a digital format.

Another new product launched in 2015 
was the "Customer in Control": a type of 
fraud prevention based on personalisation 
of the owner spending profiles, establishing 
permitted uses, spending limits and limits of 
use for specific geographic areas or product 
categories.

The Business Intelligence service was 
also launched in 2015, a system that gathers 
the data relating to the card portfolio and/
or the retailer portfolio in analytical reports. 
These reports allow the people in charge of 
the decision-making process to capitalise 
on opportunities, manage any risks and get 
support to undertake marketing activities.

The Virtual POS (e-commerce) system 
was strengthened and consolidated in the 
acquiring area in 2015, completing the 
adaptation to an international context and 
integrating it into the acquiring infrastructure 
of the company.

New regulations on the circuit interchange 
fees were also incorporated, and the Acquiring 
system extension was also finalised, which 
will help both the retailer agreements by 
customers, and the usability of the system by 
the bank branch network.

In 2015 work was performed to adapt 
the international Terminal Manager system 
to the Italian market, allowing it also to be 
used for the Italian domestic brand. The new 
ATM Terminal Manager is also currently being 
developed for use by an important Italian 
acquirer.

A par tnership agreement was also 
signed with INFORM in 2015, which led to the 
commercial launch of the fraud prevention 
acquiring platform.
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Thanks to the experience gained in imple-
menting a national hub for card virtualisation 
on the SIM-based model, SIA developed the 
Host Card Emulation (HCE) system in 2015, 
obtaining Data Centre HCE certification from 
Visa and MasterCard. This new service is 
an important contribution to the SIA product 
range, aimed at helping banks become more 
innovative, with special regard to monitoring 
the payment experiences of end customers.

 The European Transaction Collection 
Management service platform was completed 
in 2015 with roll-out of a monitoring and 
control service provided via Web which 
supports the basic function of gathering 
POS and ATM transactions from multiple 
channels (Dial-UP, GPRS, Internet and IP) over 
an extensive geographical area. This new 
service offer is targeted at Acquirer Banks, 
Card Processors and Terminal Managers who 
intend to expand their markets internationally 

in view of the SEPA developments in the world 

of cards. These parties will find that SIA is 

a technological partner who can resolve the 

complexities of data flow standardisation 

regardless of the technological channel used 

to gather the transaction information or the 

geographical position of the merchants.

In accordance with the developments 

provided by the corporate Strategic Plan, the 

EasyShop initiative was launched, aimed at 

providing innovative solutions to the retail 

market, in order to simplify the technology 

used at sales points, offering integrated land 

line and mobile phone instruments, access 

to Internet and Wi-Fi, along with value added 

functions to support the business. Finally, 

the commercial proposition of the Smart Tel 

service was consolidated, which supports 

development of innovative network services 

for small and medium-sized companies.

■■ Payments Segment
The trend of changing from cash to 

electronic payments continued also in the 
payments area in 2015. This led to a 3.6% 
increase in transactions in the Payments 
segment for SIA, taking the volumes 
managed up to about 2.8 billion. 

The increase is due to the strong 
development in the Secure Messaging 
services (+30%), the higher volume in 
Payment Factor y services (+15%) and 
the clearing access services of the Bank 
of Italy (+18%) which all more than offset 
the reduction in volumes on the non-SEPA 
payment systems (-6%).  

The segment developed in particular in 
the area of services to Corporate and Public 
Administration customers.

In 2015, companies confirmed that 
they were strongly in favour of international 
collection and payment systems and service 
systems that can improve control of treasury 
processes. The introduction of SEPA helped 

simplify the dialogue process with the 
banking system and encouraged the start 
up of internationally based projects. 

The Multinetwork service was further 
developed on the basis of these requirements; 
this allows for centralised management 
of inter-bank relations at domestic and 
cross-border level and now allows financial 
counterparties to be reached in thirteen 
countries in the euro-area.

The reliability of the Payment Factory 
services meant that new customers were 
acquired in the Utility market, with a constant 
increase in the volumes managed, confirming 
SIA’s role as a technological and service 
structure of national importance.

The additional services include increasing 
interest in the B2B electronic invoicing service 
on the back of regulatory developments in 
the B2G area. The goals provided for under 
the agreements developed with applicable 
partners in the small and medium business 
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accounting sectors and the pharmaceutical 
line were achieved.

The ser v ices aimed at Payment 
Institutions were continuously developed both 
at the customer portfolio and the product 
levels, and further systems to manage 
collections and payments with debit and 
credit cards were added.

The collection services proposed through 
the subsidiary Pi4Pay continue to increase: 
the market was further developed thanks to 
the extension of the service to large-scale 
retail outlets and new banks and payment 
institutions. At the same time, the activities to 
manage payment accounts were completed, 
along with development of new collection 
services, expanding the Group products to 
the Telco, Utility and Insurance sectors.

The multi-channel Gateway services are 
now also used by Utility companies due to the 
value proposition developed in association 
with a leading Italian operator to update the 
company management systems in real time. 
Large-scale retail outlets confirmed their 
choice of SIA, increasing transaction volumes, 
especially with reference to payment of 
payment slips and managing food vouchers. 

Activities also continued to support the 
initiative promoted by the CBI [Interbank 
Corporate Banking] Consortium, to digitise 
bills (cBILL), leading to the first customers 
coming on board, including the two leading 
bill issuers at national level.

With respect to innovation, SIA managed 
the distribution of the Jiffy service which 
transfers money between private customers 
of different banks in real time, selecting the 
beneficiary from the smartphone directory 
and using the current account at the bank as 
the underlying payment instrument.

The launch of Jiffy met with immediate 
success, with nineteen banking groups 
signing up, representing over 80% of the 
market share in terms of online current 
accounts. Eleven banking groups already 
launched the service on the market in 2015, 

with more than 250,000 agreements, while 
the other banks will start in the first quarter 
of 2016.

The positive customer response was 
determined by the specific characteristics 
of the service: the integrability in individual 
banking apps, ensuring a direct relationship 
between the banks and their current account 
holders, and use of the SEPA standard, 
facilitating development of the service 
towards instant payments and immediate 
scalability to European level.

The establishment of an Advisory Board 
where the member banks are represented 
will ensure that the service will develop in 
accordance with market requirements. The 
introduction of donations towards non-profit 
entities is an example, in addition to the 
development towards payment services of 
participating merchants (P2B) and Public 
Administration taxes. In this case Jiffy will 
allow the notice of payment due to be received 
directly, in accordance with the guidelines of 
the Agency for Digital Italy (AGID).

The Public Administration activities were 
focused on expansion of the customer and 
service portfolio, and completing the EasyCity 
product and the SIA system for digitising the 
collection and payment processes of the 
Public Administration.

The electronic invoicing service was 
successfully started up in 2015, and a 
system to support the simplification process 
of payments by citizens to the Public 
Administration was created in association 
with leading Italian banks through use of the 
Agency for Digital Italy "PagoPa" payment 
centre. The system allows entities to simplify 
all the integration processes with PagoPa and 
to make all the reporting and reconciliation 
phases more efficient so that the cash flows 
can be constantly monitored.

The service was successfully started 
up in a regional capital, and thanks to the 
collaboration with the financial partners, 
numerous entities have already joined up and 
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work is continuing to complete the distribution 
of the service to meet the deadline of 31 
December 2016 set by AGID, the Agency for 
Digital Italy.

The simplification of payments by citizens 
will also be guaranteed by the new F24 
automated management service which will 
complete the range of products that manage 
collections, automating and standardising 
the issuing and reporting phase. The addition 
of "pago F24" with SIA EasyCity will allow 
Entities to comprehensively manage all 
takings.

With respect to Electronic Invoicing, 
compliant Digital Storage and Local 
Computer Order services, new local public 
administration and university office contacts 
were acquired, and a new customer was also 
acquired in the central public administration 
sector.

With respect to the local public adminis-
tration, we continued to operate in the Smart 
City sector completing, in partnership with a 
big Municipality, an innovative platform for the 
integrated management of digital services 
already in the territory, 

 
allowing the local public and tourists to 

carry out various transactions in all cities that 
are taking part in the project with a single 
app, which can be accessed with unique 
payment and authentication credentials.

The collaboration with the Ministry of 
the Interior was further consolidated thanks 
to the "Administrative Sanction Information 
System" (SISA) service in the centralised 
Public Administration, leading to further 
Prefectures starting up and the development 
of new services.

In the area of Public Health, thanks to 
the collaboration with Federsanità ANCI (one 
hundred and fifty healthcare companies), an 
important contact was made with the leading 
Healthcare company in the country to start 
up the Intramoenia payment service. The 
local health authorities (ASL) will use the 

service to manage all collection, reporting 
and reconciliation activities, and the supply 
of electronic payment methods (POS) on a 
completely integrated basis.

In the area of local public transport, 
the service that tops up travel documents 
on the bank network was expanded with a 
new parking payment service using mobile 
technology.

With respect to banking system 
products, the process of transforming 
commercial proposals from product to 
service - internalised with the merger of RA 
Computer - was begun in 2015, and was 
received well by the market as it guarantees 
greater operational continuity and at the 
same time economies of scale. An important 
customer on the Payment HUB initiative was 
acquired in that area.

There was considerable interest shown 
by the banks in systems to manage payments 
for the local authorities and connect them 
to the Public Administration centre. More 
specifically, with respect to systems for 
accessing the Public Administration payment 
centre, SIA implemented systems for four 
important Italian banking groups.

With reference to SEPA market require-
ments, the requirements of those defined as 
"Systemically Important Payment Systems 
(SIPS)" were addressed during 2015; under 
the direct supervision of the ECB, they 
require systems that ensure full operation 
of the payment system through connection 
to a number of financial message service 
providers in order to ensure complete and 
real differentiation of all the infrastructure 
and service components.

SIA therefore updated its range with 
a system that can manage the routing, 
balancing and recovery of traffic on a 
number of networks as suggested by the 
SIPS orders.

A new product system was also set up in 
2015 to support regional and macro-regional 
financial communities that need safe 
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network systems to back implementation of 
agreed and standardised governance rules 
among all participants in the community.

Finally, the infrastructures and commer-
cial proposal for the new high-capacity data 
transfer service began to be prepared, which 

will support the new financial applications, 
including the cheque digitisation ABI project, 
providing for large-scale exchanges of high 
data volumes with times and methods that 
are compatible with the operations provided 
for under the new banking procedures.

■■ Institutional Services Segment
The volumes managed in the Institutional 

Services segment continued to grow in 
2015: the number of transactions managed 
amounted to 9.9 billion, an increase of 7.7%. 
The positive trend in volumes on the pan-
European SEPA payment settlement platform 
also increased (STEP2 of EBA Clearing, of 
the Euro Banking Association). The SEPA 
SCT credit transfers increased by 6.4% 
over 2014, and the SEPA SDD collections 
by 1.7%. SIA guaranteed excellent service 
levels, reaching 100% availability of the 
service to EBA and its customers for the 
third year running.

There was increasing interest by many 
operators for systems that guarantee 
settlement of retail payments in real time 
(Instant Payments) in 2015. These types 
of payments are an important support in 
the increasing spread of use of payment 
instruments on mobile platforms and the 
development of e-commerce. 

The European Central Bank (ECB) set up 
a work group to define the guidelines that 
the Instant Payments systems should follow 
since the volumes of these types of payments 
are likely to increase significantly in the next 
few years.

With special regard to the Instant 
Payments, SIA took part in the information 
call for tenders (RFI) issued by EBA Clearing 
in 2015, and was then selected to submit its 
bid (RFP).

The new STEP2 Card Clearing service 
was successfully started up in April 2015 
to govern transactions resulting from pre-
authorised card transactions, based on the 

SEPA Card Clearing Framework developed by 
the Berlin Group.

The portfolio of products and services to 
settle significant payments in real time (real 
time gross settlement, RTGS) and manage 
low payment amounts (automated clearing 
house, ACH) was expanded to respond to 
the emerging requirements of the central 
banks who were already SIA customers. 
Activities for Business Intelligence and 
Enterprise Messaging Systems, Payment 
Hubs and Government Payment management 
systems were started up or continued to be 
implemented.

Projects for new customers were also 
started up or carried on:

 › RTGS and ACH systems for a Central 
European Bank;

 › an RTGS system for a Central European 
Bank;

 › a CSD system for a Central African Bank.

Finally, SIA took part in two international 
calls for tenders for RTGS systems issued 
by a central bank in the Asia-Pacific area and 
one in the Middle East.

SIA reinforced its commercial relations 
with the European Central Bank (ECB) 
in 2015, providing consultancy services 
and becoming supplier of the connectivity 
service for the ECB’s access to the central 
platform of Target2 Securities. The position 
of SIA as the Network Service Provider of 
the ECB for the access to Target2 Securities 
aroused the interest of important customers, 
central banks and CSD, which chose the 
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SIAnet system to connect to new European 
platforms for settling securities transactions. 
The success of SIA’s system drove forward 
development of accessory services to the 
basic network service, reconfirming the 
interest of the financial market in finding 
multi-provider systems.

At regulatory level, there was a significant 
lack of continuity at European and international 
level regarding the settlement of securities 
exchange transactions (for example the start 
up of the Target2 Securities platform of the 
ECB) and the growth in transactions on the 
fixed income and derivative markets.

SIA continued to act as technological 
partner to the London Stock Exchange Group 
in 2015 thanks to the excellent technological 
services provided (average availability of the 
Monte Titoli services of 99.99% and the MTS 
services close to 100%) and development 
of new functions in the trading area for the 
government bond market (MTS) market and 
the post-trading market for Monte Titoli:

 › start up of a new market release com-
pleted for MTS (Cash Market Facility), 
with new information and trading 
functions, in addition to the ability to 
manage increasing transaction volumes 
and addition of an innovative "pretrade 
liquidity discovery" service;

 › Monte Titoli was assisted by SIA in 
star ting up operations on the new 
European platform Target2Securities, the 
first among the biggest European CSDs.

A long-term project for the supply of a 
new surveillance system from one of the 
leading European supervisory authorities 
was successfully completed in 2015, and 
activities also continued with the Comissão 
de Valores Mobiliários in Brazil.

As for the financial intermediaries 
market, European commercial development 
was consolidated for the TODEAL technology, 
as the Italian and international leader in the 

primary public debt market access platform, 
and SIA-EAGLE as the integrated compliance 
solution for capital market transactions. 
SIA-EAGLE confirmed its leadership in Italy, 
acquiring new market share through up-selling 
initiatives and consolidating its position in 
over fifteen countries in which it operates.

During the year, the connection project to 
the main international stock exchanges with 
low latency systems was reinforced; this can 
address the need of financial intermediaries 
to access electronic trading platforms: at the 
end of 2015, the platform of products on the 
financial-ring included twenty-nine connected 
trading venues, an increase of 26% over the 
previous year.

The range of housing and placement 
services was started up in 2015 in the data 
centres in Milan, Rome, London, Frankfurt 
and New York, where customers were offered 
an innovative integrated suite of technological 
systems to support high frequency trading by 
exploiting the technological closeness to the 
main trading platforms.

In the trading area, SIA integrated the 
new liquidity hub services and focused 
on innovation in the international IPO 
market and the Analytics services applied 
to development of the Capital Markets 
business. Support was also given during 
the year to the new post-trading lines of the 
London Stock Exchange Group, leading to 
the consolidation of a new service called 
"globeSettle" on the market. 

Also in the area of post-trading, T2S was 
introduced in 2015, leading to consolidation 
of the SIA service "T2S Smart Integrator 
Advanced" for the access to T2S and the 
international "SIA Collateral Management" 
product for the advanced management of the 
collaterals by CSD and central banks.

Furthermore, the SIA-EAGLE proprietary 
technology continued to be developed 
in order to strengthen its positioning on 
the international market and address the 
requirements arising from new European (for 
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example Market Abuse Directive II, Market 
Abuse Regulation, MiFID II) and international 
regulations, in particular with regard to IOSCO 
guidelines.

Finally, sales activities also continued 
in relation to both specific connectivity 
services for the Public Administration and 
Central Payment Institutions and Regulatory 

Bodies, by renewing and expanding existing 
contracts, and complementary connectivity 
services such as the Service Bureau system 
for the main banking Groups.

At the end of June 2015, the Bank of Italy 
extended its contract with SIA to provide the 
Central Interbank Alarm (CAI) service for a 
further three years.
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The adequacy of the goodwill and equity 
investment carrying amounts in accordance 
with international accounting standard IAS 36 
is checked at least yearly, and in any case, 
any time there is a sign that an asset may 
have suffered impairment. If there are trigger 
events, IAS 36 also requires impairment 
tests to be carried out for other intangible 
assets besides goodwill.

In accordance with the approach taken 
in previous years, an authoritative external 
professional was engaged to carry out the 
impairment tests on the goodwill stated in 
the consolidated financial statements.

In order to measure impairment, the 
equity investments, intended as legal entities, 
and related goodwill, are the same as the 
CGUs used in the financial statements. The 
values of use from impairment were therefore 
compared with the carrying amount of the 
equity investments and the goodwill stated 
in the separate financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with IAS 36, the external 
professional engaged by the company used 
unlevered financial criteria as the basic 
reference to estimate the value in use, 
applied using "asset side" logic. Please refer 
to the applicable sections in the Notes to the 
financial statements for more details on the 
measurement criteria, the rules applied and 
the results for the individual items.

The assessment by the expert confirmed 
the previous year’s carrying amounts for all 

the items subject to the impairment tests, and 
therefore no adjustments were made apart 
from a write-down (0.1 million) in the separate 
financial statements to the carrying amount 
of the equity investment in the associated 
company Trustlink, adjusted to market value 
as a result of a capital transaction between 
independent parties.

■■ TSP S.r.l.

TSP is based in Milan and is 100% 
owned by SIA. Following the demerger of 
the Gateway business unit and merger with 
SIA S.p.A. which took tax and accounting 
effect from 1 January 2015, the company 
has a share capital of €  500,000 and 
shareholders' equity of € 3.5 million as of 
31 December 2015, including the net result 
for the year.

TSP provides a comprehensive system of 
solutions and supplies system components, 
designing and managing systems to provide 
payment services, close loop fidelity cards, 
electronic domiciliation on current accounts 
(including postal) through POS terminal 
networks. The company revenues and profit 
levels fell in 2015 due to the demerger of the 
company Gateway and merger with the parent 
company SIA S.p.A. which took effect from 1 
January 2015. 

In any case, revenues were positive due 
to the direct sales to consumer customers 

In addition to the parent company SIA S.p.A., the scope of consolidation includes 
the following companies, consolidated with the line-by-line method.

Performance of the Group companies
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of mobile telephone top-ups of an important 
operator, started in 2013.

The 2015 financial year ended with 
revenues of € 38.4 million (€ 49.2 million 
in 2014), an operating result of € 0.6 million 
and (11.2) and a net profit of € 0.3 million 
(7.7).

■■ Pi4Pay S.r.l.

The shares in Pi4Pay S.r.l., previously 
held by TSP, formed part of the assets of the 
Gateway business unit, which was demerged 
and then merged with the parent company 
SIA. Therefore, starting from 1 January 
2015, Pi4Pay, has been 100% controlled by 
SIA.

The exclusive purpose of the company is 
to carry out financial activities for the public 
and, more specifically, provide payment 
services supporting the Group business. 
Established in 2009 and based in Milan, 
this company commenced operations in 
2010. The entry of Pi4Pay onto the Register 
of Payment Institutions was authorised by 
the Bank of Italy in 2011.

The shareholders' equity as at 31 
December 2015, which includes a share 
premium reserve of € 600,000, was € 4.6 
million, including the result for the year. The 
2015 financial year ended with revenues 
of € 3.7 million (€ 2.9 million in 2014), an 
operating result of € 1.2 million (0.6) and a 
net profit of € 0.8 million (0.4).

■■ SIA Central Europe Zrt.

The company, 100% owned by SIA and 
acquired in 2007, is based in Budapest 
(Hungary) and has a share capital of HUF 
177 million (equal to € 560,000 as at 31 
December 2015) and a shareholders' equity, 
including the result for the year, of € 5.3 
million. 

 SIA Central Europe, a leader in Hungary 

in payment systems and payment card 
processing, mainly provides financial and 
corporate institutions, payment card issuers 
and acquirers, with ATM and POS terminal 
management services, transaction switching, 
fraud monitoring and other payment system 
services.

In keeping with SIA’s three-year Strategic 
Plan, SIA Central Europe’s aim is to consolidate 
and expand the Group’s presence in Hungary 
and across its key operating areas (Austria, 
Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Czech Republic, 
Slovenia, Croatia) by offering innovative and 
competitive technological systems in the 
payments sector, for financial and corporate 
institutions, in compliance with European 
legislative requirements (SEPA, PSD, etc.).

SIA Central Europe has operated as a 
commercial hub since 2012 for all services 
offered by the SIA Group in Hungary and in 
Central European countries.

The 2015 financial statements show 
revenues of € 8.4 million (€ 8.3 million in 
2014) and an operating result of € 2.1 million 
(1.7). The financial year closed with net profits 
of € 1.8 million (1.5).

■■ Perago FSE Ltd.

The company is located in Pretoria 
(Republic of South Africa) and, based on 
the experience acquired as a result of the 
transformation of payment systems in the 
Republic of South Africa, has developed its 
own RTGS (Real Time Gross Settlement) 
system, considered by the market to be a 
sophisticated, modular and scalable system 
based on the most advanced technologies in 
the sector.

There were revenues of € 6.7 million in 
2015 (€ 4.7 million in 2014) and an operating 
result of € 0.3 million (0.5), with a net profit 
of € 0.3 million (0.5). 

The share capital is ZAR 30,000 
(equal to € 2,000 at 31 December 2015) 
while shareholders' equity at year end was 
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€ 0.1 million. The results of the company were 
negatively affected by the steep depreciation 
of the rand against other leading currencies.

■■ Emmecom S.r.l. 

SIA S.p.A. has a 51% equity investment 
in the company through an acquisition 
finalised in June 2013, which included 
put and call options for acquisition of the 
remaining 49% which can be exercised by 
SIA, or the minority shareholders, starting 
from May 2016 and May 2015 respectively. 
The company, based in Turin, specialises in 
fixed, mobile and satellite telecommunication 
networks. Established in 2000, Emmecom 
combines the quality services offered by the 
main telephone providers with development 
of solutions for specific target customers, 
that ensure the optimisation of costs, 
guarantee of savings (benchmark, cash flow, 
tariff consulting) and full services (telephone, 
access to Internet, added-value services, 
mobile telephone).

There was a value of production of € 13.4 
million in 2015 (€ 10.4 million in 2014), an 
operating result of € 0.9 million (0.4), with a 
net profit of € 0.5 million (0.2).

At year-end, the shareholders' equity 
amounted to € 1.5 million.

Equity investments in associated compa-
nies and other companies, recognised using 
the equity method, are as follows:

■■ ATS S.p.A.

In December 2000, SIA acquired 30% 
of ATS S.p.A., which has a share capital of 
€ 120,000. This is a software development 
company that operates mainly in the 
banking and finance sectors and has been 
an important SIA business partner for many 
years.

■■ Trustlink Ltd. 

SIA S.p.A. has a 16.57% equity investment 
in Trustlink; it is a service provider for the 
members of the SWIFT network in the Sub-
Saharan area and develops and maintains 
software applications for the financial and 
telecommunications sector.

The equity investment in the company fell 
during the year due to a capital increase that 
SIA did not participate in.
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Technology and innovation

The "Fit4Purpose" project was finished 
in 2015, which created an infrastructure to 
provide active/active services between the 
two SIA operations sites on a mainframe 
platform. This project allows SIA to use the 
technological resources of the two data 
centres at the same time on a cooperative 
basis. This led to a considerable improvement 
in efficiency and a sharp fall in the amount 
of time it takes to restore services in the 
event of a physical disaster in one of the two 
production sites, from the previous minimum 
time of 2 hours to 5 minutes.

Similarly, the "INCAS" project (INternational 
Cards Authorization System) was completed, 
whereby SIA consolidated the previous 
authorisation front-end platforms for inter-
national credit and debit cards with an 
entirely proprietary system. SIA therefore 
now holds all the know-how internally, and 
no longer has to depend on third parties to 
provide this important strategic platform. It 
was also able to divest both licences for use 
of third party software and the related non-
stop server equipment used for this purpose, 
obtaining significant financial benefits.

A new post-trading platform was also 
created during the year for the customer 
Monte Titoli, as par t of the "Target2 
Securities" project required by the ECB: SIA 
developed the new applications and created 
the new technological infrastructure, in both 
cases with significantly improved, more 
powerful systems than previous systems, in 
order to support the much higher number of 
daily transactions.

 Numerous phases of the "3DSecure" 

project were completed, relating to the 

e-commerce service provided by SIA in 

compliance with the regulations governed by 

the VISA and MasterCard circuits and the 

specific requests of each individual customer. 

On the one hand, this project was aimed at 

increasing the number of customers managed 

by the SIA platform, and on the other, in 

strengthening the technological infrastructure 

to ensure compliance with the contractual 

levels of service to deal with the increase in 

transaction volumes. Eleven customers were 

set up on the SIA platform during 2015, and 

numerous others will be set up in 2016. The 

Disaster Recovery system was also set up as 

requested by MasterCard; the upgrade of the 

technological infrastructure will be completed 

in 2016 and the strong authentication will be 

created in accordance with ECB regulations.

The application and technology of the 

"Multinetwork" platform was significantly 

improved in order to adequately manage 

an increasing number of customers and 

business operation volumes. Among other 

things, an important new customer was 

gained in 2015 for whom SIA will manage all 

the monthly salary payments (about 85,000 

orders per month).

Nine internal tests were successfully 

run during the year to check the resilience of 

the systems and the validity of the operating 

procedures to start up in the event of disaster 

in one of the production sites, along with 

fourteen official tests with various customers. 
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SIA was therefore able to certify the 
adequacy of the continuous operations 
systems relating to the platforms used to 
provide customer services.

Finally, the strategy to reduce dependency 
on proprietary systems or based on legacy 
platforms continued, encouraging multivendor 
or open source systems, preferably on open 
platforms. 

There were also other activities in this 
area which had already started up, and 
will continue through 2016 such as: the 
migration of applications from the mainframe, 
migration of the fraud management issuing 
system from the proprietary Unix system, 
development of the open platform of the new 
corporate banking inter-bank platform.
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Risk management

The Group works to combat all risks that 
could have negative impacts on the services 
provided, on the products sold to customers 
and on events that could negatively affect the 
achievement of company results.

The risk management process estab-
lished by the Group aims to ensure perma-
nent, continuous and systematic monitoring 
with investigation, control, monitoring and 
information. Within the scope of that process, 
SIA paid particular attention to training, 
and dedicated a specific program to these 
aspects, which reached its third year in 2015, 
aimed at spreading a "risk culture" to all 
levels in the Group and promoting improved 
practices to deal with day-to-day risks.

■■ Risk Management Process

The risk management process estab-
lishes the methods necessary to identify, 
assess, monitor, prevent and combat risks 
that the Group is exposed to, focusing on 
the mutual relations between the risks and 
developments in the external context.

This process is supported by SIA top 
management, who are aware of the type, 
nature and level of the risks to which the 
company is exposed, and defines the risk 
objectives and approves the methods by 
which the risks are identified, evaluated and 
managed.

The organisational structures then 
inter vene, identifying, governing and 
controlling the risks within their own area of 
competence. 

A special department, reporting directly 
to the Chief Executive Officer, was set up 
for second level risk control, and works 

closely with the departments for information 
protection, compliance, operating continuity 
and the protection of personal data.

Finally, specific "risk contacts" were 
identified, who operate in their own respective 
areas and help monitor and control risks; 
they have meetings with the risk management 
department every 3/4 months.

■■ Main activities in 2015

The governance and control of risks 
involved the following in 2015:

 › monitoring the risks associated with the 
new business initiatives to understand 
and signal the development of specific 
types of risk;

 › discovering the risks associated with 
the services provided by SIA and SIA 
products, especially with the assistance 
of the product managers and service 
managers;

 › investigating the reputational risk facing 
SIA and updating the risk policy to take 
account of it;

 › increasing awareness of staff from RA 
Computer and TSP who joined SIA at the 
beginning of 2015 in the approach taken 
to risks;

 › providing a wide-ranging training program 
on the culture of risk, planned in the 
first half of 2015 and given from June to 
November, with personalised workshops; 
around one-hundred and eighty persons 
took part.

Information on the main risks is provided 
below.
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■■ Operational risks related to new 
initiatives

SIA is  st rongly  invo lved in the 
development of new market initiatives and 
new technological systems to promptly 
respond to the demands of customers and 
the applicable markets and to predict future 
developments. In order to reduce the risk 
of any delays in completing the projects or 
lack of correspondence with the functional 
specifications or customer or market 
expectations, SIA reinforced its monitoring of 
project management and functional analyses, 
with the planning and management control 
departments, providing support with respect 
to compliance and control of times and costs.

Additionally, the support of the second 
level risk management department led to the 
following in 2015:

 › monitoring the project risks;

 › investigating the risks relating to the 
most significant projects during the year. 

■■ Operational risks in the services 
provided

SIA is exposed to the r isk that 
inadequacies or malfunctions of software 
and equipment, or operational and procedural 
errors or other types of incidents could affect 
the provision of services, impact service 
levels and compliance with the contractual 
agreements entered into with customers. In 
extreme cases, if these events should occur, 
it could lead to customer dissatisfaction, with 
resulting claims, complaints or the payment 
of penalties.

These risks are countered by continuously 
monitoring the services provided. The 
production environments are strictly regulated 
as regards access, changes and variations. 
Trends in service levels are carefully monitored 
and developments in the technological 
area and relative investments are carefully 
planned. 

Special attention is also given to 
fault signals or alerts that could lead to 
malfunctions or bad service.

A specific self-assessment was carried 
out in 2015 by a second level risk management 
department, involving the product and service 
managers, and led to the identification and 
monitoring of risks associated with the 
products and services provided by SIA. This 
was also repeated at the end of 2015 on the 
service areas at higher risk to check on the 
status of implementation and completion of 
the countermeasures.

■■ Compliance risks

SIA must comply with article 146 of the 
Consolidated Law on banking and credit, 
which governs supervision of the payment 
systems and grants the Bank of Italy 
both regulatory powers and information, 
inspection and sanctioning powers. This 
article, most recently amended in January 
2010, addresses the managers of payment 
methods or instrumental, technological or 
network infrastructures. On the basis of the 
article, SIA, in its capacity as a manager of 
exchange and/or settlement systems, based 
and/or operating in Italy, must comply with 
the regulations governing supervision of the 
retail payment systems issued by the Board 
of the Bank of Italy on 18 September 2012. 
These regulations define the obligations 
imposed on the managers of retail payment 
systems in terms of organisation, risks and 
information to the Supervisory Authorities, 
and connections with other payment systems.

In addition, SIA must also comply with 
the "Guidelines on operational continuity for 
financial market infrastructures" that have 
registered offices or operational offices in 
Italy and the CODISE guidelines which were 
issued in May 2014 by the Bank of Italy.

These provisions are similar to the 
regulations issued in July 2013 for the 
operational continuity of banks, and reinforce 
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the systemic view of the impact of operating 
risks, including cyber security risks.

The Compliance department, which is part 
of the Risk Governance structure, ensures 
compliance with these legal provisions 
and, in general, promotes awareness of the 
law, regulations, provisions and operating 
standards within the industry.
Significant events in 2015 included the fol-
lowing:

 › in March 2015, the Bank of Italy gave 
notice of conclusion of the first two-year 
evaluation period (years 2013-2014) 
on the exchange and offsetting system 
managed by SIA, carried out on the basis 
of the Order of the Bank of Italy of 18 
September 2012 "Provisions regarding 
supervision of retail payment systems" 
and the relative operational guide. It was 
given a "fully compliant" assessment;

 › an assessment was carried out using 
a method provided for suppliers of vital 
services for financial infrastructures 
(method issued in December 2014 by 
the Bank for International Settlements);

 › the HCE (Host Card Emulation) certifica-
tion by VISA was acquired and the VBV 
(Verified by VISA) certification was main-
tained;

 › the ISO quality, security and business 
continuity cer tifications (ISO9001, 
ISO27001 and ISO22301) were 
maintained, with extension also to the 
services previously provided by the 
company RA Computer and the Gateway 
service (previously provided by TSP). 
The ISO certifications also included the 
Digital Storage and Electronic Invoicing 
services;

 › full compliance of the CO.BAN approval 
classes for which SIA offers services was 
maintained;

 › the PCIDSS certification was renewed;

 › the type-2 ISAE 3402 reports for the 

acquiring services and the international 
card processing issues, the support 
services and T2S connectivity services 
were prepared with qualified third parties;

 › for the first time, a Privacy Impact Analysis 
was established and started up in order 
to check compliance with regulations on 
the protection of personal data and in 
accordance with the principles of future 
updates on European regulation on 
privacy matters.

■■ Operational cyber security risks 

The onset of a threat to the confidentiality, 
integrity or availability of the services and 
the data under management may have a 
significant impact on the services and the 
customers, and therefore affect the operating 
results and reputation of the company.

Addressing risks related to information, 
personal and confidential data security is an 
integral part of the activities carried out by 
SIA for its customers.

A detailed set of counter-measures, at 
the organisational, logical and physical levels 
have been put in place, where the level of 
application is proportional to the results of 
the risk assessment activities and intended 
to respond to customer and institution 
expectations with respect to security and 
the protection of critical infrastructures.

The actions taken in this area are now 
being extended to different levels, according 
to an "in depth defence" concept to ensure 
that a measure of protection is covered by 
a subsequent line of defence, by layering, 
and redundancy of the measures on various 
human, procedural, technological and 
physical levels.

These actions aim to protect the infra-
structures and corporate information, and 
were carried out as part of an information 
security management system developed 
in line with the ISO 27001 standard and 
checked through qualified third parties.
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Action was also taken to combat the 
following:

 › risks related to the loss of data 
confidentiality and threats of fraud, 
with action taken to keep the rights of 
access to the systems and the users' 
profiles constantly updated, in addition 
to monitoring sensitive data bases, 
analysing the logs with aler ts and 
carrying out security tests (both static 
on software and dynamic on operational 
systems);

 › the spread of viruses and malware, 
aimed at exploiting system vulnerability, 
often also with media exposure. 

We should also mention the following:

 › The str ict  administrat ion of the 
cryptographic keys and certificates were 
carried on, separating the operational 
activities and full compliance with the 
security standards provided by the 
payment and card processing circuits;

 › Specific analyses were made and 
risk evaluations carried out on the 
information security associated with 
the services provided, the supporting 
technological infrastructures and the 
new initiatives;

 › the security guidelines were updated in 
accordance with the lessons learned and 
incorporating best practices;

 › "extreme" cyber risk scenarios were 
investigated that would threaten both 
the completeness and availability of the 
data;

 › the agreement with the CNAIPIC (National 
Computer Crime Center for Critical 
Infrastructure Protection) was renewed 
in February 2015, to assist the Ministry 
of the Interior and the Postal Police in 
preventing terrorist or criminal related 
computer threats;

 › workshops on the risk culture program 
held during the year led to dealing 
with risks and cyber threats and the 
countermeasures put in place by SIA.

■■ Operational continuity risks 

Operational continuity risks are inherent 
in the type of services that SIA provides to 
its customers. In order to combat those 
risks, SIA has always used internal rules, 
organisational processes, technological 
equipment and structured logistical systems 
to react to events that could threaten its 
capacity to provide the services. SIA uses the 
"operational continuity management system" 
to guarantee the restoration of services in 
the event of operating crises or critical events 
with wide ranging impacts.

In 2015:

 › the Business Impact Analysis was up-
dated in terms of corporate compliance 
requirements and specific requirements 
for the services provided, and the critical 
categories were therefore identified for 
continuity purposes;

 › the service lines were guaranteed 
constant monitoring and assistance in 
the event of customer requests regarding 
operational continuity;

 › the organisational set up of the crisis 
and emergency reaction teams was 
adjusted and changed, assessing the 
effectiveness with two appropriate tests;

 › sixteen Disaster Recovery system tests 
were carried out which provided for 
participation by customers.

Considering that the success of the 
business continuity process also depends 
on the awareness that the company staff 
have developed in terms of availability for 
the services provided to customers and 
the role played by SIA as a critical system 
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infrastructure, SIA provided classroom training 
to one hundred and sixty employees during 
the year. These training sessions involved 
both management and operating staff (i.e. 
those who update the continuity plans and 
intervene in the event of emergencies or 
crises).

SIA’s operational continuity management 
system was developed in line with ISO 22301 
best practices, and is checked by qualified 
third parties every year.

Since SIA provides services that are 
considered vital for financial institutions, 
retail payment systems and financial markets, 
as noted above, it is subject to supervision 
by the Bank of Italy/Eurosystem and must 
comply with the "Guidelines on operational 
continuity for financial market infrastructures" 
- updated in May 2014. SIA identified and 
adopted a series of measures to ensure full 
compliance with those guidelines in January 
2015. These countermeasures have become 
an integral part of the actions comprising 
the governance system of SIA’s operational 
continuity.

The guidelines also focus on improve-
ment of resilience against the cyber threats 
of the Financial Market Infrastructure (FMI). 
This document was issued by the CPMI/
IOSCO and has been subject to consultation 
since November 2015; it identified five risk 
categories (governance, identification, pro-
tection, findings and answers and recovery), 
identified the three main management com-
ponents (testing, awareness and learning) 
and provided instructions on the basic princi-
ples that must be complied with regarding the 
computer controls to put in place.

■■ Financial risks 

Pursuant to article 2428, paragraph 2, 
point 6-bis of the Italian Civil Code, and in 
accordance with the provisions of IFRS 7, the 
qualitative information on the financial risks 

that the Group is exposed to is shown below. 
However, the quantitative information on the 
financial risks is reported under the section 
of the Notes "Policy for the management of 
financial risks".

SIA is exposed to relatively modest 
financial risks, detailed below.

Exchange rate risk. The company oper-
ates mainly in the euro area and is therefore 
not significantly exposed to exchange rate 
risks. The development plans of the Group 
companies which operate with currencies 
other than the Euro (Perago FSE and 
SIA Central Europe) may be impacted by 
exchange rate fluctuations, thus affecting the 
carrying value of the shareholding and where 
this occurs, resulting in write-downs following 
impairment tests.

Credit risk. The company operates 
primarily with well-known and high-ranking 
customers, many of whom belong to the 
financial sector. If new customers are 
acquired and there are doubts on their 
standing, due checks are carried out on 
the financial strength of the potential 
customer. With reference to credit collection, 
procedures have been established to monitor 
expected cash flows and any possible 
recovery actions; they are mainly aimed at 
facilitating the invoice confirmation process 
with the commercial counterparties to speed 
up their collection. An agreement was also 
signed with an external lawyer to follow-up on 
certain doubtful accounts. However, losses 
on receivables in past years were not very 
significant.

Liquidity risk. The company business 
model and operating income has proven to be 
capable of generating positive cash flows over 
the years, even during recurrent economic 
crisis. The Company also generated positive 
cash flows during 2015, as shown in the 
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statement of cash flows. Overall liquidity at 
the end of the year was also positive and, in 
view of the prospects set out in the Strategic 
Plan, there are no liquidity risks. Liquidity is 
managed independently by each operating 
company within the Group. Most of the 
liquidity is with SIA, which follows extremely 
prudent rules established by the Board of 
Directors in terms of the types of permitted 
investments and their duration.

Interest rate risk. The company invests 
the liquid assets available in current bank 
accounts and bank deposits, with fixed or 
variable rate returns. Interest rate fluctuations 
may influence returns on investments, 
impacting financial income, but not in a 
substantial or significant manner in terms of 
amount. The only significant financial debts of 
the Group are related to the financial leases, 
normally at variable interest rates. Please 
refer to the section of the Notes on "Policy for 
the management of financial risks" for further 
quantitative information.

■■ Health and safety and 
environmental risks

SIA has long taken all the initiatives 
needed to protect the health at the workplace 
in accordance with prevailing legislation.

With respect to regulatory requirements, 
there were no accidents involving serious or 
very serious injuries in 2015.

The risks related to the occurrence 
of events that could have effects on the 
environment or on public health in the 
areas of influence of the Group are subject 
to increasing attention by public regulatory 
bodies and increasingly strict legislation. SIA 
did not cause any harm to the environment 
during the year for which it was declared 
responsible, or was not subject to sanctions 
or penalties for environmental offences or 
damage.

SIA also pays particular attention to the 

aspect that governs administrative, safety 
and environmental responsibility with respect 
to the risk of committing offences, as defined 
by Legislative Decree 231/01.

■■ Reputational risks

There is the potential  r isk that 
interruptions in the services or a reduced 
quality of the services could affect the 
reputation of the company and the customers 
operating with SIA.

Workshops were held in 2015 to show 
how SIA could be affected by those risks.

It emerged that SIA could run these types 
of risks both following operating incidents 
and because of cyber threats unless there is 
an immediate capacity to analyse, intervene 
and respond to them. The possible risks to 
reputation also have to be considered and 
monitored in the case of exposure on the 
Internet, the web or social media.

The various countermeasures taken 
include actions by the SIA external relations 
and communications facility that constantly 
monitors the presence, visibil ity and 
image of SIA in the main information and 
communication bodies and channels: media, 
news agencies, the web, social networks, 
etc. 

■■ Risk reporting

With respect to risk reporting, during the 
year:

 › there was on-going dialogue between the 
risk management structure, the service 
lines, the operating structures and the 
staff with the applicable risk teams and 
individual meetings;

 › Risk Committee meetings were held 
every four months, 

 › with the CEO, the Senior Vice Presidents, 
the Directors responsible for the service 
lines and the production facility and staff;

54

SIA › Management Report and Financial Statements as at 31|12|2015



 › the Internal Audit Department continued 
to work on corporate risks (third level of 
control) with regular information flows 
and meetings;

 › systematic dialogue with the Group 
companies was guaranteed on risk 
monitoring, with specific reference to 
Pi4Pay since it is a payment institute.
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Control functions

The Internal Audit Department of SIA 
reports directly to the Chairperson and 
keeps the Board of Directors updated on 
the Internal Control System and Risk 
management system as evaluated during 
the annual audit plan, and at the same 
time provides information on the results 
of each check to the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, the Board of Statutory 
Auditors and the 231 Supervisory Body. 
Within the scope of relations with other 
parties and control bodies, the Internal 
Audit Department carries out systemic 
coordination with the Risk Governance 
Department and the Independent auditors, 
in addition to the audit departments of 
the subsidiaries, in accordance with the 
guidelines approved by the parent company, 
SIA S.p.A. It also provides specific auditing 
support to the 231 Supervisory Body and on 
request, to the Board of Statutory Auditors. 
It is a member of the 231 Supervisory Body 
through its manager and takes part in the 
Risk Committee meetings of the subsidiary 
Pi4Pay. The Internal Audit Department is the 
point of contact between the Supervisory 
Authorities and the company with respect 
to internal control matters, and monitors 
the information flows between SIA and the 
Bank of Italy regarding retail payments and 
operational continuity.

The Internal Audit Department was 

involved in audits carried out by customers 
and other external parties in 2015, leading 
to subsequent monitoring of the repayment 
schedules.

The Internal Audit Department gave its 
advice to management to boost the Internal 
Control System to support relations with the 
Public Administration; it carried out checks 
of compliance on health and safety matters 
at work, and checked the effectiveness of 
the internal controls with foreign associated 
companies.

In the IT area, the department completed 
its consultation on cyber security matters and 
checked the physical security, including at 
the foreign sites. It monitored the activities 
carried out by the second level control 
function such as: the safety assessment, 
controls on privacy matters, the gap analysis 
of operational continuity requested by the 
Supervisory Authorities and the compliance 
reports relating to card processing and 
networking. It also carried out the standard 
tests on operational continuity and disaster 
recovery, focused attention on particularly 
significant events relating to provision of the 
services, and initiated any necessary follow 
up actions.

Finally, the Internal Audit Department 
gave its opinion on company transactions 
and contractual opinions and organisational 
opinions.
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Human resources and organisation

As at 31 December 2015, there were 
1,612 employees with the Group, with 1,586 
FTEs (full time equivalents), marking a 5% 
increase over the previous year. 123 people 
were hired during the year, and 52 people 
resigned. The average age of the Group 
employees is 44, and 29% are female.

The subsidiaries RA Computer and 
the Gateway business unit of TSP merged 
with the parent company SIA S.p.A. on 1 
January 2015, reaching the number of 288 
employees.

This recruitment was in line with the goals 
set out under the Strategic Plan to hire recent 
graduates, keeping key skills in house and 
develop the organisational areas involved in 
business innovation. The new hires included 
27 recent graduates mostly in the technical-
scientific areas. An employer branding 
project was developed in 2015 in the area of 
research and recruitment of talented young 
people; this entailed SIA taking part in five 
university career days, initiating a number 
of different channels and communication 
initiatives aimed at recent graduates (online 
and international recruiting portals), preparing 
new communication instruments (company 
videos and corporate brochures), and using 
social networks and agreements with leading 
Italian universities.

The project involving the digitisation 
of human capital management processes 
continued through 2015 with adoption of a 
new Human Capital Management (Talentia) 
integrated system, and continuation of the 
skill mapping project.

The periodic work climate survey took 
place in September, with 86% of the work-
force taking part, a 19% increase over the 
previous one in 2013. The results painted 

a very positive picture as a whole, confirm-
ing appreciation for the initiatives taken to 
improve the quality of the working life in the 
company, and especially the work-life balance 
initiatives.

With regard to work-life balance, partial 
teleworking increased by 31% between 2014 
and 2015, involving 10% of the workforce, 
while 26% of the workforce was able to use 
occasional teleworking, involving a total of 
about 1,300 days.

The Business Process Reengineering 
(BPR) initiative continued in 2015, with a 
focus on commercial processes; this led to 
the Client Team structures being optimised 
and identification of instruments and 
methods that help the selling processes. An 
application was acquired and customised 
in the second half of the year that enables 
the sales processes to be managed on an 
integrated, shared basis.

There were intense levels of training 
also given in 2015 in response to technical, 
managerial and linguistic requirements, with 
over 33,000 hours of training, equal to over 
three training days per employee. The main 
training initiatives included:

 › the induction course for staff from RA 
Computer to make them aware of SIA 
operating practices, its values and the 
basic principles of the organisation;

 › the cycle of meetings aimed at aligning 
the skills, techniques and strategic 
planning instruments and marketing 
instruments used in the company;

 › initiatives for strengthening English 
language soft skills, with the double 
aim of consolidating both negotiation 
capacity, public speaking and telephone 
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communication skills with linguistic 
skills; this involved staff that work in the 
foreign offices.

The "development of commercial and 
innovation skills" plan was submitted and 
approved by the Bank Insurance Fund in 
2015; this initiative to finance training 
activities aims at consolidating skills for the 
sales department, especially the specific 
skills needed for the public administration 
market, and to keep the ICT skills in the 
company competitive. 

With reference to funded training, in 2015, 
FBA gave a contribution towards training for 
the plans carried out in 2012 and 2014 

The agreement for access to the "Solidarity 

fund to suppor t income, employment, 
retraining and professional requalification of 
employees working in the credit area" was 
signed in July 2015, for the SIA staff who met 
the requirements for access in the period 
1 August 2015 - 1 August 2018. Finally, an 
agreement was signed in November to extend 
the Company bonus with reference to 2015, 
to be paid during 2016.

From an organisational standpoint, the 
Innovation Lab was started up in 2015 on the 
previously tested organisation for business 
departments, focusing on specific customer 
segments. This new facility is designed to 
pursue technological innovation and was a 
factor in the success obtained in the "mobile 
payment" projects, especially "Jiffy".
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Social responsibility and sustainability

SIA built its identity and success on 
a real value: excellence. In order to give 
further substance to this value at both 
commercial and organisational levels and 
also in relations with all its stakeholders, SIA 
decided to embark on a structured, organic 
route towards corporate social responsibility 
as a business concern, taking account of 
economic sustainability and social and 
environmental aspects in accordance with 
the goals of the organisation.

Therefore, SIA drew up a Group sustain-
ability report for the first time in 2015 and 
made it available to all its stakeholders: this 
is an important instrument of transparency, 
showing what was done to create sustaina-
ble value during the year, adding economic-fi-
nancial information to the non-financial infor-
mation through qualitative and quantitative 
indicators.

By taking this path, the Group intends 
to demonstrate its "social" credentials as 
something that it has always believed in. 
Right from the start, SIA has increasingly 
focused on certain aspects such as:

 › accessibility to services without discrim-
ination related to the level of financial 
literacy or geographic origin;

 › implementation of initiatives for employ-
ees and their families relating to the 
work-life balance, health, company at-
mosphere and training;

 › respect for the community and promotion 
of initiatives in favour of the local 
community;

 › environmental protection and protection 
of energy resources;

 › the search for state-of-the-art systems 

aimed at strengthening the economic 
system in favour of both customers and 
the entire community, through capital 
infrastructure investments and innovative 
projects.

The SIA Group is therefore committed 
to constantly reinforcing its actions towards 
corporate social responsibility as a business 
concern and integrating it into its business 
strategy in order to provide increasingly posi-
tive effects on its dealings with stakeholders.

This can be seen with its vast range of 
services (for example its payment services) 
which are made available to both companies, 
big companies to small shops, and each 
individual member of the public thanks to 
SIA, and that this helps significantly improve 
the efficiency, simplicity and rapidity with 
which many transactions can be carried out.

There are aspects that are typically 
part of SIA’s corporate mission such as the 
commitment to provide increasingly high 
levels of quality, security and continuity in its 
services, that have a strong social impact, 
even if not immediately obvious, since they 
guarantee the function of complex systems 
that are by now an integral, indispensable 
part of the economic life of each person and 
the entire country.

SIA’s commitment to increase the aware-
ness of its employees, external staff and 
suppliers in socially responsible behaviour 
is equally relevant, both from an ethical per-
spective and an environmental one.

With respect to relations with its sup-
pliers, SIA S.p.A. has subscribed, inter alia, 
to the Italian Code of Responsible Pay-
ments (CPR) "I pay in a responsible way" 
initiative since 2015; this was set up by 
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Assolombarda and was inspired by the Brit-
ish Prompt Payment Code. In accordance 
with this Code, SIA has undertaken to com-
ply with the timeframes (no longer than 60 
days) and payment methods agreed with the 
suppliers in order to be more efficient and 
transparent.

With respect to the environment, the SIA 
Group operates in the service sector which 
is not generally involved in big environmental 
issues. Despite this, SIA is highly attentive 
to the following types of issues in its 
operations: saving resources (energy and 
water), recycling materials and emission 
reductions (even though not significant). 

For example, with respect to emission 
reductions, without listing all the other 
eco-friendly actions that both SIA and all 
employees are engaged in, most company 
cars were replaced with the low CO2 emission 
cars in 2015, thereby helping to keep down 
CO2 levels which can lead to climate change 
through heating up the planet.

This is what SIA means by sustainability 
and social responsibility: doing its best in 
all areas of activity, from the smallest to 
the biggest, so that all Group stakeholders 
(employees, customers, shareholders, 
suppliers, the general public, the community, 
etc.) can enjoy the positive effects.

Treasury shares

The company did not make any purchases and/or sales of treasury shares and therefore 
did not have any treasury shares in its portfolio at year-end.

 

60

SIA › Management Report and Financial Statements as at 31|12|2015



Significant events subsequent 
to the end of the financial year

Significant events after the end of the 
financial year include the following, which did 
not involve any change to the balances on the 
financial statements:
 › on 13 January 2016, the purchase by SIA 

of 68.89% of UBIQ S.r.l. was completed, 
involving the acquisition of 51% of the 
shares for €  2,040,000 – subject to 
adjustment of the price in accordance 
with the final amounts in the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 
December 2015, and a cash contribution 
of € 2,300,000, of which € 63,074 as 
a capital increase reserved to SIA and 
the remaining part as a share premium 
reserve. UBIQ start up was established in 
2012 by a spin-off of the Parma University, 
and is a company that specialises in the 
design and development of innovative 
technological systems in the promoting 
brand-name products, where it operates 
with the T-Frutta App. By purchasing the 
products promoted online by T-Frutta from 
any sales outlet, consumers can receive 
a portion of the amount spent in money.
This transaction forms part of the growth 
strategy of SIA as a technologically 
advanced company in the area of digital 
payments, including through acquisition 
of innovative companies and the 
distribution of added value services via 
mobile phones.
The business combination accounting 
was not definitive at the date on which 
the financial statements were authorised 
for publication since the acquired 
company had not yet prepared its 
financial statements for the year ended 
on 31 December 2015.

 › on 13 January 2016, the purchase by 
SIA of 51% of LM Enterprise S.r.l. was 
completed for €  969,000 subject to 

adjustment of the price in accordance 
with the final amounts in the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 
December 2015.
The company was established in 2011, 
has its registered offices in Rome and 
provides consultancy services in the area 
of Marketing & Sales, IT/Operations and 
Organisation. The acquisition is in line with 
the expansion strategy of the business 
set out under the Group Strategic Plan, 
allowing it to meet customer requirements 
relating to support, implementation and 
development of their business strategies, 
providing specialist skills in innovative 
matters, and creating potential market 
synergies.
The business combination accounting 
was not definitive at the date on which 
the financial statements were authorised 
for publication since the acquired com-
pany had not yet prepared its financial 
statements for the year ended on 31 De-
cember 2015.

 › SIA and EBA Clearing, upon conclusion 
of a selection process begun in October 
2015, signed a letter of intent to create 
the first instant payment pan-European 
platform in the SEPA area starting from 
the fourth quarter of 2017. 53 leading 
European banks have equity investments 
in EBA Clearing, an important customer 
of SIA in governing the platforms that 
manage the SEPA payments, and which 
serves 4,800 entities including banks 
and financial institutions in the SEPA 
area.

In accordance with IAS 10, the date 
on which the financial statements were 
authorised for publication by the Board of 
directors, was 10 March 2016.
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Business outlook

The year 2016 confirms to be an especially 
critical one as far as the Group’s applicable 
competitive sector goes. Customers are 
increasingly focused on optimising the 
processes to reduce operating costs. Banks 
continue to work on projects targeted at 
recovering profitability from core business 
activities, including through operations that 
seek to give value to branches of the company 
that are no longer profitable.

The markets that the Group operates 
in are subject to increasing international 
consolidation. In this context, SIA intends to 
carry out an important role in the consolidation 
process by promot ing internat ional 
partnerships aimed at establishing a network 
of excellence.

Against this backdrop, SIA will play 
an important role as an operator that can 
respond to bank requirements through its 

own technological infrastructure which has 
high levels of operating efficiency.

It will also continue to act as an innova-
tor, thereby enabling customers to develop 
their own distinctive products. SIA excels at 
creating innovative systems that allow cus-
tomers to enhance their services with distinc-
tive products, and improve their relationships 
with the end users.

With respect to the results expected 
for 2016, the Group will continue to pursue 
its growth and revenue stabilisation goals, 
focusing on the increased synergy between 
companies operating on the market and 
greater internationalisation of revenues.

With regard to internal operations, focus 
will continue on improving efficiency in terms 
of both costs and operations. There was a 
bigger sales push abroad in 2016 thanks 
to the geographical presence of the Group 
companies.
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At the end of the separate financial 
statements of SIA S.p.A. closed at 31 
December 2015, we now submit to the 
shareholders the proposal for allocation 
of the net profit made by SIA S.p.A. of 
€ 73,005,210.

The company would like to repeat its 
intention to grow, and to stabilise revenues. 
Based on the 2016 budget projections and 
three-year Strategic Plan, in addition to the 
economic and financial performance that 
confirm its solidity and future prospects, we 

propose distributing an ordinary dividend, for 
2015, of € 49,689,535.83, corresponding to 
€ 0.29 for each of the 171,343,227 shares.

After distribution of the dividends, 
the shareholders' equity would amount to 
€ 164,970,504.

We also propose allocating € 36,666 to 
the legal reserve in order to reach one fifth of 
the share capital, as required under article 
2430 of the Italian Civil Code.

We propose that net profit be allocated 
as follows:

To the legal reserve as provided by law 36,666

Dividend of € 0.29 per share 49,689,536

Profits carried forward 23,279,008

73,005,210

If the distribution of the dividend is 
approved, as indicated, the shareholders' 
equity will be:

Share capital 22,274,620

Legal reserve 4,454,924

Share issue premium 5,316,654

Reserve for demerger surplus 5,698,828

Reserve for merger surplus 77,048,709

FTA reserve -6,053,628

Valuation reserve -1,041,098

Revaluation reserve for equity investments 2,714,625

Profits carried forward 54,556,870

164,970,504

SIA S.p.A.
The Chairman of the Board of Directors

Giuliano Asperti

Proposed allocation of profit (loss) 
for the year
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position - Assets  (thousands of euros)

Notes 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Plants and equipment  1  24,303  28,046 (3,743) -13.3%

Industrial and commercial equipment  1  1,760  1,167  593 50.8%

Land and buildings  1  981  1,010 (29) -2.9%

Other assets  1  2,348  2,716 (368) -13.5%

Work in progress and payments on account  1  828  707  121 17.1%

Tangible assets   30,220  33,646 (3,426) -10.2%

Goodwill  2  25,083  25,248 (165) -0.7%

Other intangible assets  2  19,265  18,150  1,115 6.1%

Intangible assets   44,348  43,398  950 2.2%

Equity investments  3  758  758  -   0.0%

Non-current financial receivables  -    -    -   

Non-current financial assets  4  15  16 (1) -6.3%

Contract work  5  -    317 (317) -100.0%

Non-current trade receivables  6  6  11 (5) -45.5%

Other non-current assets  7  423  1,463 (1,040) -71.1%

Deferred tax assets  8  7,838  7,543  295 3.9%

Total non-current assets   83,608  87,152 (3,544) -4.1%

Inventories  9  2,029  3,710 (1,681) -45.3%

Current financial receivables  -    -    -   

Current financial assets  10  471  143  328 229.4%

Current tax assets  11  5,608  3,582  2,026 56.6%

Due from customers - current  12  130,250  116,479  13,771 11.8%

Due from subsidiaries and parent 
companies - current  -    -    -   

Due from associated companies - current  -    -    -   

Other current assets  13  18,783  18,837 (54) -0.3%

Cash and cash equivalents  14  123,130  94,055  29,075 30.9%

Total current assets   280,271  236,806  43,465 18.4%

Assets held for sale  -    -    -    

Assets held for sale   -    -    -    

TOTAL ASSETS   363,879  323,958  39,921 12.3%
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position -  
Liabilities and Shareholders' equity  (thousands of euros)

Notes 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Share capital  15  22,275  22,091  184 

Share issue premium  15  5,317  -    5,317 

Reserves  15  126,182  96,103  30,079 

Valuation reserve  15 (1,552) (2,868)  1,316 

Treasury shares  -    -    -   

Profit pertaining to the Group  15  69,818  65,763  4,055 

TOTAL GROUP SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   222,040  181,089  40,951 22.6%

Profit/(loss) pertaining to minority interests  246  77  169 219.5%

Consolidation reserve minority interests  488  411  77 18.7%

Shareholders' equity pertaining to minority 
interests   734  488  246 50.4%

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   222,774  181,577  41,197 22.7%

Non-current bond loans  -    -    -   

Non-current financial payables  16  9,921  11,151 (1,230) -11.0%

Non-current financial liabilities  -    -    -   

Provisions for personnel  17  18,903  21,606 (2,703) -12.5%

Deferred tax liabilities  18  309  399 (90) -22.6%

Provisions for risks and charges  19  2,309  2,268  41 1.8%

Non-current trade payables  -    -    -   

Other non-current liabilities  20  5,659  -    5,659 

Total non-current liabilities   37,101  35,424  1,677 4.7%

Current bond loans  -    -    -   

Current financial payables  21  5,022  7,606 (2,584) -34.0%

Current financial liabilities  -    -    -   

Current tax liabilities  22  5,863  1,859  4,004 215.4%

Current trade payables  23  41,415  39,657  1,758 4.4%

Other current liabilities  24  51,704  57,835 (6,131) -10.6%

Total current liabilities   104,004  106,957 (2,953) -2.8%

Liabilities associated with assets being 
disposed  -    -    -    

Liabilities associated with assets being 
disposed   -    -    -   

TOTAL LIABILITIES   141,105  142,381 (1,276) -0.9%

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' 
EQUITY  363,879  323,958  39,921 12.3%
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Consolidated income statement

(thousands of euros)

Notes 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Revenues from sales and services  25  449,409  426,295  23,114 5.4%

Other revenues and income  26  2,769  4,450 (1,681) -37.8%

Changes in inventories for third parties  27 (1,510)  1,214 (2,724) -224.4%

Costs for raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods  28 (37,160) (29,473) (7,687) 26.1%

Service costs  29 (139,190) (131,961) (7,229) 5.5%

Personnel costs  30 (133,368) (131,195) (2,173) 1.7%

Other operating costs  31 (17,054) (16,748) (306) 1.8%

EBITDA   123,896  122,582  1,314 1.1%

Total Amortisation/Depreciation  32 (22,999) (24,669)  1,670 -6.8%

Value adjustments of tangible and intangible assets  32 (175)  -   (175)

Adjustments trade receivables  33 (187) (75) (112) 149.3%

Allocation to provision for risks  34 (79) (37) (42) 113.5%

EBIT   100,456  97,801  2,655 2.7%

Net income equity investments to shareholders' equity  -    -    -   

Profit/loss management equity investments  -    -    -   

Adjustments value equity investments  -    -    -   

Dividends   -    -    -   

Income (charges) on equity investments Group   -    -    -    

Profit/Loss management financial assets  -    -    -   

Adjustments value financial assets and financial receivables  -    -    -   

Profit/Loss trading financial assets and liabilities  -    -    -   

Management/Trading financial assets   -    -    -    

Financial income  35  833  1,819 (986) -54.2%

Interest Paid  36 (346) (407)  61 -15.0%

Bank charges  36 (320) (156) (164) 105.1%

Financial charges  (666) (563) (103) 18.3%

Profit (loss) before taxes   100,623  99,057  1,566 1.6%

Current taxes  37 (31,644) (29,620) (2,024) 6.8%

Deferred tax assets  37  932 (3,697)  4,629 -125.2%

Deferred tax liabilities  37  93  -    93 

Previous years' taxes  37  60  100 (40) -40.0%

Income tax  (30,559) (33,217)  2,658 -8.0%

Net profit (loss) from continuing operations   70,064  65,840  4,224 6.4%

Net income from assets held for sale or discontinued operations   -    -    -   

Profit (loss) for the year   70,064  65,840  4,224 6.4%

Profit/(loss) pertaining to minority interests   246  77  169 219.5%

Profit pertaining to the Group   69,818  65,763  4,055 6.2%
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income

(thousands of euros)

Notes 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Tangible assets  -    -    -   

Intangible assets  -    -    -   

Defined-benefit schemes  15  1,384 (2,448)  3,832 

Non-current assets being disposed  -    -    -   

Share valuat. reserves of equity inv. recognised in shareholders' 
equity  -    -    -   

Other after-tax income components without reclassification to P&L   1,384 (2,448)  3,832  

Hedging of foreign investments  -    -    -   

Exchange rate differences  15 (68) (420)  352 

Cash flow hedges  -    -    -   

Financial asset available for sale  -    -    -   

Non-current assets being disposed  -    -    -   

Share valuat. reserves of equity inv. recognised in shareholders' 
equity  -    -    -   

Other after-tax income components reclassified to P&L  (68) (420)  352  

Total other after-tax income components   1,316 (2,868)  4,184  

Profit (loss) for the year   70,064  65,840  4,224  0 

Comprehensive income (loss)   71,380  62,972  8,408  0 

Comprehensive income (loss) pertaining to minority interests   246  77  169 219%

Consolidated comprehensive income (loss) pertaining to the parent 
company   71,134  62,895  8,239 13.1%

The recognition in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the actuarial 
gains and losses on defined-benefit schemes has resulted in the recognition of deferred tax 
liabilities for € 525,000.
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Statement of changes in consolidated 
shareholders' equity

Changes in shareholders' equity in 2014 (thousands of euros)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT COMPANY

Share 
capital

Share issue 
premium Reserves

Valuation 
reserve

Profit (loss) 
for the year 

pertaining to 
the Group

TOTAL GROUP 
SHAREHOLDERS' 

EQUITY
Minority 

Interests TOTAL

Opening   22,091  -    147,744  -    48,538  218,373  492  218,865 

Change in opening balances   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Initial balances at 01/01/2014   22,091  -    147,744  -    48,538  218,373  492  218,865 

Allocation of net income from 
previous year          

Allocation Profit   -    -    48,538  -   (48,538)  -    -    -   

Dividends paid   -    -   (100,260)  -    -   (100,260)  -   (100,260)

Changes for the year          

Other changes   -    -    81  -    -    81 (81)  -   

Comprehensive income (loss)     (2,868)  65,763  62,895  77  62,972 
          
Total as at 31/12/2014   22,091  -    96,103 (2,868)  65,763  181,089  488  181,577 

On 22 April 2014 the Shareholders' Meeting of SIA S.p.A. resolved to allocate the 
entire 2013 profit for € 46,752,230 to dividend and to distribute profits carried forward for 
€ 53,508,225. 
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Changes in shareholders' equity in 2015 (thousands of euros)

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT COMPANY

Share 
capital

Share issue 
premium Reserves

Valuation 
reserve

Profit (loss) 
for the year 

pertaining to 
the Group

TOTAL GROUP 
SHAREHOLDERS' 

EQUITY
Minority 

Interests TOTAL

Opening  22,091  -    96,103 (2,868)  65,763  181,089  488  181,577 

Change in opening balances  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Initial balances at 01/01/2015  22,091  -    96,103 (2,868)  65,763  181,089  488  181,577 

Allocation of net income from 
previous year         

Allocation Profit  -    -    65,763  -   (65,763)  -    -    -   

Dividends paid  -    -   (35,685)  -    -   (35,685)  -   (35,685)

Changes for the year         

Changes in reserves  -    -    -    -   

New share issues  184  5,317  5,501  5,501 

Purchase treasury shares  -    -   

Extraordinary dividend 
distribution  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Change in equity securities  -    -    -    -    -   

Fair Value variance  -    -    -   

Stock option  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Other changes  -    -    1  -    1  -    1 

Comprehensive income (loss)     1,316  69,818  71,134  246  71,380 

Total as at 31/12/2015   22,275  5,317  126,182 (1,552)  69,818  222,040  734  222,774 

On 26 March 2015 the Shareholders' Meeting of SIA S.p.A. resolved the allocation of 
2014 profits to dividends for € 35,685,925 and profits carried forward for € 23,927,355.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Profit (loss) for the year before taxes  100,623  99,057 

Depreciation and write-downs of tangible assets  12,558  10,777 

Amortisation and write-downs of intangible assets  10,616  13,892 

Employee severance indemnity  4,687  5,007 

Provisions for risks  79  -   

Changes in trade receivables (13,766)  16,064 

Changes in trade payables  1,758 (6,139)

Changes in inventories  1,681 (3,145)

Changes in employee severance indemnity (7,390) (1,957)

Changes in current and deferred tax assets and liabilities (28,966) (41,705)

Changes in provisions for risks and charges (38) (4,556)

Changes in other assets and liabilities  622 (8,911)

Net cash flows generated/absorbed by Operating Activities  82,464  78,384 

Net investments in tangible assets (9,132) (5,728)

Net investments in intangible assets (11,566) (6,439)

Changes in contract work  317  2,053 

Changes in equity investments  -    4,816 

Net cash flows generated/absorbed by Investing Activities (20,381) (5,298)

Changes in share capital  184  -   

Changes in reserves  6,634 (2,867)

Dividends paid (35,685) (100,260)

Changes in payables for loans (3,814) (7,682)

Changes in financial assets (327)  -   

Net cash flows generated/absorbed by Financing Activities (33,008) (110,809)

Cash flow for the year  29,075 (37,723)
   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  94,055  131,778 

Total cash flows for the year  29,075 (37,723)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  123,130  94,055 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at hand and the current account balances, both 
included under "Cash and cash equivalents", described in the Notes.

The net balance of the interest paid and collected was equal to € 510,000 (€ 2,246,000 
in 2014).

72

SIA › Management Report and Financial Statements as at 31|12|2015



Notes

Statement of compliance with international 
accounting standards

The consolidated Financial Statements 
as at 31 December 2015 of the SIA Group 
include the report on consolidated operations 
and the consolidated Financial Statements 
and are drafted in compliance with the 
international accounting standards ratified by 
the European Commission and in force at 31 
December 2015. 
The international accounting standards are 
understood to be all "International Financial 
Reporting Standards" (IFRS), all "Internatio-
nal Accounting Standards" (IAS) and all in-
terpretations of the "International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee" (IFRIC), 
previously known as "Standing Interpreta-
tions Committee" (SIC).

The application of international accounting 
standards was carried out making reference 
also to the "Framework for the Preparation 

and Presentation of Financial Statements" 
and no derogations from the application of 
IAS/IFRS standards were carried out.

Specifically, the consolidated Financial 
Statements contains the statement of 
financial position, the income statement, the 
statement of comprehensive income, the 
statement of changes in shareholders' equity, 
the statement of cash flows and the Notes and 
the corresponding comparative information, 
and is accompanied by the Management 
Report on consolidated operations.

The consolidated Financial Statements 
of the SIA Group were audited by the auditing 
company Deloitte & Touche S.p.A., in execution 
of the resolution of the Shareholders' 
Meeting of 3 May 2013, which has appointed 
this company until the preparation of the 
consolidated Financial Statements of 2015.

General accounting principles
The consolidated Financial Statements 

of the SIA Group consists of accounting 
statements required by IAS 1, that is, the 
statement of financial position, income 
statement, statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in shareholders' 
equity and statement of cash flows, as well 
as the Notes and the Management Report on 
consolidated operations.

The Group has decided to represent the 
income statement by nature of expense, while 
the assets and liabilities of the statement of 
financial position are divided into current and 
non-current.

An asset is classified as current when:

 › it is assumed that this asset will be sold, 
or else it is held for sale or consumption, 
in the normal course of the operating 
cycle;

 › it is held mainly for trading;

 › it is expected to be sold within twelve 
months from the end of the year;

 › it consists of cash and cash equivalents 
(unless it cannot be exchanged or used 
to settle a liability for at least twelve 
months from the end of the year).
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All other assets are classified as non-
current. Specifically IAS 1 includes among 
non-current assets those tangible, intangible 
and financial assets of long-term nature. A 
liability is classified as current when:

 › it is expected that it will be settled in the 
normal operating cycle;

 › it is mainly held for trading;

 › it will be settled within twelve months 
from the end of the year;

 › there is no unconditional right to postpone 
its settlement for at least twelve months 
from the end of the year. The clauses of 
a liability that could, if the counterparty 
chooses, result in its settlement through 
the issue of equity instruments, do not 
affect its classification.

All other liabilities are classified by the 
company as non-current. The operating cycle 
is the time between the acquisition of goods 
for the production process and their sale for 
cash and cash equivalents. When the normal 
operating cycle cannot be clearly identified, 
its length is assumed to be twelve months.

The statement of cash flows is drafted 
with the indirect method.

The currency of presentation is the Euro 
and the data provided in these financial 
statements, unless otherwise specified, are 
expressed in Euro. 
The statement of financial position, income 
statement, statement of comprehensive inco-
me, statement of cash flows, the explanatory 
notes and the tables are expressed in thou-
sands of euros.

The financial statements are drafted 
clear ly and provide a true and fair 
representation of the financial position, profit 
and loss, change in shareholders' equity 
and cash flows. If the information required 
by international accounting standards is not 
sufficient to give a true, fair, substantial, 
reliable, comparable and understandable 

representation, the Notes provide the 
additional information needed.

The data presented as at 31 December 
2015 are compared with the financial 
statements as at 31 December 2014, as 
resulting from the application of IFRS 1 within 
FTA (First Time Adoption) which sets the 
transition date to the date of opening of the 
first year presented for comparison purposes, 
i.e. in the case of the company 1 January 
2014. The statements and the explanatory 
notes required by IAS 1 are provided in the 
annex.

The consolidated Financial Statements 
were drafted on a going concern basis, with the 
accrual method of accounting, in compliance 
with the standard of relevance and significance 
of information and prevalence of substance 
on form, aiming at ensuring consistency with 
future presentations. Assets and liabilities, 
costs and revenues are not offset against 
each other, unless this is allowed or required 
by international accounting standards. If an 
asset or a liability item belongs to multiple 
items of the statement of financial position, 
the Notes will mention, if necessary to 
understand the financial statements, the fact 
that it can also be referred to items different 
from the one in which it is recognised.

Items of different nature or allocation 
were presented separately unless they were 
considered irrelevant.

In application of IFRS, the preparation of 
the financial statements requires estimates 
and assumptions that affect the values of the 
assets and liabilities of financial statements 
and on the corresponding information, as 
well as on potential assets and liabilities at 
the reference date. The estimates and the 
corresponding assumptions are based on 
past experience and other factors considered 
reasonable in this case and are adopted 
when the carrying amount of the assets and 
liabilities cannot be easily derived from other 
sources. 
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The items of the financial statements 
for which the use of estimates and 
assumptions is most significant are the 
quantification of the provisions for risks and 
charges, the definition of the amortisation/
depreciation charge of the tangible and 
intangible assets with defined useful life, 
the valuation of the intangible assets 
with indefinite useful life and of the equity 
investments, the valuation of the benefits 

to the employees, the quantification of 
deferred taxes. The estimates and the 
assumptions are reviewed regularly and 
the effects of each change are reflected in 
the income statement, if it interests only 
that period. In the case in which the review 
interests both current and future periods, 
the change is recognised in the period in 
which the review is carried out and in the 
corresponding future periods.

Consolidation criteria and methodology
The consolidated Financial Statements 

of the Group include the financial position 
and economic results of SIA S.p.A. (parent 
company) and of the companies on which this 
has, directly or indirectly, control.

The consolidation perimeter did not 

change with respect to 31 December 2014, 
apart from the merger by incorporation of 
RA Computer S.p.A. (already 100% held by 
SIA S.p.A.) into SIA S.p.A., effective from 1 
January 2015. The consolidation perimeter 
includes therefore:

(thousands of euros)

Share capital

TOTAL 
SHAREHOLDERS' 

EQUITY
Result for the 

year
Share equity 

investment

Subsidiaries     

Perago FSE  2  147  254 100%

PI4PAY  600  4,602  842 100%

TSP  500  3,518  333 100%

SIA Central Europe  560  5,320  1,791 100%

Emmecom Srl  40  1,499  503 51%

As for consolidation methods, equity in-
vestments in subsidiaries were consolidated 
with the line-by-line method, while equity in-

vestments in companies on which the Group 
has a significant influence are consolidated 
with the equity method.

■■ Line-by-line method
Equity investments in subsidiaries are 

consolidated with the line-by-line method. 
In compliance with the provisions of IFRS 
10, the concept of control goes beyond the 
majority of the share capital of the subsidiary 
and refers to the case when an entity is 
exposed to variable returns, or holds rights 

on these returns, deriving from its relation 
with the subsidiary and at the same time has 
the ability to affect these returns exercising 
its power on this entities.

This type of consolidation requires the 
"line-by-line" aggregation of all items of the 
statement of financial position and income 
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statement of the subsidiaries. To this purpose, 
the following adjustments were made:

(a) the carrying amount of the equity 
investments held by the parent company 
and the corresponding share of the 
shareholders' equity are derecognised;

(b) the share of shareholders' equity and 
profit or loss pertaining to minority 
interests is recognised in a separate 
item.

The results of the adjustments described 
above, if positive, are recognised – after the 
recognition as assets or liabilities of the 
subsidiary, as necessary – as goodwill under 
"Intangible assets" at the first consolidation 
date, if the requirements are satisfied.

If negative, the resulting differences are 
usually recognised in profit and loss.

The intra-group balances and transac-
tions, including revenues, costs and divi-

dends, are fully derecognised.

The profit realised by a subsidiary 

acquired during the year is included in the 

consolidated Financial Statements from the 

date of its acquisition. Similarly, the profit 

realised by a subsidiary sold are included in 

the consolidated Financial Statements until 

the time when control is lost.

The accounting statements used in the 

preparation of the consolidated Financial 

Statements are drafted at the same date.

The consolidated Financial Statements 

are drafted using uniform accounting 

standards for similar transactions and events.

If a subsidiary uses accounting stand-

ards different from those adopted in the 

consolidated Financial Statements for sim-

ilar transactions and events in similar cir-

cumstances, adjustments are made to its 

accounting statements for the purposes of 

the consolidation.

■■ Equity method 
The equity investments on which the 

Group has a significant influence or joint 
control, as defined by IAS 28, are measured 
with the equity method. According to this 
method, the equity investment is initially 
recognised at cost and the carrying amount 
is increased or decreased to recognise the 
portion attributable to the parent company 
in the profits or losses that the investee 
company realises after the acquisition date. 
The share of the profits of the investee 
company attributable to the parent company 
is recognised in profit and loss of the latter. 
The dividends received from an investee 
company decrease the carrying amount 
of the equity investment; it may also be 
necessary to adjust the carrying amount as 
a result of changes in the share held in the 
investee company, as a result of changes 
in the shareholders' equity of the latter not 

recognised in profit and loss. These changes 
include changes deriving from the revaluation 
of property, plant and equipment and from 
foreign exchange translation differences. The 
share of these changes is recognised directly 
in the shareholders' equity of the parent 
company.

In the presence of potential voting rights, 
the share of the profits or the losses and 
the changes in the shareholders' equity of 
the investee companies attributable to the 
parent company is calculated according to 
the current ownership structure and does 
not reflect the possibility of exercising or 
converting the potential voting rights.

In case of losses incurred by the investee 
company, if these exceed the carrying amount 
of the equity investment, the carrying amount 
of the equity investment is set to zero and 
the additional losses are recognised only 
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if the parent company has acquired legal 
or implicit obligations or has carried out 
payments on behalf of the investee company. 
If the investee company subsequently makes 
a profit, the parent company recognises again 
the share of profits that can be attributed 
to it only after having met the share of loss 
previously not recognised.

For the consolidation of the equity invest-
ments in associated and/or jointly controlled 
companies, the accounting records drafted 
and approved by the administrative bodies of 
the individual companies are used. 

When accounting records drafted accord-
ing to the international accounting standards 

are not available, those drafted in compliance 

with Italian accounting standards are used 

once it has been established that the differ-

ence is not significant.

The consolidating company stops using 

the equity method at the moment it stops 

exercising significant influence or joint control 

on the investee company and recognises this 

equity investment under "current financial 

assets" or "non-current financial assets", 

according to the approach described before, 

from that date onwards, on condition that the 

associated or jointly controlled company does 

not become a subsidiary.

Accounting standards and valuation criteria
We describe below the criteria adopted for the classification, recognition, valuation and 

derecognition of the different types of assets and liabilities, as well as the criteria of recognition 
of the items of the income statement.

■■ Financial assets and liabilities held for trading 
A financial asset or liability is classified 

as held for trading if it is: 

 › acquired or incurred mainly to be sold or 
bought back after a short interval;

 › part of a portfolio of identified financial 
instruments that are managed as one 
single instrument and for which there 
is evidence of a recent and effective 
strategy aimed at obtaining a profit in the 
short term;

 › a derivative (with the exception of a 
derivative that is a designed and effective 
hedge instrument). 

A "derivative" is a financial instrument 
or other contract with the following charac-
teristics:

 › its value changes according to the 
change in an interest rate, the price of a 
financial instrument, the price of a com-

modity, an exchange rate, an index of 
prices or rates, the creditworthiness or 
credit indexes or other pre-set variable;

 › it does not requires a net initial invest-
ment, or requires a net investment lower 
than the one that would be required for 
other types of contracts from which an 
equal response to changes in market fac-
tors would be expected;

 › it is settled at a future date.

The SIA Group holds financial derivative 
instruments only for trading purposes related to 
the executive incentive plan (only at SIA S.p.A.).

"Financial assets and liabilities held for 
trading" are recognised respectively:

 › on settlement, in the case of debt or equi-
ty securities; or

 › when taken out, in the case of derivative 
contracts.
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The value of initial recognition is equal 
to the cost understood as the fair value 
of the instrument, without considering any 
transaction cost or revenue that can be 
directly attributed to the instruments.

After the initial recognition, the financial 
instruments in question are measured at fair 
value with recognition of the changes in value 
in profit or loss.

The measurement of the fair value of the 
assets or liabilities held for trading is based 
on prices observed in active markets or on 

commonly used internal valuation models 
described in more details below.

"Financial assets and liabilities held 
for trading" are derecognised when the 
contractual rights on the cash flows deriving 
from the financial asset or liability expire, or 
when the financial asset or liability is sold 
with the substantial transfer of all risks and 
benefits deriving from their ownership. The 
net income from the sale of a financial asset 
or liability held for trading is recognised to 
profit or loss.

■■ Financial assets held to maturity
Financial assets held to maturity (HTM) 

are those non-derivative financial assets, with 
fixed or determinable payments, that an entity 
intends and is able to hold to maturity. The 
following assets are excluded:

 › assets held for trading and designated 
on initial recognition at fair value through 
profit or loss;

 › assets designated as available for sale;

 › assets that meet the definition of loans 
and receivables.

At the time of the preparation of the 
annual or interim financial statements, the 
intention and the ability to hold the financial 
assets to maturity are assessed.

Financial assets held to maturity are 
initially recognised when, and only when, the 
company becomes a party in the contractual 
clauses of the instrument, that is, on 
settlement, at a value equal to the cost, 
including any cost and revenue that may be 
directly attributed to it.

If the recognition of the assets in this 
category derives from a reclassification from 
"financial assets available for sale" or, in rare 
circumstances, if the asset is no longer held 
to be sold or bought back in the short term, 
from "financial assets held for trading", the 

fair value of the assets, recognised at the 
time of the reclassification, is taken as the 
new measure of the amortised cost of the 
asset.

Financial assets held to maturity are 
valued at amortised cost using the method of 
the effective interest rate. Net income deriving 
from the application of this methodology 
is recognised in profit or loss as financial 
income. During the preparation of annual or 
interim financial statements, the existence 
of objective evidence of impairment of the 
assets is assessed. 

If impairment is observed, the difference 
between the carrying amount of the asset 
and the current value of the estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate, is recognised in profit 
or loss; any revaluation recorded when the 
impairment reasons no longer apply would be 
recognised in the same way.

Financial assets held to maturity are 
derecognised when the contractual rights 
on the cash flows deriving from the financial 
assets expire or when the financial asset is 
sold with the substantial transfer of all risks 
and benefits deriving from the ownership 
of the asset. Net income from the sale of 
financial assets held to maturity is recognised 
in profit or loss.
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■■ Tangible assets
The categories of goods that may be 

classified as tangible assets, independently 
from whether they are actually held or not, are 

listed in the following table, together with the 
depreciation method used:

Category Sub-classes Depreciation rate

Land and buildings Land for functional use
Land held for investment purposes
Industrial buildings/ offices for functional use
Industrial buildings/ offices held for investment purposes

- 
- 

3%
3%

Plants and equipment Electrical systems
Data centre systems
A/C systems
Alarm and security systems
Fire alarm systems
Telephone and telecommunications systems
Hardware
Machinery

10% 
15% 
15% 
30% 
15% 
25% 
25% 
15%

Equipment Manufacturing equipment
Electrical machinery
Sales equipment 
Miscellaneous equipment  

12% 
12%
12% 
12%

Other assets Office equipment 
Office machinery 
Furniture
Fittings 
Vehicles

12% 
12% 
12% 
12% 
25%

Restructuring costs for properties not 
owned (known as improvements on third 
party goods) are capitalised on account of 
the fact that for the length of the lease the 
lease company has the control of the goods 
and can derive from these future economic 
benefits. 

These restructuring costs are classified 
under "Other non-current assets" and the 
corresponding depreciation charges (calculat-
ed on the basis of a depreciation period that 
cannot exceed the length of the lease) under 
"Other operating costs". This category does 
not include assets that may be clearly identi-
fied and separated.

The recognition of property, plant and 
equipment among tangible assets takes 
place only when all of the following conditions 
are met:

 › it is likely that the future economic ben-

efits from the asset will accrue to the 
company;

 › the cost can be reliably calculated.

Tangible assets are initially valued at 
cost, defined as the monetary amount or 
equivalent paid or the fair value of other 
consideration given to acquire an asset, at 
the time of purchase or replacement. After 
the initial recognition, tangible assets are 
recognised at cost, net of the depreciation 
charges previously recognised and any 
accumulated impairment, according to which 
the cost of the tangible asset usually remains 
unchanged until it is derecognised. 

The depreciation method used for 
tangible assets is the straight-line method, on 
their useful life, recognising the depreciation 
on an accrual basis. In practice, depreciation 
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is calculated from the first day of the month 
in which the asset is available for use.

At the end of each year the company 
establishes whether there have been 
substantial changes in the expected economic 
benefits deriving from the capitalised assets; 
if so, it modifies the depreciation method, 
which is considered as a change in accounting 
estimate according to the provisions of IAS 8.

At the end of each year, the company 
also establishes whether tangible assets, 
measured at cost, have incurred impairment; 
if so, the impairment must be recognised 
in profit or loss. To recognise and calculate 
the impairment, we use external and internal 
sources, as required by IAS 36. 

Only for buildings, as there is usually 
an active reference market, from which 
it is possible to obtain the fair value net 
of sale costs, the market price calculated 
according to a special expert report is used 
for the purposes of the impairment test, as a 
reference parameter to calculate the potential 
impairment. A loss in value over a continuous 
period of three years is believed to be an 
indication of impairment. Any subsequent 
revaluation is immediately recognised in 
profit or loss.

The value of the tangible asset is fully 
derecognised upon its disposal, or when no 
future economic benefit is expected from its 
disposal.

Goods acquired through finance lease 
contracts

A f inance lease is a lease that 
substantially transfers all risks and benefits 
deriving from the ownership of the asset 
and for which ownership rights can also not 
be transferred at the end of the agreement; 
a lease is instead classified as operating 
lease if it does not transfers, substantially, 
all risks and the benefits deriving from the 
ownership.

In compliance with the provisions of IAS 
17, finance leases are recognised as assets 
and liabilities in the statement of financial 
position at the fair value of the asset leased 
or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payment, both calculated at the 
beginning of the lease term.

The amount recognised as an asset 
includes also any initial lessee direct cost, 
consistently with the legal provisions, in 
particular commissions, fees and legal 
expenses, that is, those costs that are fixed 
and can be immediately calculated at the 
time of the initial recognition of the lease.

In the absence of an explicit contractual 
provision on the implicit interest rate of the 
lease, the interest rate of the marginal loan of 
the lessee is calculated through an estimate, 
from another counterparty, having as object 
the lease of an identical asset and for the 
same lease term. If this is not feasible, for 
example because the leased asset includes 
several customised features, the interest rate 
of the marginal loan is calculated according 
to the interest rate for a loan with similar 
term and guarantees that would enable the 
lessee to buy the asset.

The method used to allocate the financial 
cost over the lease term is the straight line 
method, used for the interest component. 
The depreciation method used for leased 
goods that can be depreciated is consistent 
with the one adopted for owned goods that 
can be depreciated and the depreciation to 
be recognised must be calculated according 
to the requirements of IAS 16 and IAS 38, 
according to the nature of the leased asset. 

The substance of the finance leases 
concluded by the Group is such that the 
depreciation period corresponds to the lease 
term.

The sum of the depreciation charge of an 
asset and the financial cost during the year 
is rarely equivalent to the lease payments 
due for the year and therefore the simple 
recognition of the lease payments in the 
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income statement as cost is not correct. 
It is unlikely, then, that the asset and the 
corresponding liability have the same value 
after the beginning of the lease.

Consistently with the provisions already 
referred to for tangible and intangible 
assets, a regular assessment is carried out 
to see whether a leased asset has incurred 

impairment, applying the provisions of IAS 
36.

The finance leases that reach maturity 
and are renewed for a limited time period 
are recognised in the same way as operating 
leases, recognising then the payments for 
an operating lease as cost on a straight-line 
basis during the length of the lease.

■■ Intangible assets
An intangible asset is an asset that 

meets the following conditions:

 › it can be identified;it is not monetary;

 › ii is without physical substance;

 › it is under the control of the company 
that prepares the financial statements;

 › it is expected to produce future economic 
benefits for the company.

If an asset does not meet the require-
ments to be identified as an intangible as-
set, the expense incurred to buy the asset or 
generate it internally is recognised as a cost 
when it was incurred.

However, if the asset in question is 
acquired during a business combination, 
it forms part of the goodwill recognised on 
acquisition.

Intangible assets are initially recognised 
at cost.

The cost of intangible assets acquired 
from outside the company includes the 
purchase price and any cost that may 
be directly attributed. The main category 
of intangible assets acquired separately 
includes software bought from a third party 
or under license. The costs for leased assets 
are instead recognised in profit or loss if they 
have a short useful life and the economic 
benefits are limited within and not beyond the 
term of the lease.

The intangible assets acquired through 
business combinations are initially recog-

nised at cost, which corresponds to the fair 
value on acquisition. The intangible asset 
is recognised separately from goodwill if its 
fair value can be calculated reliably, despite 
the fact that the asset was recognised by the 
acquired company before the business com-
bination: in particular there is an assumption 
that the fair value can be measured reliably, 
unless the assets derives from legal or con-
tractual rights and cannot be separated, or 
else can be separated but there is no evi-
dence of similar transactions in the past.

Goodwill generated internally and 
intangible assets deriving from research (or 
from the research stage of an internal project) 
are not recognised as assets.

An intangible asset deriving from the 
development or from the development stage 
of an internal project is recognised if the 
following elements are identified:

 › technical feasibility of the completion of 
the intangible asset so that this becomes 
available for use or sale;

 › intention to complete the intangible 
asset for use or sale;

 › ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

 › the way in which the intangible asset 
is able to generate future economic 
benefits and in particular the existence of 
a market for the product of the intangible 
asset or for the intangible asset itself or, 
if must be used for internal purposes, its 
usefulness;
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 › the availability of technical, financial and 
other resources adequate to complete 
the development and for the use or sale 
of the asset;

 › the ability to estimate reliably the cost 
that may be attributed to the intangible 
asset during its development.

The main category of internally generated 
intangible assets is represented by software 
projects. The following costs are considered 
directly attributable, incurred to bring the 
assets to normal operating conditions, and 
can be capitalised:

 › the costs for materials and services used 
or consumed to produce the intangible 
asset;

 › taxes paid to obtain a legal right;

 › the amortisation of patents and licences 
used for the production of the intangible 
asset;

 › financial charges;

 › personnel costs allocated and planned 
for the development of the project;

 › fees paid to external consultants for 

services directly related to the project 
already started and identified.

Intangible assets are measured at cost 
according to one of the two different methods 
set by IAS 38, cost model and revaluation 
model. The cost model provides for an 
intangible asset to be recognised, after the 
initial recognition, at cost minus accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

At each reporting date, an assessment 
is carried out to see whether there are 
indications that a loss in value may have 
occurred. If there is any indication of this, 
according to the provisions of IAS 36, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 
and compared with the carrying amount by 
executing a specific impairment test.

For intangible assets with defined useful 
life, amortisation is calculated from the 
first day of the month in which the asset 
is available for use, using the straight-line 
method.

The table below shows the amortisation 
rates adopted by SIA Group for the main 
classes of intangible assets:

Category Sub-classes
Amortisation 

rate

Separately acquired intangible assets Patents and other industrial property rights
Trademarks
Software licences

33%
33%
33%

Internally generated intangible assets Internally developed software projects 33%

Intangible assets related to infrastruc-
ture of special strategic relevance, that is, 
related to contracts for a period of more than 
three years, are examined on a case-by-case 
basis to assess the correct useful technical/
economic life, which in exceptional circum-
stances may be more than three years.

Intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life and those not yet available for 
use are not amortised, but, according to 
the requirements of IAS 36, are subject to 

an impairment test, that is, assessed for 
the existence of losses in value through a 
comparison between recoverable amount 
and carrying amount. The impairment test is 
carried out at least once a year and any time 
there are indications that an intangible asset 
may have incurred a loss in value. 

Within the Group the only intangible 
assets having indefinite useful life are 
represented by goodwill originated as a result 
of business combinations.
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Intangible assets are fully derecognised 
on disposal or when no future economic 
benefit is expected to derive from their 
disposal. 
The profit or loss generated by the dereco-
gnition of intangible asset are recognised in 
profit or loss, under "Net income from assets 

held for sale or discontinued operations", 
when the asset is derecognised. In calcula-
ting the disposal date, the provisions of IAS 
18 for the recognition of revenue from the 
sale of goods apply, as well as those of IAS 
17 in the case of disposal carried out through 
sale and lease back operations.

■■ Goodwill generated by business combinations  
and impairment test
A business combination is a transaction, 

or another event, through which a buyer 
acquires the control of one or more 
businesses. According to the provisions 
of IFRS 3, all business combinations are 
recognised applying the acquisition method, 
which considers a business combination from 
the point of view of the buyer and therefore 
assumes that in each business combination 
there must be a buyer.

The acquisition date is the date at 
which the buyer has obtained the control of 
the other companies or businesses object 
of aggregation. At the acquisition date the 
financial statements of the company acquired 
must be available for the consolidation of the 
data in the consolidated income statement 
and the measurement of the fair value of 
the assets and liabilities acquired, including 
goodwill.

If reliable financial statements are not 
available at this time, the Group assume as 
acquisition date – for these purposes – the 
first day of the quarter immediately after the 
effective acquisition date or, if closer, the 
last day of the quarter before this date.

The assets acquired and the liabilities 
taken on are measured by the buying 
company at their fair value at the acquisition 
date, according to the definition provided by 
IFRS 13.

Goodwill is an asset of the company that 
represents the sum of the future benefits 
deriving from all those assets acquired 

within a business combination that cannot 
be individually identified and measured 
separately from the others. At the acquisition 
date it is measured as the excess between 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
of the company acquired and the sum of the 
following components:

 › the consideration transferred, usually 
measured at fair value;

 › the amount for the minority interest;

 › the fair value at the acquisition date of 
the interests already held by the buyer 
before the business combination.

If the fair value of the identifiable net 
assets exceeds the aggregate consisting of 
the consideration transferred, the minority 
interest and the fair value of each interest 
already held, the difference is recognised 
immediately as profit to income statement, 
since it is, substantially, a negative goodwill.

Goodwill recognised in the consolidated 
Financial Statements as a result of line-
by-line consolidation of direct and indirect 
equity investments is subject to an annual 
impairment test carried out by an external 
consultant.

The impairment test for goodwill is 
always carried out within a cash generating 
unit (CGU) or a CGU group, as goodwill does 
not generate cash flows independently 
from the other assets. Specifically, a cash 
generating unit which has been allocated 
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goodwill is tested every year for lasting 
losses in value and any time there is an 
indication that the unit may have incurred a 
lasting loss in value. An asset has incurred 
a lasting loss in value when its carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. For 
the calculation of the recoverable amount 
reference is made to the value in use.

According to the provisions of IAS 36, 
goodwill acquired in a business combination 
must, starting from the acquisition date, 
be allocated to each CGU of the buyer, or 
CGU groups, expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the aggregation. Because the 
strong degree of integration of the assets 
does not make it easy to identify the at which 
level the impairment test of the goodwill 
should be carried out, a single CGU was 
identified represented by the company as a 
whole, believing that the goodwill recognised 
in these financial statements must be tested 
according to drivers of the value referred to 
the company as a whole.

For the execution of the impairment test 
on goodwill, forecast data are used, approved 
by the Board of Directors, with a three-year 
forecasting period. The rate of discount used 
is the pre-tax rate that reflects the current 
market valuation of the time value of cash 
and the specific risks of the assets for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not 
been adjusted. 

This rate is estimated through the 
implicit rate used for similar assets currently 
negotiated in the market or through the 
weighted average cost of capital of a listed 
company that has a single business (or 

a portfolio of businesses) similar to the 
businesses considered in terms of service 
and risks. When the rate of an specific 
asset cannot be directly obtained from the 
market, the company makes use of other 
techniques to estimate the discount rate 
(considering for example, the following rates: 
the weighted average cost of capital for the 
company calculated making use of valuation 
techniques such as the Capital Asset Pricing 
Model (CAPM); the marginal borrowing rate 
of the company; other borrowing rates that 
can be found on the market).

A loss in value is recognised if the 
recoverable amount of the business 
(group of businesses) is lower than the 
carrying amount of the business (group of 
businesses). 

The loss in value is subtracted, first, 
from the carrying amount of the goodwill 
allocated to the CGU, or CGU group, and 
then from the other assets of the business 
(group of businesses) in proportion to the 
carrying amount of each asset that belongs 
to the business (group of businesses).

A sensitivity analysis is also carried 
out to confirm the reasonableness of 
the results obtained from estimates of 
values that, by their nature, necessarily 
contain some uncertainty; the sensitivity 
of the results obtained during impairment 
test is verified, against changes in some 
estimate parameters and some underlying 
assumptions.

As set forth in IAS 36, if an impairment 
loss has been recognised for goodwill, it 
cannot be subsequently derecognised.

■■ Equity investments
The equity instruments that meet the 

definition of equity investments have as 
common denominator the acquisition of a 
share, more or less substantial, of the power 
of governance of the investee company. 

They can be divided in:

 › subsidiaries;

 › companies under joint control;

 › associated companies.
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The controlling, affiliation and joint 
venture interests are recognised at the date 
of the acquisition of the interest, which it is 
assumed to coincide with the date at which 
the control, the significant influence, or the 
joint control was acquired. This date is also 
the reference date for the measurement of 
the fair value of the assets and liabilities 
acquired in the business combination and 
therefore the goodwill.

Equity investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associated companies are 
initially recognised at cost. At the end of 
each accounting period, as required by the 
cost method, an assessment is carried out 
to identify any indication that an asset has 
incurred a loss in value, as a result of which 
the carrying amount of the equity investment 
must be adjusted (known as impairment).

The impai rment  test  on equ i ty 
investments in subsidiaries is carried out on 
the individual legal entities by an external 
consultant, consistently with the provisions 
of IAS 36.

For goodwill in the consolidated Financial 

Statements of the Group deriving from the 

recognition of equity investments at a value 

greater than the shareholders' equity, the 

impairment test is carried out through the 

estimate of the recoverable amount of the 

legal entity to which goodwill refers. 

For the remaining goodwill that cannot 

be traced back to a single legal entity and 

resulting from business combinations (such 

as for example mergers by incorporation) the 

impairment test is carried out by identifying 

the cash generating units representative 

of the business to which said goodwill is 

associated, or, if this is not feasible, of the 

company as a whole.

The fact that the investment no longer 

represents an equity investment does not 

exclude that the residual investment and 

the share sold may qualify as financial 

assets; reference is then made also to the 

derecognition rules set by IAS 39 for financial 

assets.

■■ Inventories and long-term contracts
Inventories are goods:

 › held for sale as part of the normal oper-
ation;

 › used in the production process for sale;

 › consisting of materials or good supplies 
to be used in the process of production 
or in the provision of services.

Long-term contracts are contracts con-
cluded specifically for the construction of 
an asset or a combination of goods closely 
related or interdependent with regard to their 
design, technology and function or allocation 
or final use.

Within the Group, inventories of finished 
goods and goods for resale mostly represent 
terminals and smart cards bought from third 

parties and held for sale, to meet obligations 
deriving from contracts with the clients, 
while long-term contracts represent contract 
work in progress ordered by the main clients 
mainly related to the implementation of 
software components.

Inventories are recognised and measured 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The cost of inventories must include all 
purchase costs, transformation costs, and 
other costs incurred to bring the inventories 
in the current place and conditions; they 
do not include exchange rate differences in 
the case of inventories invoiced in foreign 
currency.

In compliance with the provisions of 
IAS 2, the cost of inventories is to be 
calculated with the weighted average cost 
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method on an annual basis, unless there are 
anomalous price swings that may produce 
distorting effects.

The calculation of the net realisable 
value of inventories is carried out with 
reference to the sale price estimated in 
the normal execution of the activity, net of 
estimated completion costs and of those 
costs that are expected to be incurred to 
carry out the sale as inferred from contracts 
already concluded for the supply of services 
or from the most recent prices for similar 
transactions already carried out in the recent 
period, provided they can be documented.

When the net realisable value is lower 
than the cost, the difference is immediately 

recognised in the income statement. The 
write-down is carried out on an individual 
item basis: therefore it is not appropriate to 
write down the inventories according to their 
classification or because they are part of a 
specific operating segment.

In compliance with the provisions 
of IAS 11, we used the percentage-of-
completion method for the recognition of 
the order revenue and costs according to 
the consideration accrued. The percentage 
of completion of the work is calculated 
according to the method of the cost incurred 
until the reference date taking as reference 
the costs that can be directly traced back to 
the order.

■■ Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative 

financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities that are not 
listed on an active market, other than those:

 › that the company plans to sell immedi-
ately or in the short term, which are des-
ignated as held for trading;

 › that the company designates on initial 
recognition as assets at fair value 
through profit or loss;

 › that the company designates on initial 
recognition as available for sale;

 › for which the holder may not fully recover 
the initial investment, for reasons other 
than credit deterioration, which should be 
classified as available-for-sale.

This wider definition of loans and receiva-
bles includes the following cases:

 › trade receivables due from clients (in-
cluding subsidiaries and associated com-
panies);

 › financial receivables for loans to compa-
nies of the Group;

 › other miscellaneous receivables (such 
as, for example, receivables from 
employees and advances to suppliers).

Receivables are recognised, on initial 
recognition, at fair value plus transaction 
costs and revenue that can be directly 
attributed to the transaction, and are included 
among both non-current and current assets. 
Short-term contracts are by convention those 
with a contractual duration of no more than 
12 months. However practice or regulations 
in use in the countries of residence of the 
foreign companies of the Group may require 
classifying as short-term a contract with 
contractual duration exceeding 12 months.

Trade receivables from service provisions 
are recognised according to the terms set by 
the contract with the client and at any rate only 
after the service is provided and classified 
according to the nature of the counterparty 
and/or the due date of the receivable. The 
receivables deriving from loans disbursed 
to investee companies are recognised on 
settlement and not on the conclusion of the 
contract.
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Receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 
Short-term receivables are measured with 
methodologies based not on amortised cost, 
but on historical cost. 
This is because the value of short-term re-
ceivables is found to be very similar whether 
the historical cost method or the amortised 
cost method is applied and the impact of di-
scounting would therefore be utterly negligi-
ble.

All financial assets falling into the 
definition of receivables are subject to an 
assessment to identify indications of loss in 
value (known as impairment). The assessment 
is carried out for each financial asset that 
is individually significant, and individually 
or collectively for financial assets that are 
not individually significant. Assets that are 

assessed individually for impairment, and 
for which an impairment loss is or continues 
to be recognised, cannot be included in a 
collective impairment assessment. For a 
collective impairment assessment, financial 
assets are aggregated in the basis of their 
credit risk characteristics that indicate the 
ability of the borrowers to pay all amounts 
due according to contractual conditions.

The receivables are derecognised when 
the contractual rights on the cash flows 
deriving from them expire. 

The derecognition of trade receivables 
is carried out only for those exposures that 
could not be collected, for which an agreement 
has been reached with the client as a result 
of recovery activities. The derecognition of 
financial receivables takes place on the 
maturity of the loan.

■■ Financial assets available for sale
Assets available for sale are non-deriva-

tive financial instruments explicitly placed in 
this category, that is, which are not classified 
in any of the other categories specified by 
IAS 39 and are included among non-current 
assets unless the management plans to sell 
them in the twelve months after the reporting 
date.

All financial assets in this category 
are initially recognised at fair value plus 
accessory charges. Subsequently, financial 
assets available for sale are measured at 
fair value and valuation profits or losses are 
recognised in a shareholders' equity reserve; 
their recognition to income statement is 
carried out only when the financial asset is 
actually sold.

The fair value of listed financial instru-
ments is based on the current offer price; 
these instruments belong to the Level 1 of 
the fair value hierarchy. If the market for a 
financial asset is not active (or refers to un-
listed securities), the Group defines the fair 

value using valuation techniques in line with 
what expected for the Level 2 and Level 3 
according to whether the market inputs are 
observable or not. 

In determining the valuation, the Group 
favours the use of market information over 
internal information that is specific to the 
Group’s business.

At each reporting date the Group assess-
es whether there is an objective evidence of 
impairment of the financial assets.

In the case of equity investments 
classified as financial assets available for 
sale, a lasting or significant decrease in the 
fair value of the equity investment below 
the initial cost is considered an indication 
of impairment. If there is such evidence, 
for financial assets available for sale, 
the accumulated loss – calculated as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and 
the fair value at the reporting date, net of any 
loss in value previously recognised in profit 
or loss – is transferred from shareholders' 
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equity and recognised in profit or loss. These 
losses cannot be subsequently reversed to 
the income statement.

The recognition of the returns on debt 
securities, according to the amortised cost 
method, takes place in the income statement, 

under "Financial income", in a similar way to 
the effects of exchange rate changes, while 
the exchange rate changes related to equity 
investments classified as available for sale 
are recognised in a special shareholders' 
equity reserve.

■■ Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and other cash equivalents are 

recognised, according to their nature, at their 
nominal value or at amortised cost.

Other cash equivalents represent highly 
liquid short-term term financial assets, 

which can be easily converted in known cash 
amounts and are subject to only negligible 
risk of change in their value, with an original 
maturity, that is, maturity at the time of the 
purchase, of less than three months.

■■ Employees’ benefits
Benefits to the employees include 

benefits disbursed to employees or their 
dependants, to be settled with payments 
(or with the supply of goods and services) 
carried out directly to the employees, their 
spouses, children or other dependants, or to 
third parties, such as insurance companies. 
They can be divided into short-term benefits, 
benefits due to employees for the termination 
of the employment contract and post-
employment benefits.

Shor t - term benef i ts  inc lude the 
incentive schemes represented by annual 
bonuses, the MBO and the one-off renewals 
of the national collective labour agreements. 
They are recognised as liabilities (accrued 
expense) after deducting any amount 
already paid, and as cost, unless some 
other standard IFRS requires or allows the 
inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an 
asset (for example the costs for the staff 
used in the development of internally 
generated intangible assets).

Benefits for the termination of the 
employment contract includes the voluntary 
redundancy incentive schemes, in the case 
of voluntary resignations that provide for the 
employee or group of employees to take part 

in a trade union agreement for the activation 
of the so-called solidarity funds, and the 
redundancy scheme, which apply in the case 
of termination of the employment as a result 
of unilateral decision by the company. 

The company recognises the cost of these 
benefits as a liability of financial statements 
at the closer date between the time when the 
company cannot withdraw the offer of these 
benefits and the time when the company 
recognises the costs of a restructuring 
that falls within IAS 37. The provisions for 
voluntary redundancies are reviewed at least 
every six months.

Post-employment benefit schemes 
can be divided in two categories: defined-
contribution schemes and defined-benefit 
schemes.

Defined-contribution schemes include 
mainly:
 › complementary pension funds that imply 

a given amount of contribution by the 
company;

 › employee severance indemnity fund, only 
for the portions accrued since 1 January 
2007 for companies with more than 
50 employees, whatever the allocation 
option chosen by the employee;
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 › the portions of the employee severance 
indemnity accrued since 1 January 2007 
and allocated to the complementary 
pension funds, in the case of companies 
with less than 50 employees;

 › the complementary healthcare plans.

The defined-benefit schemes include, 
instead:

 › the employee severance indemnity, only 
for the share accrued until 31 December 
2006 for all companies, as well as the 
portions accrued since 1 January 2007 
and not allocated to complementary 
pension funds for the companies with 
less than 50 employees;

 › complementary pension funds, the 
conditions of which provide for the 
payment to the members of a defined 
benefit;

 › seniority payments, providing for an one-

off payment to employees who reach a 
given seniority level.

In defined-contribution schemes, the 
obligation of the company that prepares the 
financial statements is calculated according 
to the contributions due for that year and 
therefore the valuation of the obligation does 
not require actuarial assumptions and there 
are no actuarial profits or losses.

The recognition of defined-benefit 
schemes is characterised by the use of 
actuarial assumptions to calculate the 
value of the obligation. This valuation is 
carried out by an external actuary, on an 
annual basis. To discount future benefits, 
the company uses the projected unit credit 
method which projects future outlays on the 
basis of an historical/statistical analysis and 
demographic curve and discounts these flows 
at a market interest rate. Actuarial profits and 
losses are recognised through equity (to a 
valuation reserve) as required by IAS 19.

■■ Provisions for risks and charges, contingent assets  
and liabilities
Contingent assets and liabilities may 

be divided in different categories according 
to their nature and accounting implications. 
Specifically:

 › provisions are effective obligations of 
uncer tain amount and occurrence/
maturity arising from past events and for 
which it is likely that there will be an outlay 
of financial resources and a reliable 
estimate of the amount is possible;

 › contingent liabilities are potential 
obligations for which the likelihood of 
an outlay of financial resources is not 
remote;

 › remote liabilities are those for which the 
outlay of financial resources is not likely;

 › contingent assets are assets that do 

not meet the certainty requirement 

and cannot be recognised in financial 

statements;

 › the onerous contract is a contract in 

which the non-discretionary costs needed 

to fulfil the obligations taken are greater 

than the economic benefits that can be 

expected from the contract;

 › restructuring is a programme planned 

and controlled by corporate management 

that changes significantly the scope of 

an activity carried out by the company or 

the way in which the activity is managed.

For the purposes of the recognition of 

the charge, provisions are recognised when 

there is uncertainty on the maturity or 
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amount of the flow of resources needed to 
fulfil the obligation or of other liabilities and in 
particular trade payables or accruals.

Provisions differ from other liabilities 
because there is no certainty on the maturity 
or amount of the future expense required for 
their settlement. Given their different nature, 
provisions are shown separately from trade 
payables and accruals.

The recognition of a liability or provision 
takes place when:

 › there is a current legal or implicit 
obligation as a result of past events;

 › it is likely that resources suited to 
produce economic benefits will have to 
be used to fulfil the obligation;

 › a reliable estimate of the amount of the 
obligation can be obtained.

Provisions require the use of estimates. 
In extremely rare cases, when a reliable esti-
mate cannot be obtained, we have a liability 
that cannot be reliably calculated and there-
fore can be described as a contingent liability.

The allocation to the provisions for risks 
and charges is carried out for an amount 
that represents the best estimate of the 
expense needed to settle the corresponding 
obligation existing at the reporting date and 
takes into account the risk and uncertainty 
that inevitably surround many facts and 
circumstances.

The amount of the provision reflects the 
potential future events that may affect the 
amount required to settle an obligation if 
there is a sufficient objective evidence that 
these will take place.

After producing the best available 
estimate of the outlay needed to settle the 
corresponding obligation at the reporting 
date, the current value of the provision is 
calculated, in the case in which the effect 
of the current value of money is substantial.

The components deriving from the effects 
of the discounting are recognised in the same 
item used for the purposes of the provision of 
the contingent liabilities.

The process followed for the regular 
analysis of contingent liabilities is the same 
as the one already described for provisions.

■■ Payables
Trade payables and other payables are 

initially recognised at fair value and later 
according to the amortised cost method.

Payables to banks and other lenders are 
initially recognised at fair value, net of the 
accessory charges of direct recognition, and 
later are measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method. If there is a 
change in the estimate of the expected cash 
flows, the value of the liability is recalculated 
to reflect this change according to the current 
value of the new expected cash flows and 

the internal effective interest rate calculated 
initially.

Payables to banks and other lenders are 
classified as current liabilities, unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to postpone 
their payment for at least twelve months after 
the reference date.

Payables to banks and other lenders are 
derecognised at the time of their settlement 
and when the Group has transferred all risks 
and the charges related to the instrument.  
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■■ Revenue and costs
Revenue is the gross flows of economic 

benefits deriving from the execution of the 
ordinary activities of the company.

Revenue must be measured, that 
is, recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received or due, which, 
according to the definition of IFRS 13, is the 
price that would be received for the sale of 
an asset or would be paid for the transfer 
of a liability in a regular transaction between 
market operators at the valuation date.

Sale of products

Revenue deriving from the sale of 
products is recognised when all following 
conditions are met:

 › the company has transferred to the buyer 
the significant risks and benefits related 
to the ownership of the goods;

 › the company ceases to exercise the 
usual level of activity associated with the 
ownership as well as the effective control 
on the products sold;

 › the value of the revenue can be calculated 
reliably;

 › it is likely that the economic benefits 
deriving from the transaction will accrue 
to the company;

 › the costs incurred, or to be incurred, 
for the transaction may be reliably 
calculated.

The revenue is recognised in the time 
when it accrues or, in the case of sale of 
goods or products, when it is likely that the 
future benefits will be received and these 
benefits may be reliably quantified, which 
takes place at the time of the completion 
of the sale, unless the company has kept 
most of the risks and benefits related with 
the asset. 

The revenue and the costs that are 
related to the same transaction or to another 
event are recognised at the same time.

Provisions of services

The revenue deriving from the provision 
of services must be recognised according to 
the stage of completion of the transaction 
at the reporting date, if the amount may be 
reliably estimated, that is, when all following 
conditions are met:

 › the revenue amount can be reliably 
measured;

 › it is likely that the economic benefits 
deriving from the transaction will accrue 
to the company;

 › the stage of completion of the transaction 
at the reporting date can be reliably 
measured;

 › the costs incurred for the transaction and 
the costs to be incurred to complete it 
may be reliably calculated.

The revenue is recognised at the time 
when it accrues, that is, the time when 
the services are provided according to the 
contractual agreement with the counterparty.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the 
effective interest rate method.

Royalties

Royalties are commissions that are 
recognised to the counterparty against 
the acquisition of the right to use of a 
certain asset, usually intangible. They are 
recognised on an accrual basis, according 
to the substance of the corresponding 
agreement.
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Dividends

The recognition of dividends from equity 
investments in the trading portfolio and 
among financial assets available for sale 
is carried out at the time of their effective 
collection.

The recognition of the dividends 
from equity investments classified in the 
corresponding item is carried out, in general, 

at the time of their collection, unless the 

recipient ends the financial year between the 

date of the resolution of the Shareholders' 

Meeting and the coupon clipping date, in 

which case they are recognised at the time of 

the resolution of the Shareholders' Meeting.

Costs are recognised when they refer 

to goods and services bought or consumed 

during the year, or allocated in a straight line.

■■ Income tax
The taxes due for the current year, and 

those due for previous years, to the extent 
they were not paid, are recognised as 
liabilities. Current tax assets and liabilities, 
for the current year and previous years, 
must be calculated at the value that can be 
expected to be respectively recovered or paid 
to the tax authorities, applying the tax rates 
and the tax laws in force or substantially 
issued at the reporting date.

Deferred taxes can be divided in:

 › Deferred tax liabilities: these are the 
income tax amounts due in the future 
years for taxable temporary differences;

 › Deferred tax assets: these are the income 
tax amounts that may be recovered in 
future years for deductible temporary 
differences, carry forward of unused tax 
losses, and carry forward of unused tax 
credits.

To calculate the amount of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities, the tax rate is applied 
to the temporary differences identified, 
taxable or deductible, that is, to unused tax 
losses and unused tax credits.

At each reporting date, a new valuation 
is carried out both of the deferred tax assets 
not recognised and deferred tax assets 
recognised to verify the assumption of the 
possibility of recovery of the deferred tax 
assets. This assessment is carried out 

through the so-called probability test, which 
refers to the forecasts of the business plans.

For recognition purposes, the items 
recognised during consolidation that present, 
at the time of the recognition, homogeneous 
characteristics are offset in the consolidated 
Financial Statements.

The companies of the Group only offset 
temporary differences that, besides meeting 
the above requirements, refer to a certain 
cancellation period and the same year of 
cancellation. Therefore, in the years in 
which the deductible temporary differences 
are greater than the taxable temporary 
differences, the corresponding deferred tax 
assets are recognised among the deferred tax 
assets; on the contrary, in the years in which 
the taxable temporary differences are greater 
than the deductible temporary differences, 
the corresponding deferred tax liabilities are 
recognised as deferred tax liabilities.

The Group has adopted the so-called 
"National Consolidated Tax Convention", 
for corporate income tax (IRES) purposes, 
which allows groups of companies to offset 
their incomes, that is, to calculate a single 
taxable base corresponding to the sum 
of the taxable income of all companies of 
the Group, which are consolidated for the 
entire amount, independently from the 
share of equity investment attributable 
to the consolidating company. Under this 
option, the companies of the Group that 
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have joined the National Consolidated Tax 
Convention calculate their tax charge and the 
corresponding taxable income is transferred 
to the parent company (similarly in the case 
of tax losses accrued by the consolidated 
companies, in the presence of consolidated 
taxable income in the year or high probability 
of future taxable incomes).

 
In the financial statements of the 

consolidating company, then, the liability 
for its individual income taxes and for the 
individual income taxes of the subsidiaries 

that have joined the consolidated tax regime 
is recognised under "Current tax liabilities", 
net of the advances paid, or, if the latter are 
greater than the balance of current liabilities, 
the net balance is shown under "Current 
tax assets". To offset the items transferred 
by the subsidiaries, a liability (receivable) 
towards the subsidiaries is recorded, 
classified respectively under "Other current 
assets" and "Other current liabilities". The 
item "Income tax" includes the cost related 
to the taxable income of the consolidating 
company.

■■ Fair value disclosure
For assets and liabilities recognised 

in the statement of financial position, IFRS 
13 requires these values to be classified 
according to a hierarchy of levels, which 
reflects the significance of the inputs used 
in the calculation of fair value. Below we 
provide the classification of the fair value of 
the financial instruments according to the 
following hierarchical levels:

 › Level 1: fair value calculated with refer-
ence to quoted prices (unadjusted) on 
active markets for identical financial 
instruments. Therefore, in Level 1 priority 
is given to the calculation of the following 
elements: (a) the main market of the 
assets or liabilities or, in the absence of a 
main market, the most favourable market;  
(b) the possibility for the entity to carry 
out a transaction with assets or liabilities 

at the price of that market at the valuation 
date.

 › Level 2: fair value calculated with valu-
ation techniques based on observable 
variables on active markets. The inputs 
for this level include: (a) quoted prices 
for similar assets or liabilities in active 
markets; (b) quoted prices for identical 
or similar assets or liabilities in markets 
that are not active; (c) data other than 
observable quoted prices for the assets 
or liabilities, for example: interest rates 
and yield curves observable at intervals 
usually listed, implicit volatility, credit 
spreads, inputs supported by the mar-
ket.

 › Level 3: fair value calculated with valua-
tion techniques based on unobservable 
market variables.
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■■ IFRS and IFRIC accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations ratified by the European Union, the application 
of which is not yet compulsory and for which the Group had not 
chosen early adoption as at 31 December 2015
On 21 November 2013 the IASB published 

an amendment to IAS 19 "Defined Benefit 
Plans: Employee Contributions", which 
proposes to recognise the contributions 
(corresponding only to the service provided 
by the employee during the year) carried out 
by employees or third parties to the defined-
benefit schemes to decrease the service 
cost for the year in which this contribution 
is paid. The need for this proposal has 
come from the introduction of the new IAS 
19 (2011), where it is believed that these 
contributions are to be interpreted as part 
of a post-employment benefit, rather than of 
a short-term benefit and therefore that this 
contribution must be allocated on the years 
of service of the employee. The amendment 
applies to the years starting on or after 1 
February 2015.

On 12 December 2013, the document 
"Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2010-2012 
Cycle" was published: this has implemented 
amendments to some standards within their 
annual improvement process. The main 
amendments concern:

 › IFRS 2 Share Based Payments – Definition 
of vesting condition. Amendments were 
made to the definitions of "vesting 
condition" and "market condition" and 
the additional definitions of "performance 
condition" and "service condition" 
(previously included in the definition of 
"vesting condition") were added;

 › IFRS3 Business Combination – Accounting 
for contingent consideration.    
The amendment clarifies that variable price 
components (contingent consideration) 
within a business combination classified 
as a financial asset or liability (contrary 

to what provided for those classified as 
equity instruments) must be re-measured 
at fair value at the reporting date and 
the changes in fair value must be 
recognised in the income statement or in 
the statement of comprehensive income 
pursuant to IAS 39 (or IFRS 9);

 › IFRS 8 Operating segments – Aggregation 
of operating segments. The amendments 
require an entity to disclose the evaluations 
made by management in the application 
of business segment aggregation criteria, 
including a description of the aggregated 
business segments and the economic 
indicators considered in the calculation 
if these business segments have similar 
economic characteristics that make the 
aggregation possible;

 › IFRS 8 Operating segments – Recon-
ciliation of total of the reportable seg-
ments’ assets to the entity’s assets. The 
amendments clarify that the reconcilia-
tion between the total of the assets of 
the business segment and the total of 
the assets of the entity as a whole must 
be presented only if the total of the as-
sets of the business segment is regularly 
reviewed by the top decision-making level 
of the entity;

 › IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement – 
Short-term receivables and payables.  
The Basis for Conclusions of this 
standard were modified to clarify that with 
the issue of IFRS 13, and the resulting 
amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 9, there 
is still the option of recognising current 
trade receivables and payables without 
recognising the effects of a discount, if 
these effects are found to be not material;
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 › IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment and 
IAS 38 Intangible Assets – Revaluation 
method: proportionate restatement of 
accumulated depreciation/amortization. 
The amendments have removed the 
inconsistencies in the recognition of 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
charges when a tangible or intangible 
asset is revalued. The requirements 
specified by the amendments clarify 
that the gross carrying amount must be 
adjusted according to the revaluation of 
the carrying amount of the assets and 
that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation must be equal to the 
difference between the gross carrying 
amount and the carrying amount net of 
the recognised impairments;

 › IAS 24 Related Parties Disclosures – Key 
management personnel. This clarifies 
that in the case in which key management 
services are provided by an entity (and 
not natural person), this entity must be 
considered a related party.

The amendments apply in the years 
starting on 1 February 2015 or after.

On 6 May 2014 the IASB published an 
amendment to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 
– Accounting for acquisitions of interests in 
joint operations, on the recognition of the 
acquisition of interests in a joint operation, 
when its activity represents a business in the 
meaning specified by IFRS 3. The amendments 
require that in these cases the standards set 
by IFRS 3 for the recognition of the effects 
of a business combination are applied. The 
amendments apply from 1 January 2016 but 
early application is allowed.

 
On 30 June 2014 the IASB issued some 

amendments to IAS 16 Property, plant and 
equipment and IAS 41 Agriculture – Bearer 
Plants. The amendments require that 
bearer plants, that is, the plants producing 

annual crops (for example vines, hazelnut 
plants) must be recognised according to 
the requirements of IAS 16 (rather than IAS 
41). This means that these assets must be 
valued at cost rather than at fair value net of 
the costs of sale (the use of the revaluation 
method proposed by IAS 16 is however 
allowed). The changes proposed are limited 
to trees used to grow produce seasonally and 
not to be sold as living plants or else subject 
to harvesting as agricultural products. These 
trees will fall in the scope of IAS 16 also during 
the stage of biological ripening, i.e. until they 
are able to generate agricultural products. 
The amendments apply from 1 January 2016 
but early application is allowed.

On 12 May 2014 the IASB issued some 
amendments to IAS 16 Property, plant and 
Equipment and IAS 38 Intangibles Assets 
– "Clarification of acceptable methods 
of depreciation and amortisation". The 
amendments to IAS 16 specify that the 
criteria of amortisation/depreciation based 
on revenue are not appropriate: according 
to the amendment, the revenue generated 
by an asset that includes the use of the 
assets object of amortisation/depreciation 
usually reflect factors other than the simple 
consumption of the economic benefits of the 
assets itself, a requirement that is, instead, 
needed for amor tisation/depreciation. 
The amendments to IAS 38 introduce 
a corresponding assumption, according 
to which a revenue-based amortisation/
depreciation method is usually considered 
inappropriate for the same reasons specified 
by the amendments made to IAS 16. In the 
case of intangible assets this assumption 
does not apply, but this only in limited and 
specific circumstances.

The amendments apply from 1 January 
2016 but early application is allowed.

On 25 September 2014 the IASB published 
the document "Annual Improvements to 
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IFRSs: 2012-2014 Cycle". The amendments 
introduced by the document must be applied 
in the years beginning on 1 January 2016 or 
after. The document introduces amendments 
to the following standards:

 › IFRS 5 – Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations. The 
amendment to the standard introduces 
specific guidelines for the case in which 
an entity reclassifies an asset (or a 
disposal group) from the held-for-sale 
to the held-for-distribution category (or 
vice versa), or when the requirements to 
classify an asset as held for-distribution 
are no longer met. The amendments 
specify that (i) for these reclassifications 
the same classification and valuation 
criteria continue to apply; (ii) assets that 
no longer meet the classification criteria 
set for held-for-distribution assets should 
be treated in the same way as assets 
that are no longer classified as held-for-
sale;

 › IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclo-
sure. The amendments regulate the in-
troduction of additional guidelines to clar-
ify when a servicing contract represents 
a residual involvement in a transferred 
asset for the purposes of transferred as-
set disclosure. It is also clarified that 
information on the offsetting of financial 
assets and liabilities is not usually ex-
plicitly required for interim financial state-
ments, unless it is a significant piece of 
information;

 › IAS 19 – Employee Benefits. The 
document introduces amendments to 
IAS 19 to clarify that the high quality 
corporate bonds used to calculate the 
discount rate of the post-employment 
benefits should be in the same currency 
used for the payment of the benefits. The 
amendments specify that the high quality 
corporate bond market to be considered 
is defined at the currency level and not at 

the level of the country of the reporting 
entity;

 › IAS 34 – Interim Financial Reporting. The 
document introduces amendments to 
clarify the requirements to be met in the 
case in which the information required 
is presented in the interim financial 
report, but outside the interim financial 
statements. The amendment specifies 
that this information must be included 
through a cross-reference from the interim 
financial statements to other sections of 
the interim financial report and that this 
document must be made available to the 
readers of the financial statements in the 
same way and at the same time as the 
interim financial statements.

On 18 December 2014, IASB issued the 
amendment to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative. The 
objective of the amendments is to provide 
clarifications on elements of information 
that may be perceived as preventing a clear 
and understandable preparation of financial 
statements. The amendments made are the 
following:

 › Materiality and aggregation: it is clarified 
that an entity should not create confusion 
by aggregating or disaggregating 
information and that the comments 
on materiality apply to the financial 
statements’ tables, explanatory notes 
and specific information requirements 
made by IFRS. The document specifies 
that the disclosures required specifically 
by the IFRS must be provided only if the 
information is material; 

 › Statement of financial position and 
statement of comprehensive income: it 
is clarified that the list of items specified 
by IAS 1 for these statements can be 
disaggregated and aggregated according 
to the circumstances. A guideline is also 
provided on the use of subtotals in these 
statements;
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 › Presentation of the elements of Other 

Comprehensive Income ("OCI"): it 

is clarified that the share of OCI of 

associated companies and joint ventures 

measured with the equity method must 

be presented aggregated in a single item, 

to be then divided between components 

that may be reclassified to income 

statement in the future and those that 

will not be reclassified;

 › Explanatory notes: it is clarified that the 

entities have some flexibility in choosing 

the structure of the explanatory notes 

and guidelines are provided on how to 

order the notes, for example by giving 

more importance to those that are more 

relevant for the understanding of the fi-

nancial position (e.g. aggregating infor-

mation on specific assets), aggregating 

items measured with the same method 

(e.g. assets measured at fair value), fol-

lowing the order with which the items are 

presented in the statements.

The amendments introduced by the 
document must be applied in the years 
staring on 1 January 2016 or after.

On 12 August 2014 the IASB published 
the amendment to IAS 27 Equity Method 
in Separate Financial Statements. The 
document introduces the option to use 
the equity method to measure the equity 
investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled 
companies and associated companies in the 
separate financial statements of an entity. 
Therefore, as a result of the introduction 
of the amendment, an entity will be able to 
recognise these equity investments in its 
separate financial statements either at cost 
or according to the provisions of IFRS 9 (or 
IAS 39) or by using the equity method. The 
amendments apply from 1 January 2016 but 
early application is allowed.

The Directors do not expect the adoption 
of the amendments described in this 
section to affect the consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Group.

■■ IFRS accounting standards, amendments and interpretations 
not yet ratified by the European Union
At the reference date of these financial 

statements, the competent bodies of the 
European Union had not yet concluded the 
process of ratification needed for the adoption 
of the amendments and of the standards 
described blow.

 On 30 January 2014 the IASB 
published IFRS 14 – Regulatory Deferral 
Accounts, which allows only those adopting 
IFRS for the first time to continue to recognise 
the amounts referred to "Rate Regulation 
Activities" according to the previous 
accounting standards.

On 28 May 2014 the IASB published 
IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers, which will replace the standards 
IAS 18 – Revenue and IAS 11 – Construction 
Contracts, as well as the interpretations 
IFRIC 13 – Customer Loyalty Programmes, 
IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the Construction 
of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 – Transfers of Assets 
from Customers and SIC 31 – Revenues 
Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services. 

The standard establishes a new revenue 
recognition model, to be applied to all 
contracts with clients with the exception of 
those to which other IAS/IFRS standards 
apply, such as leases, insurance contracts 
and financial instruments. The key points for 
the recognition of the revenue according to 
the new model are:
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 › the identification of the contract with the 
client;

 › the identification of the performance 
obligations of the contract;

 › the calculation of the price;

 › the allocation of the price to the 
performance obligations of the contract;

 › the criteria of recognition of the revenue 
when the entity meets all performance 
obligations.

The standard applies from 1 January 
2018 but early application is allowed. The 
Directors expect that the application of IFRS 
15 to affect the amounts recognised as 
revenue and the corresponding information in 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Group. It is not possible however to provide 
a reasonable estimate of these effects until 
the Group completes a detailed analysis of 
its contracts with clients.

In 24 July 2014 the IASB published 
the final version of IFRS 9 – Financial 
instruments. The document gathers the 
results of the Classification and valuation, 
Impairment, and Hedge accounting stages of 
the IASB project aimed at the replacement of 
IAS 39. The new standard, which replaces the 
previous versions of IFRS 9, must be applied 
in the financial statements from 1 January 
2018 onwards.

The standard introduces new criteria for 
the classification and valuation of financial 
assets and liabilities.

Specifically, for financial assets the new 
standard uses a single approach, based on 
the way financial instruments are managed 
and the characteristics of their contractual 
cash flows, to establish the valuation 
method, replacing the different rules set by 
IAS 39. For financial liabilities, instead, the 
main amendment concerns the accounting 
treatment of the changes in fair value of 
financial liabilities classified as measured 

at the fair value through profit or loss, when 
these changes are due to a change in the 
creditworthiness of the issuer of the liability. 
According to the new standard these changes 
must be recognised as "Other comprehensive 
income" and no longer in the income 
statement. With regard to impairment, the new 
standard requires the estimate of the losses 
on receivables to be carried out according 
to the expected losses model (rather than 
the incurred losses model used by IAS 39), 
using justified information available without 
unreasonable charges or efforts, including 
historical, current and forecast data. The 
standard requires this impairment model to 
be applied to all financial instruments, that 
is, to financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, those measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, receivables 
deriving from lease contracts and trade 
receivables.

Lastly, the standard introduces a 
new hedge accounting model to adapt the 
requirements set by the current IAS 39 that 
sometimes appeared to be too strict and not 
suited to the risk management policies of 
companies. 

The main change made in the document 
concern the increase in the categories of 
transactions for which hedge accounting can 
be used including also the risks of non-financial 
assets/liabilities for which hedge accounting 
can be used, the change of the way in which 
forward contracts and options are recognised 
when they are included in a hedge accounting 
relationship to decrease the volatility of 
the income statement, the changes made 
to the effectiveness assessment through 
the replacement of the current approach 
based on the 80-125% parameter with the 
standard of the "economic relationship" 
between hedged item and hedge instrument; 
also, the assessment of the retrospective 
effectiveness of the hedging relationship will 
be no longer required. The greater flexibility 
of the new accounting rules is offset by a 
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request for additional information on the risk 
management activities of the company. The 
Directors expect the application of IFRS 9 to 
affect the amounts and the disclosures in 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Group. It is not possible however to provide a 
reasonable estimate of the effects until the 
Group has completed a detailed analysis.

On 13 January 2016 the IASB published 
IFRS 16 – Leases, which will replace IAS 17 – 
Leases, as well as the interpretations IFRIC 4 
Determining whether an Arrangement contains 
a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases—Incentives 
and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of 
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a 
Lease. The new standard provides a new 
definition of lease and introduce a method 
based on the control (right of use) of an asset 
to distinguish lease contracts from service 
contracts, identifying as discriminants: 
the identification of the asset, the right to 
replace it, the right to obtain substantially all 
economic benefits from the use of the asset 
and the right to direct the use of the asset 
underlying the contract. 

The standard provides a single model 
for the recognition and valuation of lease 
contracts by the lessee, requiring the 
recognition of the leased assets, both in a 
finance and an operating lease, as assets, 
offset by a financial debt, providing also 
the option of not recognising as leases the 
contracts having "low-value assets" as object 
and the leases for which the term does not 
exceed 12 months. The standard instead 
did not introduce significant amendments 
for lessors. The standard applies from 1 
January 2019; early application is allowed, 
but only by companies that have chosen 
early application of IFRS 15 - Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers. The Directors 
expect that the application of IFRS 16 could 
have a significant impact on the recognition 
of the lease contracts and the corresponding 
disclosures in the consolidated Financial 

Statements of the Group. It is not possible 
however to provide a reasonable estimate 
of the effects until the Group completes a 
detailed analysis of its lease contracts.

On 11 September 2014 the IASB 
published an amendment to IFRS 10 and 
IAS 28 Sales or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture. The document was published 
to resolve the current conflict between IAS 
28 and IFRS 10. According to the provisions 
of IAS 28, the profit or loss resulting from the 
sale or contribution of a non-monetary asset 
to a joint venture or associated company in 
exchange for a stake in the capital of the 
latter is limited to the share held in a joint 
venture or associated company by the other 
investors not involved in the transaction. IFRS 
10 instead provides for the recognition of 
the entire profit or loss in the case of loss of 
the control of a subsidiary, even if the entity 
continues to hold a non-controlling stake in 
the subsidiary, including in this case also the 
sale or contribution of a subsidiary to a joint 
venture or associated company. 

The amendment introduced specifies 
that in a sale/contribution of an asset or a 
subsidiary to a joint venture or associated 
company, the measure of the profit or loss 
to be recognised in the financial statements 
of the seller/contributor depends on whether 
the assets or subsidiary sold/contributed 
represent a business or not, in the meaning 
specified by IFRS 3. When the assets or 
the subsidiary sold/contributed represent 
a business, the entity must recognise the 
profit or loss on the entire stake previously 
held; otherwise, the share of profit or loss 
related to the stake still held by the entity 
must be derecognised. Currently the IASB 
has suspended the application of this 
amendment. The Directors do not expect the 
adoption of these amendments to have a 
significant effect in the consolidated Financial 
Statements of the Group.
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On 18 December 2014 the IASB published 
the document "Investment Entities: 
Applying the Consolidation Exception 
(Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and 
IAS 28)", which introduces amendments on 
issues identified as a result of the application 
of the consolidation exception granted to 
investment companies. The amendments 

introduced must be applied starting from 
the years starting 1 January 2016 or after; 
early adoption is at any rate allowed. The 
Directors do not expect the adoption of these 
amendments to have a significant effect in 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Group, as the company does not meet the 
definition of investment company.
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Assets

■■ Non-current assets

■■ 1. Tangible assets

Total tangible assets were € 30,220,000 (€ 33,646,000 in 2014), of which € 13,486,000 
represented goods acquired through financial leases.

Ownership share (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015  
on 2014

Gross value
Acc. 

depreciation Net value Gross value
Acc. 

depreciation Net value

Plant and equipment  93,644 (82,827)  10,817  92,178 (81,353)  10,825 (8)

Industrial and 
commercial equipment  7,074 (5,314)  1,760  6,539 (5,372)  1,167  593 

Land and buildings  932 (304)  981  1,010 (29)

Other assets  8,567 (6,219)  2,348  11,304 (8,588)  2,716 (368)

Work in progress and 
payments on account  828  707  121 

Total  110,217 (94,664)  16,734  110,021 (95,313)  16,425  309 

Leased goods share (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015  
on 2014

Gross value
Acc. 

depreciation Net value Gross value
Acc. 

depreciation Net value

Plants and equipment 
lease - Gross  31,219  31,219  23,578  23,578  7,641 

Plants and equipment 
lease - Acc. Depr. (17,733) (17,733) (6,357) (6,357) (11,376)

Total  31,219 (17,733)  13,486  23,578 (6,357)  17,221 (3,735)

Analysis of the items of the statement 
of financial position
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The table below shows the total of the minimum future payments due for the lease at the 
reporting date.

Minimum payments for operating leases (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Due by next year  4,995  7,284 

From 2th to 5th year  8,188  10,137 

After 5th year  -    -   

Total  13,183  17,421 

Changes in tangible assets (thousands of euros)

Gross value 31/12/2014
Translation 

Diff. Increases Decreases Reclass. 31/12/2015

Plants and equipment - Gross  92,178  -    3,295 (1,829)  -    93,644 

Plants and equipment lease 
- Gross  23,578  -    4,014  -    3,627  31,219 

Equipment - Gross  6,539 (36)  1,517 (1,062)  116  7,074 

Land  1,010  -    -    -   (657)  353 

Property - Gross  -    -    -    -    932  932 

Other assets - Gross  11,304 (8)  215 (145) (2,799)  8,567 

Work in progress and 
payments on account  707 (1)  122  -    -    828 

Total  135,316 (45)  9,163 (3,036)  1,219  142,617 

Ordinary accumulated depreciation 31/12/2014
Translation 

Diff. Increases Decreases Reclass. 31/12/2015

Plants and equipment - Acc. 
Depr. (81,353)  -   (3,303)  1,829  -   (82,827)

Plants and equipment lease - 
Acc. Depr. (6,357)  -   (7,749)  -   (3,627) (17,733)

Equipment - Acc. Depr. (5,372)  35 (720)  863 (120) (5,314)

Property - Acc. Depr.  -    -   (29)  -   (275) (304)

Other assets - Acc. Depr. (8,588)  8 (582)  140  2,803 (6,219)

Total (101,670)  43 (12,383)  2,832 (1,219) (112,397)

Total  33,646      30,220 

The changes in tangible assets represent new investments for technology infrastructure 
upgrades, which turned out to be below the depreciation charges applied, in particular for 
goods acquired with lease contracts.
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■■ 2. Intangible assets

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Changes 
2015  

on 2014

Gross value
Acc. 

amortisation Net value Gross value
Acc. 

amortisation Net value

Goodwill  28,084 (3,001)  25,083  29,626 (4,378)  25,248 (165)

Internally generated assets  233,923 (220,679)  13,244  221,636 (209,513)  12,123  1,121 

Software licences  102,303 (95,432)  6,871  99,438 (92,418)  7,020 (149)

Other intangible assets  254 (1,104) (850)  1,358 (2,351) (993)  143 

Other intangible assets  336,480 (317,215)  19,265  322,432 (304,282)  18,150  1,115 

Total  364,564 (320,216)  44,348  352,058 (308,660)  43,398  950 

Total goodwill was € 25,083,000 and resulted from the acquisitions of Emmecom, SIA 
Central Europe, SiNSYS, and RA Computer. 

Changes in intangible assets (thousands of euros)

Gross value 31/12/2014
Translation 

Diff. Increases Decreases Reclass. 31/12/2015

Goodwill  29,626  -    -    -   (1,542)  28,084 

Internally generated assets  221,636  -    7,855 (394)  4,826  233,923 

Software licences  99,438 (1,284)  3,997 (21)  173  102,303 

Other intangible assets  1,358  -    1  -   (1,105)  254 

Total  352,058 (1,284)  11,853 (415)  2,352  364,564 

(thousands of euros)

Ordinary accumulated amortisation 31/12/2014
Translation 

Diff. Increases Decreases Reclass. 31/12/2015

Goodwill (4,378)  -   (165)  -    1,542 (3,001)

Internally generated assets (209,513)  -   (6,748)  -   (4,418) (220,679)

Software licences (92,418)  738 (3,602)  22 (173) (95,432)

Other intangible assets (2,351)  -   (101)  -    1,348 (1,104)

Total (308,660)  738 (10,616)  22 (1,701) (320,216)
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Summary changes in tangible and intangible assets

Changes in tangible assets (thousands of euros)

Net value 31/12/2014 Mergers
Translation 

Diff. Increases Decreases Depreciation Reclass. 31/12/2015

Plants and equipment  28,046  -    -    7,309  -   (11,052)  -    24,303 

Industrial and commercial 
equipment  1,167  -   (1)  1,517 (199) (720) (4)  1,760 

Land and buildings  1,010  -    -    -    -   (29)  -    981 

Other assets  2,716  -    -    215 (5) (582)  4  2,348 

Work in progress and 
payments on account  707  -   (1)  122  -    -    828 

Total  33,646  -   (2)  9,163 (204) (12,383)  -    30,220 

Changes in intangible assets (thousands of euros)

Net value 31/12/2014 Mergers
Translation 

Diff. Increases Decreases Amortisation Reclass. 31/12/2015

Goodwill  25,248  -    -    -    -   (165)  -    25,083 

Internally generated assets  12,123  -    -    7,855 (394) (6,748)  408  13,244 

Software licences  7,020  1 (546)  3,997  1 (3,602)  -    6,871 

Other intangible assets (993)  -    -    1  -   (101)  243 (850)

Total  43,398  1 (546)  11,853 (393) (10,616)  651  44,348 

No impairment losses for tangible and intangible assets were recognised during the year. 
There were also no restrictions on the entitlement and ownership of assets used as collateral 
for liabilities.

Tangible and intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and later depreciated/
amortised according to their residual useful life (with the exception of goodwill). We believe that 
their net carrying amount provides a good approximation of fair value.

Impairment tests of goodwill and equity investments

During the preparation of the separate Financial Statements of SIA and the consolidated 
Financial Statements of the SIA Group, an external consultant was appointed to carry out an 
impairment test on the equity investments held by the company.

The results of the impairment tests contained in the report prepared by the external 
consultant, approved on 26 February 2016 by the Board of Directors, are provided below.

Purposes and object of impairment test
The impairment test was carried out on the following equity investments:

 › SIA Central Europe Zrt, 100% holding
 › TSP srl, 100% holding
 › Perago FSE Ltd., 100% holding
 › Emmecom s.r.l., 51% holding

For the purposes of the estimate of the "recoverable amount", reference was made to the 
concept of "value in use".
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The estimate of the value in use is based on the forecasts of the cash flows from the equity 
investments in question prepared by management from SIA's point of view.

Reference data and documentation
The reference date of the estimate is 31 December 2015: the estimate is then based 

on 2015 draft financial statement data and income and cash flow projections for the period 
2016-2018 provided by the Management of the investee companies, previously approved by 
the respective Boards of Directors. The market information is the information available at the 
reference date of the estimate.

Valuation criteria and rules applied
For impairment testing purposes, the equity investments, understood as legal entities, 

and the corresponding goodwill, coincide with the CGU used in the separate and consolidated 
financial statements, while the goodwill recognised in the consolidated Financial Statements 
related to companies that in previous years were merged by incorporation in SIA were object 
of impairment test considering as CGU SIA as a whole, since the strong degree of integration 
of company activities prevents the identification of a CGU at a lower level. The values in 
use resulting from the impairment were then compared with the carrying value of the equity 
investments and goodwill recognised in the separate and consolidated Financial Statements.

Pursuant to IAS 36, the external consultant appointed by the company used as reference 
for the estimate of the value in use the unlevered financial method, applied in an "asset side" 
approach.    

For foreign investee companies, the value in use is calculated starting from the cash flows 
expressed in local currency, discounted according to a discount rate representative of the risks 
related to this currency and then converted in euro at the spot exchange rate at the estimate 
reference date.

The discount rate used for the valuations is equal to the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC), which weights the cost of own capital and financial debt, calculated as nominal, 
after-tax rate. The analysis also made use of a parameter associated with the execution risks 
incorporated in the plans, the so-called "specific risk premium", differentiated for each individual 
company and reported in the analysis of the results of the individual equity investments.

Results

SIA CENTRAL EUROPE

The plan seems challenging, but the EBITDA margin is consistent with historical data.

Key parameters
The risk-free rate is differentiated between analytical and terminal period to reflect a 

plausible assumption of Hungarian risk-free rates increasing over time from current levels.
The execution premium is set at 4%.
The long-term growth rate "g" is estimated in two stages: for the first stage (5 years) it is 

equal to the average of the GDP growth rates in Hungary (5.1%) and in the euro area (3%); for 
the second stage it is equal to the long-term expected inflation rate in Hungary (3%).

The resulting WACC is equal to 12.9% in the plan period and 15.2% on the terminal value.
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Summary of results
The value of SIA-CE goodwill in the consolidated Financial Statements is equal to € 9.9 

million.
The impairment test carried out in application of the methodology described above shows 

that the recoverable amount of the equity investment (converted in euros at the exchange rate 
of 31 December 2015) is greater than the carrying amount of the goodwill and therefore there 
is no need to carry out a write-down.

The consultant appointed by the company also carried out a stress test to verify the 
sensitivity of the value of goodwill to separate and joint changes in the discount rate of the 
terminal cash flow (up to +1.0%) and the terminal EBITDA flow (up to -10.0%). Although these 
assumptions seem very restrictive, the stress test confirms the robustness of the carrying 
amount of goodwill, as the value in use has always been found to be greater.

EMMECOM

Since becoming part of the Group, the company has always reported profits, even if these 
have remained below budget forecasts, mainly due to delays in the development of the so-
called "new business". The 2016-2018 plan, approved by the competent bodies, contains 
forecasts objectively very challenging, which have induced the external consultant, also on the 
basis of the substantial discrepancy between medium-term plan objectives and historical data, 
to carry out a prudential adjustment of plan forecasts for the purposes of the application of 
the DCF method.

Key parameters
The risk-free rate is differentiated between analytical and terminal period to reflect a 

plausible assumption of Italian risk-free rates increasing over time from current levels.
The execution premium is set at 2%, lower than that applied to the other companies, given 

the prudential adjustment already made to the plan forecasts.
The growth rate "g" is estimated as the long-term average of the expected Italian inflation 

rates (2016-2020 time horizon) and is equal to 1.2%.
The resulting WACC is equal to 8.7% in the plan period and 11.2% on the terminal value.

Summary of results
The value of goodwill in the consolidated Financial Statements is equal to € 3.3 million.
The impairment test carried out in application of the methodology described above shows 

that the recoverable amount of the equity investment is greater than the carrying amount of the 
goodwill and therefore there is no need to carry out a write-down.

The consultant appointed by the company has also carried out a stress test to verify the 
robustness of the value of goodwill to separate and joint changes of the discount rate of the 
terminal cash flow (up to +1.0%) and the terminal EBITDA flow (up to -10.0%). The sensitivity 
analysis has substantially confirmed the robustness of the goodwill amount, as the value in use 
has always been found to be greater.

Goodwill related to RA Computer and SiNSYS (companies merged by incorporation 
into SIA)

An impairment test was carried out on the goodwill recognised in the consolidated Financial 
Statements for the companies previously incorporated into SIA, with a carrying value equal to 
€ 8 million; as previously described, SIA as a whole was taken as the CGU. 
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For the purposes of the impairment test, we used the fairness opinion requested from an 
external consultant and approved by the Board of Directors on 25 June 2015, as part of the 
capital increase reserved to the executives of the SIA Group. The valuation was carried out on 
the basis of the 2015-2017 business plan of the SIA Group, already approved by the Board 
of Directors on 31 October 2014. The risk-free rate was set equal to the average of the daily 
returns, before taxes, recorded in the year to 30 April 2015 by the securities of the Italian 
public sector debt with residual maturity equal to 10 years, adjusted to bring the rate in line 
with the historical average over a long time period. The execution premium was set at 5%. The 
growth rate "g" was estimated as the long-term average of the expected Italian inflation rates 
(2015-2020 time horizon) and was equal to 1.3%.

The resulting WACC was equal to 8.86%.
The company did not believe necessary to execute another impairment test, given the 

short period elapsed since the previous assessment and in the absence of external and/or 
internal indications of impairment.

At the end of these activities, no impairment was identified for the goodwill recognised in 
the consolidated Financial Statements, since the value of the CGU SIA as a whole was found 
to be much higher.

The consultant appointed by the company also carried out an analysis to verify the 
sensitivity of the value of the CGU to separate and joint changes of the discount rate of the 
terminal cash flow (up to ±0.50%) and the terminal EBITDA flow (up to ±5.00%). The sensitivity 
analysis has substantially confirmed the robustness of the goodwill amount, since the value in 
use is always found to be considerably higher.

■■ 3. Equity investments

The net carrying amount of the equity investments was € 758,000, unchanged with respect 
to the previous year.

Equity investments in non-consolidated companies can be summarised as follows:

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Associated  758  758  - 

Total  758  758  - 

The amounts are attributable for € 721,000 to ATS and for € 37,000 to Trustlink.
In 2014 Trustlink reported a loss of ZAR 2,814,904, corresponding to approximately 

€ 200,000. The percentage held by SIA as at 31 December 2014 was 27.4% and fell to 
16.57% as at 31 December 2015.

In 2014, ATS had reported a profit of approximately € 40,000. The share attributable to SIA 
in 2015 is equal to 30%, unchanged with respect to the previous year.
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■■ 4. Non-current financial assets

Non-current financial assets were € 15,000 and represent the carrying value of the holding 
of SIA S.p.A. in Banca Etica, previously held by RA Computer.

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Financial assets available for sale  15  16 (1)

Total  15  16 (1)

 

■■ 5. Contract work

There is currently no contract work in progress under multi-year contracts.

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Contract work  -  317 (317)

Total  -  317 (317)

 

■■ 6. Non-current trade receivables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Due from customers  6  11 (5)

Total  6  11 (5)

■■ 7. Other non-current assets

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Improvements third party assets  423  812 (389)

Advances on fixed assets  -    651 (651)

Total  423  1,463 (1,040)

■■ 8. Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets reached € 7,838,000, from € 7,543,000 as at 31 December 2014.
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■■ Current assets

■■ 9. Inventories

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Inventories of finished goods, work in progress  
and raw materials  117  251 (134)

Contract work - share within year  1,912  3,459 (1,547)

Total  2,029  3,710 (1,681)

Contract work in progress refers to project activities.

■■ 10. Current financial assets

Current financial assets were € 471,000, against € 143,000 as at 31 December 2014.

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Assets held for trading  353  -  353 

Assets held to maturity  118  143 (25)

Total  471  143  328 

Assets held for trading represent the value of the call option granted and sold by the 
executives of SIA and its Belgian branch, during the reserved capital increase resolved by the 
Shareholders' Meeting on 23 July 2015. The recognised value was calculated as € 0.25 for 
each of the 1,410,253 call options.

The main features of the call option were the following: 

 › it is offered with newly-issued shares, with a 1:1 ratio;

 › it gives a right (and not an obligation) to the company to buy back the shares issued to the 
executives, within a certain period of time and under certain circumstances;

 › it lasts at most three years from the time the shares were subscribed (mid-2015);

 › it is an American option, that is, it may be exercised at any time during the period 
in question; it is however "conditional", in the sense that it may be exercised, at the 
discretion of the company, only if the employment contract of the executive (beneficiary of 
the shares) is terminated;
the strike price is equal to the share issue price.

An external consultant was appointed to estimate the fair value of said call option at the 
end of 2015.

The purchase option presents the characteristics of a derivative financial instrument.
In theory and in practice, the value of options is usually calculated with the Black, Scholes, 

Merton model ("B&S model"), which gives the current value of an option based on the expected 
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performance of the value of the underlying asset, in a continuous time interval.

The full value of the option calculated according to this methodology was weighted by the 

consultant by the probability associated with the occurring of the event represented by the 

termination of the employment for any reason.

The analysis has provided a wide range for the weighted value of the option, then verified 

with a sensitivity analysis: the carrying value of the option falls inside this range. In the light of 

the comments made above, the carrying amount at the reference date was confirmed.

■■ 11. Current tax assets

Current tax assets were € 5,608,000 (€ 3,582,000 as at 31 December 2014), mainly 

referred to the IRES refund claim presented in 2013, for the non-deductibility of IRAP on 

personnel and similar costs for the years 2007-2011, as well as the IRAP credit accrued to the 

parent company equal to € 2,446,000 net of the payables accrued in the year.

 
(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Tax credits previous years  3,162  3,582 (420)

IRAP  2,446  -    2,446 

Total  5,608  3,582  2,026 

■■ 12. Current due from customers

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Receivables for invoices issued  75,972  105,013 (29,041)

Receivables for invoices issued - current  77,236  106,165 (28,929)

Due from customers  reserve - current (1,264) (1,152) (112)

Receivables for invoices to be issued  54,278  11,466  42,812 

Receivables for invoices to be issued  54,278  11,466  42,812 

Total  130,250  116,479  13,771 

During the year SIA has gradually aligned the date of issue and delivery to the clients of 

the invoices to the invoice date. This practice, besides increasing transparency towards clients, 

aligning the company to the best international practice, has only a marginal impact on the 

actual collection times. The application of this method to assign the invoice date, implies that 

at the end of each month, and then also at the end of the year, the issue and the delivery of the 

invoice, and then also the invoice date, takes place a few days after the end of the month of 

accrual, when the transactions invoiced were recognised by the accounting systems, resulting 

then in a high number and value of invoices to be issued, with a decrease in receivables for 

invoices issued.

Given the short-term nature of trade receivables, the Group believes that their carrying 

values, net of any bad debt provision, are a good approximation of fair values.
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Changes in bad debt provision (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Opening (1,152)  -   (1,152)

Increases (187)  -   (187)

Decreases  75  -    75 

Exchange rate differences and other changes  -   (1,152)  1,152 

Changes due to the passing of time (1,264) (1,152) (112)

The increase in accounts receivable is partly due to the positive trend of the revenue 
and provisions of Group services and partly to project activities that provide for invoicing on 
completion, to be activated only at the time of the delivery to the client of project components 
specified in the contracts.

We provide below a breakdown of trade receivables by past-due time.

Receivables by past-due time (thousands of euros)

from 0  
to 90 days

from 90  
to 180 days > 180 days Total

Group  8,282  3,132  5,273  16,687 

Total  8,282  3,132  5,273  16,687 

We carried out a detailed analysis of individual positions, which led to an adjustment of the 
provision for bad debts to make it consistent with the risks recognised, in agreement with the 
internal policies of the Group.

■■ 13. Other current assets

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Guarantee deposits  129  114  15 

Advances to suppliers  254  150  104 

Due from employees  76  76  -   

Other assets  3,928  3,147  781 

Tax receivables  584  934 (350)

Prepayments and accrued income  13,812  14,416 (604)

Total  18,783  18,837 (54)
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■■ 14. Cash and cash equivalents

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Cash  12  14 (2)

Current account and bank deposits  123,118  94,041  29,077 

Total  123,130  94,055  29,075 

The increase in cash and cash equivalents is a direct consequence of the profits from the 
ordinary operations of the Group. 
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Liabilities and Shareholders' equity

■■ Liabilities and Shareholders' equity

■■ 15. Shareholders' equity

Share capital

The share capital of SIA S.p.A. was € 22,275,000, divided into 171,343,227 ordinary 
shares, each with a nominal value of € 0.13.

The increase in the share capital reflects the issue of 1,410,253 shares, with a nominal 
value of € 0.13 per share, reserved to the executives of SIA and its Belgian branch. The sale 
of the shares, which took place at market conditions, as calculated by a special expert report, 
resulted in a share issue premium of € 5,317,000. 

Reserves

Reserves were € 126,182,000 (€ 96,103,000 as at 31 December 2014).

Valuation reserve

Valuation reserves were € 1,552,000 (€ 2,868,000 as at 31 December 2014).

Reconciliation between SIA shareholders' equity and net income and consolidated 
Group shareholders' equity and net income pertaining to the Group 
(thousands of euros)

Shareholders' 
equity Net income

SIA Spa  214,660  73,005 

Shareholders' equity and net income of consolidated companies  15,086  3,723 

Shareholders' equity and net income of consolidated companies 
pertaining to third parties (734) (246)

Elimination of carrying value of equity investments (27,205)  -   

Reversal of dividends  -   (6,800)

Other consolidation adjustments  20,233  136 

SIA Group  222,040  69,818 
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■■ Non-current liabilities

■■ 16. Non-current financial payables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Non-current bank payables  1,733  1,014  719 

Other non-current financial payables  8,188  10,137 (1,949)

Total  9,921  11,151 (1,230)

Other non-current financial payables include the payables component with maturity greater 
than twelve months, which is related to financial leases for the acquisition of the technology 
infrastructure. The amount fell during the year, as the instalments paid were greater than the 
new contracts concluded.

■■ 17. Provisions for personnel

(thousands of euros)

Employee severance indemnity fund

Opening balance 21,606

Increases  

Provisions  4,687 

Decreases  

Payments carried out (5,502)

Other changes (1,888)

Final balances 18,903

The values of personnel provisions were assessed by an actuary and the actuarial 
assumptions were described in the Notes to the separate financial statements. The value of 
the employee severance indemnity was calculated with actuarial methods. The financial and 
demographic assumptions were described in the Notes to the separate financial statements.

■■ 18. Deferred tax liabilities

These were € 309,000 (€ 399,000 as at 31 December 2014).
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■■ 19. Provisions for risks and charges

(thousands of euros)

Charges for 
personnel Tax disputes Other provisions Total

Opening balance  837  458 973  2,268 

Increases     

Provisions for the year  1,160  -  74  1,234 

Other changes  -    -    - - 

Decreases     

Use during the year (837)  - (356) (1,193)

Other changes -  -    -   (941)

Final balances  1,160  458  691  2,309 

 

The changes in the balance of the provisions for personnel charges result from new 
provisions and disbursements carried out during the year. The item Other provisions refers 
to the seniority payments to be recognised to the employees on the basis of the company 
complementary agreement. These values were adjusted according to the payments carried out 
during the year and the actuarial estimates carried out by the experts appointed.

The recognised amount related to the current disputes with the Revenue Office pertaining 
to the tax years 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009, substantially covers the estimate of legal fees 
which may be incurred for the protection of the company's rights. It should be noted that some 
disputes are still pending with the Revenue Office. One dispute concerns the services provided 
by the company SINSYS, subsequently merged into SIA, toward SIA itself which, according 
to the interpretation by the Revenue Office, should have been subject to VAT from the Italian 
organisation rather than from the parent company, although the VAT relating to the amounts 
agreed for said services had already been paid by SIA through the issuance of the so-called 
"self-invoicing". Another dispute concerns the transfer prices used by SiNSYS to calculate the 
revenue between the Belgian parent company and the Italian and Dutch subsidiaries: although 
the method chosen by the company (i.e. the so-called "profit split", as per the OECD guidelines) 
was acceptable, the criteria used by the company to allocate the costs among the three offices 
was disputed.

On 1 December 2015, the hearing of the disputes concerning the tax audits for 2007 and 
2008 for the cases above described was carried out in front of Section 1 of the Provincial Tax 
Commission of Milan. On 14 January 2016 the lower court issued a ruling, upholding in its 
entirety the appeals filed by the company.

Encouraged by the ruling of the lower court, even if an appeal by the Revenue Office cannot 
be ruled out, the company, together with its tax and legal advisers, continues to believe the 
criticism to be unfounded and the sanctions not applicable.

A third dispute concerns the depreciation rates applied to the installations used for the 
provision of business services that the Revenue Office has deemed to be too high by comparing 
the installations to simple electrical systems; also in this case, the company believes that it 
can demonstrate the rapidity of technological obsolescence of the installations and therefore 
the appropriateness of the rates applied. 

On 24 November 2015, the disputes concerning the tax audits were (jointly) discussed at 
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the hearing in front of Section 25 of the Provincial Tax Commission of Milan. We are waiting for 
the judges of first degree to file the corresponding judgements.

The company believes that there are no reasons justifying an adjustment of the provision 
for risks, which currently includes the estimate legal expenses.

■■ 20. Other non-current liabilities

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Other non-current liabilities  5,659  -    5,659 

Total  5,659  -    5,659 

Non-current liabilities were € 5,659,000 and refer to the amounts set aside for the long-term 
management incentive plan, for the vested share that will be disbursed in 2018 if, as currently 
confirmed by the three-year plan approved by the Board of Directors, the targets will be reached at 
the end of 2017. The corresponding item for 2014 was classified among other current liabilities 
since it can be disbursed within 12 months.

■■ Current liabilities 

■■ 21. Current financial payables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Current bank debt  26  1  25 

Other current financial payables  4,996  7,605 (2,609)

Total  5,022  7,606 (2,584)

Current bank payables refer to the execution of a factoring agreement signed by the 
subsidiary Emmecom.

Other current financial payables represent the short-term component (maturity of less 
than 12 months) of the amounts due to leasing companies for the acquisition of technology 
infrastructure. This amount fell during the year as the instalments paid were not "replaced" by 
new contracts of equal value.

■■ 22. Current tax liabilities

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

IRES  5,837  1,859  3,978 

IRAP  26  -    26 

Total  5,863  1,859  4,004 
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Current tax liabilities were € 5,863,000 (€ 1,859,000 as at 31 December 2014) and refer 
to the differential between the total tax for the year and the advances paid. 

■■ 23. Current trade payables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Payables to suppliers - current  39,982  38,221  1,761 

Trade payables to associated companies - current  1,433  1,436 (3)

Total  41,415  39,657  1,758 

Given the short-term nature of trade payables, SIA believes that their carrying values are a 
good approximation of fair values.

■■ 24. Other current liabilities

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Client advances  2,258  5,614 (3,356)

Social security payables  16,296  17,974 (1,678)

Due to Directors and Statutory Auditors  533  628 (95)

Due to employees  15,532  19,594 (4,062)

Accrued expenses and deferred income  3,905  2,043  1,862 

Tax payables  4,699  7,040 (2,341)

Other liabilities  8,481  4,942  3,539 

Total  51,704  57,835 (6,131)

Payables to employees mainly refer to the variable compensation component (MBO) of 
the management of the Group, as well as to the company bonus (VAP), agreed with the trade 
unions and granted to all SIA employees and executives according to the results achieved. The 
decrease from the previous year mainly reflects the payment of the 2014 Long Term Incentive, 
carried out at the end of 2015.

The increase in other liabilities is mainly due to higher amounts set aside for credit lines 
to be issued to clients.

The decrease of the advances from clients is due to lower project activities.
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Analysis of the items of the income 
statement

■■ 25. Revenues from sales and services

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Services  449,409  426,295  23,114 

Total  449,409  426,295  23,114 

Breakdown revenue by business segment (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Cards  222,237  210,252  11,985 

Payments  112,403  108,628  3,775 

Institutional Services  114,769  107,415  7,354 

Total  449,409  426,295  23,114 

Revenue increased by approximately 5%. The main factors for this increase were:

Cards: higher revenue from debit and credit card services, in particular fraud management, 
from fuel vouchers and third party project activities, as well as revenue from Fast Bank and Self 
Service. The item also includes the revenue of the subsidiary Emmecom for the services of 
transaction collection and the higher revenue for the top-up services offered by TSP.

Payments: higher revenue from increased project activities for Jiffy and Gateway services 
were partly offset by lower revenue from Payment, Anti-Money Laundering and Document 
Management services.

Institutional Services: the higher revenue derives mainly from project activities, as well as 
from T2S and Globe Settlement services. This higher revenue is partly offset by the lower one-
off revenue for EBA services, related to the migration of the German community, which took 
place in 2014.
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■■ 26. Other revenues and income

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Other revenue  558  537  21 

Contingent assets  2,157  3,891 (1,734)

Capital gains  54  22  32 

Total  2,769  4,450 (1,681)

■■ 27. Changes in inventories for third parties

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Third party inv. (2,118) (831)  1,287 

Internal capex on 3rd party projects  136  -   (136)

External capex on 3rd party projects  55  -   (55)

Value finished 3rd party projects  417  2,045  1,628 

Total (1,510)  1,214  2,724 

■■ 28. Costs for raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Commodities and products (37,160) (29,473)  7,687 

Total (37,160) (29,473)  7,687 

The increase mainly refers to higher purchases of telephone top-ups held for resale, by the 
subsidiary TSP, for a main operator of the sector.

■■ 29. Service costs

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Rental (28,365) (25,595)  2,770 

Maintenance (13,815) (13,934) (119)

Lines (19,231) (20,902) (1,671)

Outsourcing (10,000) (10,645) (645)

Property management (10,763) (11,013) (250)

Consulting (40,366) (36,624)  3,742 

Royalties (7,834) (5,246)  2,588 

General expenses (7,949) (7,051)  898 

Insurance (867) (951) (84)

Total (139,190) (131,961)  7,229 
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The main changes with respect to last year were as follows:
Rental: higher costs referred to the contract with an operator for greater use of MIPS 

mainframe and full activation of the active-active hardware architecture to provide the e-money 
services simultaneously from two sites, reducing restarting times in the case of breakdown.

Lines: lower costs as a result of the renewal of the contract with the main supplier at a 
lower rate.

Consulting: higher costs deriving mainly from the development of new services, besides 
non-recurring project activities.

Royalties: the higher costs refer to higher outlays towards the international credit card 
management circuits, which have generated a corresponding increase in revenue for processing 
services.

General expenses: higher costs for external relations activities and car rentals.

The fees for auditing activities carried out on the separate and consolidated financial 
statements and the assessments of regular corporate bookkeeping, including tax return 
certifications, paid to Deloitte & Touche S.p.A by the parent company during the year, were 
€ 210,000. Each subsidiary bore the costs accrued for auditing activities carried out on their 
financial statements and for accounting control activities.

■■ 30. Personnel costs

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Wages and salaries (91,651) (86,228)  5,423 

Social security costs (23,380) (22,719)  661 

Employee severance indemnity (4,687) (5,001) (314)

Payments to pension funds (2,583) (2,443)  140 

Restructuring costs (2,590) (2,713) (123)

Other costs (6,870) (10,435) (3,565)

Travel expenses (2,681) (2,271)  410 

Other collaborators (570)  -    570 

Directors and Statutory Auditors (1,774) (1,985) (211)

Directors (1,555) (1,670) (115)

Statutory Auditors (219) (315) (96)
 -   

Capitalised internal personnel costs  3,418  1,856 (1,562)

Total (133,368) (131,939)  1,429 

The increase in the cost of wages and salaries and accessory charges is mainly due to the 
increase in the average number of employees (+4.5%). 
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The following tables show the number of the employees of the Group by category, on 
average and as at 31 December 2015.

31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Employees (year-end) Employees Executives Employees Executives Total Total

SIA  1,442  34  1,100  31  1,476  1,131 

TSP  13  -    40  2  13  42 

PI4PAY  4  -    4  -    4  4 

EMMECOM  11  -    11  -    11  11 

RA COMPUTER  -    -    250  8  -    258 

SIA CENTRAL EUROPE  50  -    48  -    50  48 

PERAGO FSE  58  -    41  -    58  41 

Total  1,578  34  1,494  41  1,612  1,535 

31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Employees (average) Employees Executives Employees Executives Total Total

SIA  1,420  34  1,087  31  1,454  1,118 

TSP  12  -    40  2  12  42 

PI4PAY  4  -    3  -    4  3 

EMMECOM  11  -    12  -    11  12 

RA COMPUTER  -    -    246  8  -    254 

SIA CENTRAL EUROPE  48  -    45  -    48  45 

PERAGO FSE  54  -    41  -    54  41 

Total  1,549  34  1,474  41  1,583  1,515 

■■ 31. Other operating costs

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

VAT (12,503) (12,789) (286)

Tax charges (424) (305)  119 

Capital losses (19) (406) (387)

Other charges (4,108) (3,248)  860 

Total (17,054) (16,748)  306 

The costs for non-deductible VAT were slightly lower during the year for effect of events of 
opposite sign, including:

 › the incorporation of RA Computer and TSP "Gateway" business unit into SIA has decreased 
the non-deductible percentage from 43% to 38%;

 › recognition by SIA of higher service costs subject to VAT for the same event;

 › Other charges include depreciation on the improvements on third party goods.
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■■ 32. Amortisation/Depreciation

(thousands of euros)

Depreciation
Value adjustments  

for impairment Net income

Tangible owned assets (4,634) (175) (4,809)

Tangible assets acquired in finance lease (7,749) (7,749)

Total (12,383) (175) (12,558)

(thousands of euros)

Amortisation
Value adjustments  

for impairment Net income

Intangible owned assets (10,616)  -   (10,616)

Total (10,616)  -   (10,616)

Total amortisation/depreciation (22,999) (175) (23,174)

■■ 33. Adjustments trade receivables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Adjustments trade receivables (187) (75)  112 

Total (187) (75)  112 

■■ 34. Allocation to provision for risks

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Allocation to provision for risks (79) (37)  42 

Total (79) (37)  42 

 

■■ 35. Financial income

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Interest income  833  1,819 (986)

Total  833  1,819 (986)

 
Despite average liquidity in 2015 greater than in 2014, interest income was considerably 

lower, due to the decrease in the rates of return, which were close to zero in the last part of 
the year.
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■■ 36. Financial charges

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Interest Paid (346) (407) (61)

Bank charges (320) (156)  164 

Total (666) (563)  103 

 
The increase in bank charges is mainly due to the higher number of guarantees issued and 

the higher bank commissions incurred in particular by Emmecom.
The interest paid mainly refers to the lease contracts of tangible assets.

■■ 37. Income tax

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Current taxes (31,644) (29,620)  2,024 

Previous years' taxes  60  100  40 

Deferred tax assets  932 (3,697) (4,629)

Deferred tax liabilities  93  -   (93)

Total (30,559) (33,217) (2,658)

Current taxes increased as a result of higher profits, despite the tax benefits from the 
deductibility of personnel expenses from the IRAP tax base.
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The table below provides a breakdown of the assets and liabilities measured at fair value, 
by fair value hierarchy levels.

For the definition of the levels, the Group refer to the hierarchy specified by IFRS 13, 
according to which the inputs of the valuation techniques adopted is allocated to one of three 
levels:

 › level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, 
available to the company at the valuation date;

 › level 2:  inputs other than the quoted prices included in the level 1, directly or indirectly 
observable for the asset or liability;

 › level 3:  unobservable input data for the asset or liability. 

(thousands of euros)

Carrying amount L1 L2 L3

Non-current financial assets

Financial asset available for sale  15  X 

Current financial assets

Assets held for trading  353  X 

Assets held to maturity  118  X 

Total  486 

Given the short-term nature of trade receivables and payables, the Group believes that 
their carrying values, net of any bad debt provision, are a good approximation of fair values.

(thousands of euros)

2015

Initial value  159 

Purchases/capital increases  353 

Sales/settlements (25)

Adjustment at fair value to shareholders' equity  - 

Other changes (1)

Final value  486 

The increase for the year corresponds to the value of the call option granted and sold by 
the executives of SIA and its Belgian branch, within the reserved capital increase resolved by 
the Shareholders' Meeting on 23 July 2015. The decrease refers to the maturity of a portion 
of the time deposits of the subsidiary Perago FSE.

Information on fair value
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■■ Information on the compensation of key managers 
As at 31 December 2015, the compensation due to key managers was € 3,318,000 

(€ 2,997,000 as at 31 December 2014). € 706,000 of this had been disbursed (€ 706,000 
as at 31 December 2014).

The total compensation accrued in 2015 to Directors and Statutory Auditors was 
€ 1,774,000 (€ 1,985,000 in 2014). The decrease derives from the incorporations carried 
out in 2015.

This compensation is recognised in profit and loss under "Personnel costs". 
With regard to the statement of financial position items, we note other current liabilities 

for € 765,000 (€ 2,291,000 as at 31 December 2014) and other non-current liabilities for 
€ 1,666,000 (zero as at 31 December 2014). The changes are due to the recognition of the 
Long Term Incentive.

■■ Other transactions with related parties

The transactions carried out with related parties are part of the ordinary business activities 
of the companies of the Group and are carried out in compliance with the principle of substantial 
and procedural fairness, under the same conditions applied to transactions with independent 
third parties.

For the purposes of the preparation of this report, a related party is understood, pursuant to 
IAS 24, to be a person or an entity related to the entity that prepares the financial statements.

A person or a close family member of that person is related to the company that prepares 
the financial statements if this person:

 › has control or joint control of the company that prepares the financial statements;

 › has a significant influence on the company that prepares the financial statements;

 › is one of the key managers of the company that prepares the financial statements, or of 
its parent company.

An entity is related to the company that prepares the financial statements if any of the 
following conditions applies:

 › the entities are part of the same group (which means that each parent company, subsidiary 
and company of the group is related to the others);

 › an entity is associated to or a joint venture of the other entity (or an associated company 
or a joint venture belonging to a group to which the other company belongs);

 › both entities are joint ventures of a same third party;

Transactions with related parties
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 › an entity is a joint venture of a third company and the other entity is an associated 
company of the third entity;

 › the entity is a post-employment benefits plan set up for the employees of the entity that 
prepares the financial statements or a company related to this. If the entity that prepares 
the financial statements is also a plan of this type, the sponsoring employers are also 
related to the entity that prepares the financial statements;

 › the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified as related party;

 › a person identified as a related party has a significant influence on the entity or is one of 
the key managers of the entity (or its parent company).

Among the transactions with related parties, we note transactions with the company ATS, 
of which SIA holds 30%. These transactions are not believed to have had a significant impact 
on either the income statement or the statement of financial position.
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The objective of the Group is to maximise the return on net invested capital preserving the 
ability to operate over time, ensuring adequate returns for the shareholders and benefits for 
the other stakeholder, with a sustainable financial structure. To achieve these objectives, the 
company, besides obtaining satisfactory earnings and generating cash flows, can intervene on 
the dividend policy and on the capital structure.

The main indicators that the company uses for the management of the capital are:

 › R.O.E. (Return on equity): this is calculated as ratio of the Group profit for the year 
and Group shareholders' equity. It is an indicator representative of the ability of SIA to 
remunerate the shareholders. The objective is that the indicator takes a value greater 
than the rate of return on a risk-free investment, according to the nature of the business 
managed.

 › Ratio of operating income and invested capital: the indicator represents the ability of profit 
to remunerate invested capital understood as sum of non-current and current assets.

The value of these indicators in 2015 is reported, together with the corresponding 2014 
values for comparison, in the special section of the Management Report.

Capital management policy
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The qualitative information on the risks is reported in a special section of the Management 
Report of the consolidated Financial Statements for each risk factor, including financial risk 
ones.

The same section of the Management Report reports quantitative information on the risks 
of a non-financial nature.

The quantitative information on financial risks is instead reported below.

■■ Credit risk
The Group is marginally exposed to credit risk for its operating activities and for the 

management of financial resources and cash.
The quantitative information, which consist in the breakdown of trade receivables by 

past-due time, in the allocations to bad debt provision and in the indication of any significant 
position to individual counterparties, are reported in the comments on trade receivables and/
or cash and cash equivalents.

■■ Liquidity risk
The quantitative information consists in the indication of the liquidity reserves available 

at the reference date and in the breakdown by maturity of the payables and the other financial 
liabilities, in the tables below:

Reserves of liquidity (thousands of euros)

2015 2014

Cash and cash equivalents  123,130  94,055 

Current financial assets  471  143 

Committed lines not used (*)  28,250  27,750 

Total  151,851  121,948 

(*) related to SIA S.p.A.

Breakdown of liabilities by residual maturity (thousands of euros)

Within 1 year
From 1  

to 2 years
From 2  

to 5 years
More than  

5 years Total

Bond loans  -    -    -    -    -   

Financial payables  6,755  3,763  4,425  -    14,943 

Financial liabilities  -    -    -    -    -   

Trade payables  41,415  -    -    -    41,415 

Other payables  57,567  309  5,659  -    63,535 

Total  105,737  4,072  10,084  -    119,893 

Policy for the management of financial risks
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This table reports the contractual cash flows, not discounted, of the gross financial debt 
at its nominal values of repayment and the interest payments, calculated using the conditions 
and the interest and exchange rates at the end of the year.

■■ Exchange rate risk
The Group operates mainly in the euro area, therefore it is not significantly exposed to 

exchange rate risks. The amount of the contracts bought and sold in foreign currency is not 
substantial and therefore these do not have a significant impact on the values recognised.

We also refer to the information provided in the Notes to the separate financial statements 
showing the profits and losses due to fluctuations of the exchange rates, which provide 
indication of marginal values.

■■ Interest rate and market risks
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its financial payables related to finance 

leases.
The Group holds its liquidity mainly in current accounts and bank deposits, with fixed or 

variable rates.
In light of the above and given the expected curve of the interest rates in the euro area 

in the next few years, we do not expect economic impacts that would require the execution of 
special sensitivity analysis.

Financial assets (thousands of euros)

2015 2014

Fixed rate Variable rate  Fixed rate Variable rate

Cash  -    12   -    14 

Cash and cash equivalents  -    123,118   -    94,041 

Non-current financial assets  -    15   -    16 

Current financial assets  -    471   -    143 

Total  -    123,616   -    94,214 

Financial liabilities (thousands of euros)

2015 2014

Fixed rate Variable rate  Fixed rate Variable rate

Bond loans  -  -  -  - 

Non-current financial liabilities  -  -  -  - 

Current financial liabilities  -  -  -  - 

Non-current financial payables  9,921  -  11,151 

Current financial payables  5,022  -  7,606 

Total  -  14,943  -  18,757 
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Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors

SIA S.p.A.
Registered office: Via Francesco Gonin 36, Milan

Share Capital € 22,274,620= fully paid-up
VAT no. / Tax code / Milan Companies’ Register no. 10596540152.

R.E.A. Milan no. 1385874

Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors  
to the Shareholders' Meeting pursuant to art. 2429,  
par. 2, Italian Civil Code and Legislative Decree  
no. 127, 9 April 1991

To the Shareholders' Meeting of SIA S.p.A.
In the year ended 31 December 2015, we undertook our activities in accordance with legal 

requirements and the Code of Conduct for Boards of Statutory Auditors, issued by the Consiglio 
Nazionale dei Dottori Commercialisti e degli Esperti Contabili (CNDCEC), the professional body 
for certified accountants in Italy.

■■ Supervisory activities

We monitored your company’s compliance with legal and statutory requirements and the 
principles of proper business management.

We attended the Shareholders’ and Board Meetings and during these meetings, based on 
the available information, we did not observe any violation of legal and statutory requirements, 
nor any transaction that was manifestly imprudent or risky, implied a potential conflict of 
interest or such to compromise the integrity of the company’s assets.

During the meetings, we obtained information from the Directors on the operating 
performance and its outlook, 

as well as on the most significant transactions, by size or characteristics, carried out by 
the Company and its subsidiaries. Based on the information obtained, we have no comments 
to make in this regard.

We met with the independent auditing company, and from the exchange of information no 
significant data or information came to light worth mentioning in this report.

We exchanged information with the statutory auditors of the subsidiaries, if not already 
members of the Board of Statutory Auditors of SIA S.p.A., with no significant data or information 
emerging worth mentioning in this report.

We obtained information from the Head of Risk Governance, with no significant data or 
information emerging worth mentioning in this report.
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We obtained information from the company’s Internal Audit Department, with no significant 
data or information emerging worth mentioning in this report.

We met with the members of the Supervisory Board and on the basis of their information 
provided we did not identify issues with regard to the correct implementation of the organisational 
model worth mentioning in this report.

We became acquainted with and oversaw, as part of our duties and responsibilities, the 
adequacy and operation of the Company’s organisational structure, also through the collection 
of information from the various department heads, and we have no comments to make in this 
regard.

We became acquainted with and oversaw, as part of our duties and responsibilities, 
the company’s administrative/accounting system, as well as its ability to present business 
operations and events reliably and correctly, by obtaining information from the various department 
heads, the independent auditors and through the analysis of company documentation. We have 
no comments to make in this regard.

As described in the Management Report, the following significant events took place in the 
period, among others: a) the partial demerger of TSP in favour of the parent company SIA came 
into force on 1 January 2015; b) the merger by incorporation of RA Computer into SIA came 
into force on 1 January 2015; c) the Board of Directors of the parent company SIA S.p.A. at the 
meeting of 25 June 2015 and the Shareholders' Meeting on 23 July approved the share capital 
increase reserved to the executives of the company and its Belgian branch, with exclusion of 
the option rights pertaining to the shareholders of the company pursuant to art. 2441, par. 8, 
of the Italian Civil Code. The capital increase reserved to management was therefore approved 
and carried out for a total of € 183,333. Among the significant events occurred after the end 
the year we note: a) SIA acquired a 68.89% stake (through share purchases and a capital 
increase) in UBIQ S.r.l. with registered office in Parma, a start-up established in 2012 from a 
spin-off of Parma University; b) SIA acquired a 51% stake in LM Enterprise S.r.l., established in 
2011, with registered office in Rome, which provides consulting services.

No complaints as set forth in art. 2408 of the Italian Civil Code were received.
During the year in question, the Board of Statutory Auditors did not issue any of the 

opinions envisaged by law.
With the approval of the financial statements for the year ended at 31 December 2015, 

mandate given to the auditing company Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. will expire. Today, at the end 
of the procedure within our competence, we have issued a reasoned proposal for the audit 
mandate to be granted by the next Shareholders' Meeting, pursuant to art. 13 of Legislative 
Decree. 39/2010.

Our supervisory activities, as described above, did not reveal any other significant fact to 
be mentioned in this report.

■■ Separate and consolidated financial statements

For groups of companies that are not required by Legislative Decree no. 38, 28 February 
2005 to prepare the consolidated financial statements in compliance with the "International 
Financial Reporting Standards" (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), art. 3 of said Decree offer the option to do so voluntarily. In compliance with art. 4 
of Legislative Decree no. 38, 28 February 2005, the parent company SIA S.p.A. has chosen 
to exercise this right and prepare its financial statements in compliance with international 

Consolidated Financial Statements SIA Group as at 31 December 2015

133



accounting standards. The process of adoption of IAS/IFRS accounting standards began 
therefore on 1 January 2015 and the date of First Time Adoption was set to 1 January 2014. 

The adoption of international accounting standards will make it easier to compare the 
results of the company with those of foreign companies, which is consistent with the ongoing 
process of internationalisation of the Group, besides being a precondition for the listing of the 
company in a regulated market.

We reviewed the draft financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, provided 
to us by the Board of Directors on 10 March 2016.

With regard to said draft financial statements, the following should be noted.
Since we were not charged with the audit of the financial statements, we oversaw their 

general layout and compliance with the law with regard to its preparation and structure, and in 
this regard we have no comments to make.

We have verified compliance with the legal provisions relevant to the preparation of the 
Management Report and we have no comments to make in this regard.

To the best of our knowledge, the Directors, in drawing up the financial statements, did not 
depart from the legal requirements laid down under art. 2423, par. 4, of the Italian Civil Code.

In the Management Report and the Notes, the Directors have informed us that a trusted 
external consultant was appointed to carry out an impairment test on the value of the equity 
investments and goodwill recognised respectively in the separate and consolidated financial 
statements. For all items tested for impairment, the expert report confirmed the carrying 
amounts of the previous year and therefore no impairments were recognised, with the exception 
of the € 0.1 million write-down recognised in the separate financial statements on the carrying 
amount of the equity investment in the associated company Trustlink, adjusted to the market 
values deriving from a transaction on the capital between independent third parties.

 
As for the transactions with related parties, the information provided confirms that these 

transactions form part of the normal business activities of the companies of the Group and are 
carried out in compliance with the principle of substantial and procedural fairness, under the 
same conditions applied for transactions with independent third parties.

On 18 March 2016, the auditing firm Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. issued its own report 
pursuant to art. 14 of Italian Legislative Decree 39, 27 January 2010, which did not contain 
any findings. In the report Deloitte & Touche confirmed that the financial statements as at 31 
December 2015 give a true and fair view of the financial and economic position of the Company. 
The auditing firm also expressed its opinion on the consistency between the Management 
Report and the separate financial statements as at 31 December 2015.

In accordance with Italian Legislative Decree 127/1991, the Company also prepared the 
consolidated financial statements and Management Report.

The Board of Statutory Auditors oversaw the general layout and structure of these 
documents as well as their compliance with legal requirements regarding their preparation and 
structure. We have no comments to make in this regard.

On 18 March 2016, the auditing firm Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. issued the independent 
auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements, which did not contain any findings and 
in which the firm confirmed that the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2015 
give a true and fair view of the financial position and profit or loss of the Group. The auditing firm 
also expressed its opinion regarding the consistency between the consolidated management 
report and the company’s consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2015.
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■■ Conclusions

Considering also the results of the activities carried out by the independent auditors and 
described in these reports, the Board supports the proposal made by the Board of Directors to 
the Shareholders' Meeting to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2015, as drafted by the Directors, and has no objections to make on the proposal of the Board 
of Directors to allocate 2015 profits partly to legal reserves (€ 36,666), partly to dividend 
distribution (€ 49,689,535.83) and partly to profits carried forward (€ 23,279,008.17).

Lastly, we note that, with the approval of the financial statements as at 31 December 
2015, the mandate of the Board of Statutory Auditors comes to an end; it will be therefore 
necessary to appoint a new Board at the next Shareholders' Meeting.

Milan, 18 March 2016

The Board of Statutory Auditors
Prof. Mario Cattaneo - Chairman
Giorgio Silva - Standing Auditor 
Pier Luigi Diociaiuti - Standing Auditor
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Independent Auditors' Report
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Statement of financial position

Statement of financial position - Assets (euro)

Notes 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Plants and equipment  1  24,286,577  27,995,736 (3,709,159) -13.2%

Industrial and commercial equipment  1  1,302  987  315 31.9%

Land and buildings  1  -    -    -   

Other assets  1  2,252,678  2,495,189 (242,511) -9.7%

Work in progress and payments on 
account  1  -    -    -   

Tangible assets   26,540,557  30,491,912 (3,951,355) -13.0%

Goodwill  2  3,853,616  3,853,616  -   0.0%

Other intangible assets  2  15,995,604  14,554,193  1,441,411 9.9%

Intangible assets   19,849,220  18,407,809  1,441,411 7.8%

Equity investments  3  28,391,332  37,689,619 (9,298,287) -24.7%

Non-current financial receivables  -    -    -   

Non-current financial assets  4  15,520  -    15,520 

Contract work  -    -    -   

Non-current trade receivables  -    -    -   

Other non-current assets  5  418,379  805,016 (386,637) -48.0%

Deferred tax assets  6  7,801,187  7,141,005  660,182 9.2%

Total non-current assets   83,016,195  94,535,361 (11,519,166) -12.2%

Inventories  7  852,950  2,045,658 (1,192,708) -58.3%

Current financial receivables  8  2,008,161  7,019,139 (5,010,978) -71.4%

Current financial assets  9  352,563  -    352,563 

Current tax assets  10  5,283,554  2,837,175  2,446,379 86.2%

Due from customers - current  11  122,796,867  86,439,992  36,356,875 42.1%

Due from subsidiaries and parent 
companies - current  11  3,275,337  5,608,000 (2,332,663) -41.6%

Due from associated companies - 
current  -    -    -   

Other current assets  12  15,970,834  15,889,496  81,338 0.5%

Cash and cash equivalents  13  105,248,374  68,775,125  36,473,249 53.0%

Total current assets   255,788,640  188,614,585  67,174,055 35.6%

Assets held for sale  -    -    -    

Assets held for sale   -    -    -    

TOTAL ASSETS   338,804,835  283,149,946  55,654,889 19.7%
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Statement of financial position - Liabilities and Shareholders' equity (euro)

Notes 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Share capital  14  22,274,620  22,091,287  183,333 

Share issue premium  14  5,316,654  -    5,316,654 

Reserves  14  115,104,654  88,134,914  26,969,740 

Valuation reserve  14 (1,041,098) (1,990,844)  949,746 

Profit (loss) for the year  14  73,005,210  60,287,863  12,717,347 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   214,660,040  168,523,220  46,136,820 27.4%

Non-current bond loans  -    -    -   

Non-current financial payables  15  8,188,041  10,136,820 (1,948,779) -19.2%

Non-current financial liabilities  -    -    -   

Provisions for personnel  16  18,329,389  17,444,685  884,704 5.1%

Deferred tax liabilities  17  307,628  388,922 (81,294) -20.9%

Provisions for risks and charges  18  2,221,903  2,236,512 (14,609) -0.7%

Non-current trade payables  -    -    -   

Other non-current liabilities  19  5,658,688  -    5,658,688 

Total non-current liabilities   34,705,649  30,206,939  4,498,710 14.9%

Current bond loans  -    -    -   

Current financial payables  20  4,995,265  7,283,589 (2,288,324) -31.4%

Current financial liabilities  -    -    -   

Current tax liabilities  21  5,511,550  1,859,000  3,652,550 196.5%

Current trade payables  22  32,975,939  31,381,979  1,593,960 5.1%

Other current liabilities  23  45,956,392  43,895,219  2,061,173 4.7%

Total current liabilities   89,439,146  84,419,787  5,019,359 5.9%

Liabilities associated  
with assets being disposed  -    -    -   

Liabilities associated  
with assets being disposed   -    -    -    

TOTAL LIABILITIES   124,144,795  114,626,726  9,518,069 8.3%

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  338,804,835  283,149,946  55,654,889 19.7%
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Income statement

(euro)

Notes 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Revenues from sales and services  24  388,820,488  336,880,199  51,940,289 15.4%

Other revenues and income  25  2,583,761  4,399,805 (1,816,044) -41.3%

Changes in inventories for third parties  26 (1,509,687)  1,101,722 (2,611,409) -237.0%

Costs for raw and ancillary materials, consumables 
and goods  27 (1,537,011) (1,184,722) (352,289) 29.7%

Service costs  28 (128,170,828) (117,525,634) (10,645,194) 9.1%

Personnel costs  29 (127,326,966) (105,771,937) (21,555,029) 20.4%

Other operating costs  30 (16,293,135) (16,315,353)  22,218 -0.1%

EBITDA   116,566,622  101,584,080  14,982,542 14.7%

Total Amortisation/Depreciation  31 (21,127,420) (21,506,443)  379,023 -1.8%

Value adjustments of tangible and intangible assets  -    -    -   

Adjustments trade receivables  32 (81,538)  -   (81,538)

Allocation to provision for risks  -    -    -    

EBIT   95,357,664  80,077,637  15,280,027 19.1%

Net income equity investments to shareholders' equity  -    -    -   

Profit/loss management equity investments  -    -    -   

Adjustments value equity investments  33 (136,131) (177,460)  41,329 -23.3%

Dividends  33  6,800,000  6,800,000  -   0.0%

Income (charges) on equity investments Group   6,663,869  6,622,540  41,329 0.6%

Profit/Loss management financial assets  -    -    -   

Adjustments value financial assets  
and financial receivables  -    -    -   

Profit/Loss trading financial assets and liabilities  -    -    -   

Management/Trading financial assets   -    -    -    

Financial income  34  811,115  1,783,569 (972,454) -54.5%

Interest Paid  35 (319,276) (348,285) (29,009) 8.3%

Bank charges  35 (190,683) (156,410)  34,273 -21.9%

Financial charges  (509,959) (504,695) (5,264) 1.0%

Profit (loss) before taxes   102,322,689  87,979,051  14,343,638 16.3%

Current taxes 36 (30,420,000) (24,250,000)  6,170,000 -25.4%

Deferred tax assets 36  948,555 (3,541,885) (4,490,440) 126.8%

Deferred tax liabilities  36  93,500  -   (93,500)

Previous years' taxes  36  60,466  100,697  40,231 40.0%

Income tax  (29,317,479) (27,691,188)  1,626,291 -5.9%

Net profit (loss) from continuing operations   73,005,210  60,287,863  12,717,347 21.1%

Net income from assets held for sale  
or discontinued operations   -    -    -   

Profit (loss) for the year   73,005,210  60,287,863  12,717,347 21.1%
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Statement of comprehensive income

(euro)

Notes 31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Changes %

Tangible assets  -    -    -   

Intangible assets  -    -    -   

Defined-benefit schemes  14  949,746 (1,990,844)  2,940,590 

Non-current assets being disposed  -    -    -   

Share valuat. reserves of equity inv. 
recognised in shareholders' equity  -    -    -   

Other after-tax income components 
without reclassification to P&L   949,746 (1,990,844)  2,940,590 

Hedging of foreign investments  -  -  - 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  - 

Cash flow hedges  -  -  - 

Financial asset available for sale  -  -  - 

Non-current assets being disposed  -  -  - 

Share valuat. reserves of equity inv. 
recognised in shareholders' equity  -  -  - 

Other after-tax income components 
reclassified to P&L  -  -  - 

Total other after-tax income components  949,746 (1,990,844)  2,940,590  

Profit (loss) for the year  73,005,210  60,287,863  12,717,347 21.1%

Comprehensive income (loss)  73,954,956  58,297,019  15,657,937 26.9%

The recognition in the statement of comprehensive income of the actuarial gains and 
losses for the defined-benefit schemes has resulted in the recognition of deferred tax liabilities 
for a total of € 360,000.
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Statement of changes in shareholders' equity

Changes in shareholders' equity in 2014 (thousands of euros)

Share 
capital

Share issue 
premium Reserves

Valuation 
reserve

Profit (loss) 
for the year Total

Opening  22,091  -    147,696  -    46,752  216,539 

Change in opening balances  -    -   (6,053)  -    -   (6,053)

Initial balances at 01/01/2014  22,091  -    141,643  -    46,752  210,486 

Allocation of net income from 
previous year       

Allocation Profit  -    -    46,752  -   (46,752)  -   

Dividends paid  -    -   (100,260)  -    -   (100,260)

Other changes       

Other changes  -    -    -    -    -   

Comprehensive income (loss)    (1,991)  60,288  58,297 

Total as at 31/12/2014  22,091  -    88,135 (1,991)  60,288  168,523 

On 22 April 2014 the Shareholders' Meeting resolved the allocation of the entire profit 
of 2013 to dividend for € 46,752,230 and the distribution of profits carried forward for 
€ 53,508,225. 

Changes in shareholders' equity in 2015 (thousands of euros)

Share 
capital

Share issue 
premium Reserves

Valuation 
reserve

Profit (loss) 
for the year Total

Opening  22,091  -    88,135 (1,991)  60,288  168,523 

Change in opening balances  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Initial balances at 01/01/2015  22,091  -    88,135 (1,991)  60,288  168,523 

Allocation of net income from 
previous year       

Allocation Profit  -    -    60,288  -   (60,288)  -   

Dividends paid  -    -   (35,685)  -    -   (35,685)

Other changes       

Changes in reserves  -    -   

New share issues  184  5,317  5,501 

Other changes  -    -    2,366  -    2,366 

Comprehensive income (loss)     950  73,005  73,955 

Total as at 31/12/2015  22,275  5,317  115,104 (1,041)  73,005  214,660 

On 22 April 2014 the Shareholders' Meeting resolved the allocation of the entire profit 
of 2013 to dividend for € 46,752,230 and the distribution of profits carried forward for 
€ 53,508,225. 
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Statement of cash flows

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Profit (loss) for the year before taxes  102,323  87,979 

Depreciation and write-downs of tangible assets  11,607  19,136 

Amortisation and write-downs of intangible assets  9,520  2,370 

Employee severance indemnity  4,594  3,963 

Provisions for risks  -    -   

Changes in trade receivables (27,224) (5,041)

Changes in trade payables  1,595  4,366 

Changes in inventories  1,193 (1,102)

Changes in employee severance indemnity (3,709) (5,143)

Changes in current and deferred tax assets and liabilities (28,853) (26,375)

Changes in provisions for risks and charges (14) (6,196)

Changes in other assets and liabilities  8,022 (11,933)

Net cash flows generated/absorbed by Operating Activities  79,054  62,024 

Net investments in tangible assets (7,655) (5,820)

Net investments in intangible assets (10,962) (4,664)

Changes in contract work  -    -   

Changes in equity investments  9,298  4,977 

Net cash flows generated/absorbed by Investing Activities (9,319) (5,507)

Changes in share capital  184  -   

Changes in reserves  1,833 (1,245)

Dividends paid (35,685) (100,260)

Changes in payables for loans (4,237)  -   

Changes in financial assets  4,643  -   

Net cash flows generated/absorbed by Financing Activities (33,262) (101,505)

Cash flow for the year  36,473 (44,988)
   
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  68,775  113,763 

Total cash flows for the year  36,473 (44,988)

Effect of changes in exchange rate  -    -   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  105,248  68,775 

Cash and cash equivalents include the cash at hand and the current account balances, 
both included under "Cash and cash equivalents", described in the Notes.

The change in the equity investments refers only to the mergers by incorporation of RA 
Computer and the "Gateway" business unit of TSP.

The net balance of the interest paid and collected was equal to € 512,000 (€ 2,268,000 
in 2014).
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During the year dividends for € 35,685,000 (€ 100,260,000 in 2014) were paid out and 
dividends for € 6,800,000 were collected from subsidiaries (€ 6,800,000 in 2014).

Main indicators
31/12/2015 31/12/2014 Notes

ROE - Net profit/Group shareholders' equity 34.0% 35.8%

ROI - EBIT/Invested capital 28.1% 28.3%  (1) 

EBIT/Revenues from sales and services 24.5% 23.8%

Total assets/ Shareholders' equity 1.58 1.68

Current assets/Current liabilities 2.86 2.23

Cash and cash equivalents/Current liabilities 1.18 0.81

Non-current assets/Total assets 0.25 0.33

Current assets/Total assets 0.75 0.67

Quick ratio 2.85 2.21 (2)

FCF Conversion (FCFO/EBITDA) 0.60 0.56 (3)

(1) The value of the total assets was considered as Invested capital.
(2) The Quick ratio is the ratio of current assets, net of the inventories, to total current liabilities.
(3) The Operating Free Cash Flow is given by the sum of the net cash flows generated/absorbed by the operating activities (after taxes) 

and the net cash flows generated/absorbed by investing activities, both as reported in the statement of cash flows.
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Notes

Statement of compliance with international 
accounting standards

The separate financial statements 
as at 31 December 2015 of SIA S.p.A. 
include the management report and the 
financial statements for the year of the 
company and are drafted in compliance 
with the international accounting standards 
(below also "IFRS") ratified by the European 
Commission and in force at 31 December 
2015. The international accounting standards 
are understood to be all "International 
Financial Reporting Standards" (IFRS), all 
"International Accounting Standards" (IAS) 
and all interpretations of the "International 
F inanc ia l  Repor t ing In terpretat ions 
Committee" (IFRIC), previously known as 
"Standing Interpretations Committee" (SIC).

The application of international accounting 
standards was carried out making reference 
also to the "Framework for the Preparation 

and Presentation of Financial Statements" 
and no derogations from the application of 
IAS/IFRS standards were carried out.

Specifically, the separate financial 
statements contain the statement of 
financial position, the income statement, 
the statement of comprehensive income, 
the statement of changes in shareholders' 
equity, the statement of cash flows and the 
Notes and the corresponding comparative 
information, and are accompanied by the 
Management Report.

The separate financial statements of SIA 
S.p.A. were audited by the auditing company 
Deloitte & Touche S.p.A., in execution of the 
resolution of the Shareholders' Meeting of 3 
May 2013, which has appointed this company 
until the preparation of the 2015 Financial 
Statements.

General accounting principles
The separate financial statements of SIA 

S.p.A. consist of the accounting statements 
required by IAS 1, that is, the statement 
of financial position, income statement, 
the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in shareholders' equity 
and statement of cash flows, as well as the 
Notes and the Management Report.

The Company has decided to represent the 
income statement by nature of expense, while 
the assets and liabilities of the statement of 
financial position are divided into current and 
non-current. The statement of cash flows is 
drafted with the indirect method.

The currency of presentation is the euro 
and the data provided in these financial 
statements, unless otherwise specified, are 
expressed in euros. The statement of financial 
position, income statement, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of cash 
flows are expressed in euros, while the 
explanatory notes and the tables are in 
thousands of euro.

The financial statements are drafted 
clearly and provide a true and fair representa-
tion of the financial position, profit and loss, 
change in shareholders' equity and cash 
flows. If the information required by interna-
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tional accounting standards is not sufficient 
to give a true, fair, substantial, reliable, com-
parable and understandable representation, 
the Notes provide the additional information 
needed.

The data presented as at 31 December 
2015 are compared with the financial 
statements as at 31 December 2014, as 
resulting from the application of IFRS 1 within 
FTA (First Time Adoption) which sets the 
transition date to the date of opening of the 
first year presented for comparison purposes, 
i.e. in the case of the company 1 January 
2014. The statements and the explanatory 
notes required by IAS 1 are provided in the 
annex.

The separate Financial Statements were 
drafted on a going concern basis, with the 
accrual method of accounting, in compliance 
with the standard of relevance and 
significance of information and prevalence 
of substance on form, aiming at ensuring 
consistency with future presentations. 
Assets and liabilities, costs and revenues 
are not offset against each other, unless 
this is allowed or required by international 
accounting standards. If an asset or a 
liability item belongs to multiple items of the 
statement of financial position, the Notes 
will mention, if necessary to understand the 
financial statements, the fact that it can also 
be referred to items different from the one in 
which it is recognised. 

Items of different nature or allocation 

were presented separately unless they were 
considered irrelevant.

In application of IFRS, the preparation of 
the financial statements requires estimates 
and assumptions that affect the values of the 
assets and liabilities of financial statements 
and on the corresponding information, as well 
as on potential assets and liabilities at the 
reference date.

The estimates and the corresponding 
assumptions are based on past experience 
and other factors considered reasonable in 
this case and are adopted when the carrying 
amount of the assets and liabilities cannot 
be easily derived from other sources.

The items of the financial statements for 
which the use of estimates and assumptions 
is most significant are the quantification of 
the provisions for risks and charges, the 
definition of the amortisation/depreciation 
charge of the tangible and intangible assets 
with defined useful life, the valuation of 
the intangible assets with indefinite useful 
life and of the equity investments, the 
valuation of the benefits to the employees, 
the quantification of deferred taxes. The 
estimates and the assumptions are reviewed 
regularly and the effects of each change 
are reflected in the income statement, if 
it interests only that period. In the case in 
which the review interests both current and 
future periods, the change is recognised in 
the period in which the review is carried out 
and in the corresponding future periods.
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Accounting standards and valuation criteria
The criteria adopted with reference to 

the classification, recognition, valuation and 
derecognition of the different items of the 
assets and liabilities, as well as the criteria 
of recognition of the items, are reported 
in the related section of the consolidated 
Financial Statements, to which we refer. 
This section also reports the information 
on IFRS and IFRIC accounting standards, 
amendments and interpretations ratified by 
the European Union, the application of which 
is not yet mandatory and for which the SIA 
Group did not choose early adoption as at 31 
December 2015, as well as the information 

on IFRS accounting standards, amendments 
and interpretations not yet ratified by the 
European Union.

We note that the accounting standards 
used in the preparation of the separate 
Financial Statements are the same used 
for the purposes of the preparation of the 
consolidated Financial Statements where 
applicable, except for the valuation of the equity 
investments in subsidiaries and associated 
companies and the dividends, as reported 
in the special section of the consolidated 
Financial Statements.
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In comparing the 2015 data for SIA S.p.A. with the 2014 equivalents, it is necessary to 
take into account the incorporation of RA Computer and the "Gateway" business unit of TSP, 
with tax and accounting effects from 1 January 2015, as the values of these are not included 
in the 2014 data.

To have comparable data for the separate SIA Financial Statements, we refer to the special 
table of the Management Report, which, precisely for comparability purposes, makes pro-forma 
use of the 2014 data of RA Computer and the TSP business unit and aggregates them to the 
financial statements data.

We also note that the consolidated Financial Statements presents comparable data 
between the two years, since the consolidation perimeter did not change in the period, apart 
from said incorporation of RA Computer.

Assets

■■ Non-current assets

■■ 1. Tangible assets

Ownership share (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015  
On 2014

Gross value
Acc. 

depreciation Net value Gross value
Acc. 

depreciation Net value

Plant and equipment  93,331 (82,531)  10,800  91,544 (80,769)  10,775  25 

Industrial and 
commercial equipment  1,080 (1,079)  1  1,018 (1,017)  1  - 

Land and buildings  -  -  -  -  - 

Other assets  8,091 (5,838)  2,253  6,926 (4,431)  2,495 (242)

Work in progress and 
payments on account  -  -  - 

Total  102,502 (89,448)  13,054  99,488 (86,217)  13,271 (217)

Analysis of the items of the statement 
of financial position
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Leased goods share (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015  
On 2014

Gross value
Acc. 

depreciation Net value Gross value
Acc. 

depreciation Net value

Plants and equipment 
lease - Gross  31,219  31,219  23,578  23,578  7,641 

Plants and equipment 
lease - Acc. Depr. (17,733) (17,733) (6,357) (6,357) (11,376)

Total  31,219 (17,733)  13,486  23,578 (6,357)  17,221 (3,735)

The table below shows the total of the minimum future payments due for the lease at the 
reporting date.

 

Minimum payments for operating leases (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Due by next year  4,995  7,284 

From 2th to 5th year  8,188  10,137 

After 5th year  -    -   

Total  13,183  17,421 

Changes in tangible assets (thousands of euros)

Gross value 31/12/2014 Mergers Increases Decreases Reclass. 31/12/2015

Plants and equipment - Gross  91,544  321  3,295 (1,829)  -    93,331 

Plants and equipment lease 
- Gross  23,578  -    4,014  -    3,627  31,219 

Equipment - Gross  1,018  -    1 (59)  120  1,080 

Property - Gross  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Other assets - Gross  6,926  3,985  121 (138) (2,803)  8,091 

Work in progress and 
payments on account  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total  123,066  4,306  7,431 (2,026)  944  133,721 

Ordinary accumulated depreciation 31/12/2014 Mergers Increases Decreases Reclass. 31/12/2015

Plants and equipment -  
Acc. Depr. (80,769) (293) (3,298)  1,829  -   (82,531)

Plants and equipment lease - 
Acc. Depr. (6,357)  -   (7,749)  -   (3,627) (17,733)

Equipment - Acc. Depr. (1,017)  -    -    58 (120) (1,079)

Property - Acc. Depr.  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Other assets - Acc. Depr. (4,431) (3,782) (560)  132  2,803 (5,838)

Total (92,574) (4,075) (11,607)  2,019 (944) (107,181)

Total  30,492      26,540 
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■■ 2. Intangible assets
(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Changes
2015  

On 2014

Gross value
Acc. 

amortisation Net value Gross value
Acc. 

amortisation Net value

Goodwill  5,094 (1,240)  3,854  6,636 (2,782)  3,854  - 

Internally generated assets  227,240 (214,553)  12,687  200,332 (189,466)  10,866  1,821 

Software licences  84,924 (81,615)  3,309  81,260 (77,572)  3,688 (379)

Other intangible assets  90 (90)  -  90 (90)  -  - 

Other intangible assets  312,254 (296,258)  15,996  281,682 (267,128)  14,554  1,442 

Total  317,348 (297,498)  19,850  288,318 (269,910)  18,408  1,442 

Changes in intangible assets (thousands of euros)

Gross value 31/12/2014 Mergers Increases Decreases Reclass. 31/12/2015

Goodwill  6,636  -    -    -    -    6,636 

Internally generated assets  200,332  15,178  7,298 (394)  4,826  227,240 

Software licences  81,260  1,153  2,338  -    173  84,924 

Other intangible assets  90  -    -    -    -    90 

Total  288,318  16,331  9,636 (394)  4,999  318,890 

(thousands of euros)

Ordinary accumulated amortisation 31/12/2014 Mergers Increases Decreases Reclass. 31/12/2015

Goodwill (2,782)  -    -    -    -   (2,782)

Internally generated assets (189,466) (13,936) (6,733)  -   (4,418) (214,553)

Software licences (77,572) (1,083) (2,787)  -   (173) (81,615)

Other intangible assets (90)  -    -    -    -   (90)

Total (269,910) (15,019) (9,520)  -   (4,591) (299,040)

Summary changes in tangible and intangible assets

Changes in tangible assets (thousands of euros)

Net value 31/12/2014 Mergers Increases Decreases Depreciation Reclass. 31/12/2015

Plants and equipment  27,996  28  7,309  -   (11,047)  -    24,286 

Industrial and 
commercial equipment  1  -    1 (1)  -    -    1 

Land and buildings  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Other assets  2,495  203  121 (6) (560)  -    2,253 

Work in progress and 
payments on account  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total  30,492  231  7,431 (7) (11,607)  -    26,540 
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Changes in intangible assets (thousands of euros)

Net value 31/12/2014 Mergers Increases Decreases Amortisation Reclass. 31/12/2015

Goodwill  3,854  -    -    -    -    -    3,854 

Internally generated 
assets  10,866 

 
1,242  7,298 (394) (6,733)  408  12,687 

Software licences  3,688  70  2,338  -   (2,787)  -    3,309 

Other intangible assets  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total  18,408 1,312  9,636 (394) (9,520)  408  19,850 

No impairment losses for tangible and intangible assets were recognised during the year. 
There were also no restrictions on the entitlement and ownership of assets used as collateral 
for liabilities.

Tangible and intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and later depreciated/
amortised according to their residual useful life (with the exception of goodwill). We believe that 
their net carrying amount provides a good approximation of fair value.

The goodwill item refers to the difference, arising from the merger by incorporation of 
SiNSYS, between the recognised value of the equity investment and the shareholders' equity 
of this company at the time of the coming into force of the incorporation (31 December 2012).

The goodwill recognised in the financial statements was tested for impairment, considering 
SIA as a whole as the CGU. For the purposes of the impairment test, we used the fairness 
opinion provided by an external consultant and presented to the Board of Directors for approval 
on 25 June 2015, in the context of the capital increase reserved to the executives of SIA Group, 
for the details of which we refer to the Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements. The test 
carried out did not identify impairments, since the total value of the CGU SIA is much greater 
than the goodwill in question.

■■ 3. Equity investments

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Subsidiaries  27,205  36,367 (9,162)

Associated  1,187  1,323 (136)

Total  28,392  37,690 (9,298)

The changes refer to the merger by incorporation of RA Computer in SIA and the demerger 
of the Gateway business unit of TSP, which was then incorporated into SIA. The TSP business 
unit included the wholly owned subsidiary Pi4Pay, also sold on 1 January 2015.

RA Computer S.p.A., with offices in Milan, specialised in the production of application 
packages and the provision of services to the banking sector and the Public Administration. 

On 19 December 2014 the deed of merger by incorporation of RA Computer, already wholly 
owned, into SIA was signed, with tax, accounting and legal effectiveness from 1 January 2015. 
The merger must be seen in the wider context of rationalisation and reorganisation of the 
Group, aimed to the achievement of higher efficiency in the management of the activities and 
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higher effectiveness in the sales and in the development of the offer, by achieving critical mass 
on all strategic segments/functions. Another objective of the merger was to achieve synergies, 
decreasing the cost and increasing the quality services related to human resources, corporate, 
accounting and administrative management.

The table below reports the main items from the statement of financial position of the 
incorporated entity.

RA Computer (thousands of euros)

31/12/2014

Total non-current assets  2,384 

Trade receivables  15,763 

Cash and cash equivalents  7,217 

Other current assets  966 

Total current assets  23,946 

TOTAL ASSETS  26,330 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  7,204 

Total non-current liabilities  2,855 

Trade payables  3,889 

Financial payables  5,321 

Other current liabilities  7,061 

Total current liabilities  16,271 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  26,330 

TSP S.r.l. is based in Milan and is a wholly owned subsidiary of SIA. The deed of demerger 
of the Gateway business unit in SIA was signed on 1 December 2014, with tax, accounting 
and legal effects from 1 January 2015. Before the demerger, the company designed, created 
and managed innovative on-line payment and collection solutions for the corporate sector 
and the Public Administration, ensuring the multi-channel payment of utilities, taxes and bills, 
and processing aimed at the sale of prepaid products. The company was also active in the 
resale of telephone top-ups. The demerger was carried out to pursue the development of the 
two market segments, corporate sector and Public Administration, since the business unit 
spun off provides services aimed to these market segments. The transaction has also made 
possible higher Group synergies through the more effective coordination of sales activities 
and a better use of the specific competencies of TSP. The transaction had no impact on the 
total workforce of the Group and it is not expected to have a significant economic impact at 
the Group level.

The table below reports the main items from the statement of financial position of the 
incorporated entity.
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TSP (thousands of euros)

31/12/2014

Total non-current assets  2,906 

Trade receivables  4,328 

Cash and cash equivalents  4,634 

Other current assets  1 

Total current assets  8,963 

TOTAL ASSETS  11,869 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  7,335 

Trade payables  3,261 

Other current liabilities  1,273 

Total current liabilities  4,534 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  11,869 

We note that as a result of a re-calculation of the market value of the company Trustlink, 
€ 136,000 were written down from the carrying amount.

Impairment test on equity investments

During the preparation of the separate Financial Statements of SIA and the consolidated 
Financial Statements of SIA Group, an external consultant was appointed to carry out an 
impairment test on the equity investments held by the company.

The results of the impairment tests from the report prepared by the external consultant, 
approved on 26 February 2016 by the Board of Directors, are provided below.

Purposes and object of impairment test
The impairment test was carried out on the following equity investments:

 › SIA Central Europe Zrt, 100% holding

 › TSP srl, 100% holding

 › Perago FSE Ltd., 100% holding

 › Emmecom s.r.l., 51% holding

For the purposes of the estimate of the "recoverable amount" we made reference to the 
concept of "value in use".

The estimate of the value in use is based on the forecasts of the cash flows from the 
equity investments in question prepared by management from SIA's point of view.

Reference data and documentation
The reference date of the estimate is 31 December 2015: the estimate is then based 

on 2015 draft financial statement data and income and cash flow projections for the period 
2016-2018 provided by the Management of the investee companies, previously approved by 
the respective Boards of Directors. The market information is the information available at the 
reference date of the estimate.
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Valuation criteria and rules applied
For the purposes of the impairment test, the equity investments, understood as legal 

entities, coincide with the CGUs used in the separate financial statements. The values in 
use resulting from the impairment were then compared with the carrying value of the equity 
investments recognised in the separate Financial Statements.

Pursuant to IAS 36, the external consultant appointed by the company used as reference 
for the estimate of the value in use the unlevered financial method, applied in an "asset side" 
approach.

For foreign investee companies, the value in use is calculated starting from the cash flows 
expressed in local currency, discounted according to a discount rate representative of the risks 
related to this currency and then converted in euro at the spot exchange rate at the estimate 
reference date.

The discount rate used for the valuations is equal to the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC), which weights the cost of own capital and financial debt, calculated as nominal, 
after-tax rate. The analysis also made use of a parameter associated with the execution risks 
incorporated in the plans, the so-called "specific risk premium", differentiated for each individual 
company and reported in the analysis of the results of the individual equity investments.

Results

SIA CENTRAL EUROPE

The plan seems challenging, but the EBITDA margin is consistent with historical data.

Key parameters 
The risk-free rate is differentiated between analytical and terminal period to reflect a 

plausible assumption of Hungarian risk-free rates increasing over time from current levels.
The execution premium is set at 4%.
The long-term growth rate "g" is estimated in two stages: for the first stage (5 years) it is 

equal to the average of the GDP growth rates in Hungary (5.1%) and in the euro area (3%); for 
the second stage it is equal to the long-term expected inflation rate in Hungary (3%).

The resulting WACC is equal to 12.9% in the plan period and 15.2% on the terminal value.

Summary of results
The carrying amount of SIA-CE in the separate financial statements of SIA as at 31 

December 2015 is equal to € 15.2 million.
The impairment test carried out in application of the methodology described above shows 

that the recoverable amount of the equity investment (converted in euros at the exchange rate 
of 31 December 2015) is greater than its carrying amount and therefore there is no need to 
carry out a write-down.

The consultant appointed by the company has also carried out a stress test to verify the 
robustness of the carrying amount to separate and joint changes of the discount rate of the 
terminal cash flow (up to +1.0%) and the terminal EBITDA flow (up to -10.0%). Although these 
assumptions seem very restrictive, the stress test confirms the robustness of the carrying 
amount of goodwill, as the value in use has always been found to be greater.
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TSP

The dynamics of the revenue forecast in the plan seems to be prudent, while the operating 
margins (EBITDA) are expected to increase.

Key parameters
The risk-free rate is differentiated between analytical and terminal period to reflect a 

plausible assumption of Italian risk-free rates increasing over time from current levels.
The execution premium is set at 4%.
The growth rate "g" is estimated as the long-term average of the expected Italian inflation 

rates (2016-2020 time horizon) and is equal to 1.2%.
The resulting WACC is equal to 11.1% in the plan period and 13.5% on the terminal value.

Summary of results
The carrying amount of TSP in the separate financial statements of SIA as at 31 December 

2015 is equal to € 3.6 million.
The impairment test carried out in application of the methodology reported above shows 

that the recoverable amount of the equity investment is greater than its carrying amount and 
therefore there is no need to carry out a write-down.

The consultant appointed by the company has also carried out a stress test to verify the 
robustness of the carrying amount to separate and joint changes of the discount rate of the  
terminal cash flow (up to +1.0%) and the terminal EBITDA flow (up to -10.0%). The sensitivity 
analysis has substantially confirmed the robustness of the carrying amount, as the value in use 
has always been found to be greater.

PERAGO FSE

The plan, even in the context of the constant growth of the company in the last two years, 
is believed to be challenging. The revenue is forecast to remain stable in the first year of plan 
with respect to the final figures, and then increase in later years. The EBITDA margin is constant 
in the plan period, but significantly greater than in 2015.

Key parameters
The risk-free rate is equal to the average rate of South African ten-year government 

securities, in the 12 months before the reference date of the estimate.
An additional country risk, not reflected in the risk-free rate, was considered, due to the 

fact that Perago operates mainly in countries different from the one where its registered offices 
are located.

The execution premium is set at 4%.
The long-term growth rate "g" is estimated in two stages: for the first stage (5 years) it is 

equal to the average of the GDP growth rates for South Africa (7.96%) and that of developed 
countries (3.92%); for the second stage, it is equal to the average of the long-term expected 
inflation rates for South Africa (5.50%) and that of developed countries (2.08%).

The resulting WACC was equal to 18.3%.
In the calculation of the value in use we also considered a potential tax credit (until now not 

recognised in the financial statements for prudential reasons), deriving from losses of previous 
periods carried forward. The tax credit was estimated by the consultant on the basis of the tax 
rate in force, under the prudential assumptions that losses from previous periods will be used 
in the next 10 years, discounted at a discount rate equal to the WACC of Perago.
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Summary of results
The carrying amount of Perago in the separate Financial Statements of SIA as at 31 

December 2015 was equal to € 1.4 million.
The impairment test carried out in application of the methodology described above shows 

that the recoverable amount of the equity investment (converted in euros at the exchange rate 
of 31 December 2015) is greater than its carrying amount and therefore there is no need to 
carry out write-downs. The value is found to be greater also net of the tax credit previously 
reported.

The consultant appointed by the company also carried out a stress test to verify the 
robustness of the carrying amount to separate and joint changes of the discount rate of the 
terminal cash flow (up to +1.0%) and the terminal EBITDA flow (up to -10.0%). The stress test 
substantially confirms the robustness of the carrying amount, as the value in use has always 
been found to be greater.

EMMECOM

Since becoming part of the Group, the company has always reported profits, even if these 
have remained below budget forecasts, mainly due to delays in the development of the so-
called "new business". The 2016-2018 plan, approved by the competent bodies, contains 
forecasts objectively very challenging, which have induced the external consultant, also on the 
basis of the substantial discrepancy between medium-term plan objectives and historical data, 
to carry out a prudential adjustment of plan forecasts for the purposes of the application of 
the DCF method.

Key parameters
The risk-free rate is differentiated between analytical and terminal period to reflect a 

plausible assumption of Italian risk-free rates increasing over time from current levels.
The execution premium is set at 2%, lower than that applied to the other companies, given 

the prudential adjustment already made to the plan forecasts.
The growth rate "g" is estimated as the long-term average of the expected Italian inflation 

rates (2016-2020 time horizon) and is equal to 1.2%.
The resulting WACC is equal to 8.7% in the plan period and 11.2% on the terminal value.

Summary of results
The carrying amount of the equity investment corresponding to 51% of the share capital of 

Emmecom in the separate Financial statements of SIA as at 31 December 2015 was equal to 
€ 4.1 million, corresponding to an € 8.0 million value of the entire share capital.

The impairment test carried out in application of the methodology reported above shows 
that the recoverable amount of the equity investment is greater than its carrying amount and 
therefore there is no need to carry out write-downs.

The consultant appointed by the company has also carried out a stress test to verify the 
robustness of the carrying amount to separate and joint changes of the discount rate of the  
terminal cash flow (up to +1.0%) and the terminal EBITDA flow (up to -10.0%). The sensitivity 
analysis has substantially confirmed the robustness of the carrying amount, as the value in use 
has always been found to be greater.
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The external consultant was not asked to carry out an impairment test on the PI4PAY 
subsidiary on the basis of the following elements:

 › its shareholders' equity is much greater than the carrying amount (€ 4.6 million against 
€ 2.9 million carrying amount);

 › the company has never distributed dividends and has always reported a profit.

Changes in Equity investments (thousands of euros)

31/12/2014 Increases Decreases Impairment 31/12/2015

RA Computer  9,000  -   (9,000)  -    -   

Perago FSE  1,400  -    -    -    1,400 

PI4PAY  -    2,900  -    -    2,900 

TSP  6,687  -   (3,062)  -    3,625 

SIA Central Europe  15,200  -    -    -    15,200 

Emmecom Srl  4,080  -    -    -    4,080 

Subsidiaries  36,367  2,900 (12,062)  -    27,205 

Perago Africa - Trustlink  391  -    -   (136)  255 

ATS  932  -    -    -    932 

Associated and joint ventures  1,323  -    -   (136)  1,187 

Other equity investments  -   

Total  37,690  2,900 (12,062) (136)  28,392 

The decrease is mainly due to the incorporation of RA Computer and the TSP business unit, 
including the equity investment in Pi4Pay.

Information on equity investments

Equity investments (thousands of euros)

Share capital

TOTAL 
SHAREHOLDERS' 

EQUITY
Net result for the 

year
Share equity 

investment Carrying value

Subsidiaries      

Perago FSE  2  147  254 100%  1,400 

PI4PAY  600  4,602  842 100%  2,900 

TSP  500  3,518  333 100%  3,625 

SIA Central Europe  560  5,320  1,791 100%  15,200 

Emmecom Srl  40  1,499  503 51%  4,080 

Associated and joint ventures      27,205 

Perago Africa - Trustlink  -    -    -   16.57%  255 

ATS  -    -    -   30%  932 

Other equity investments      1,187 
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TSP S.R.L.

The company is based in Milan and is wholly owned by SIA. After the demerger of the 
Gateway business unit to SIA S.p.A., carried out with tax and accounting effects from 1 January 
2015, TSP had a share capital of € 500,000 as at 31 December 2015, and shareholders' 
equity of € 3.5 million, including net result for the year.

TSP is as a solution integrator and supplier of system components, designing and managing 
solutions for the provisions of payment services, close loop fidelity cards, electronic clearance 
on postal current accounts and credit cards, through POS network terminals. In 2015 the 
company recorded a positive revenue performance, mainly due to increased volumes related 
to the activities of direct resale to consumers of telephone top-ups for a major phone network, 
started in 2013.

The 2015 financial statements show € 38.4 million revenues, € 0.6 million operating 
result and € 0.3 million net profit.

PI4PAY S.R.L.

The shares in Pi4Pay S.r.l., previously held by TSP, formed part of the assets of the Gateway 
business unit, which was demerged and then merged with the parent company SIA. Therefore, 
starting from 1 January 2015, Pi4Pay, has been 100% controlled by SIA.

The exclusive purpose of the company is to carry out financial activities for the public and, 
more specifically, provide payment services supporting the Group business. Established in 
2009 and based in Milan, this company commenced operations in 2010. The entry of Pi4Pay 
onto the Register of Payment Institutions was authorised by the Bank of Italy in 2011.

The shareholders' equity as at 31 December 2015, which includes a share premium 
reserve of € 600,000, was € 4.6 million, including the result for the year. The 2015 financial 
year ended with revenues of € 3.7 million, an operating result of € 1.2 million and a net profit 
of € 0.8 million.

SIA CENTRAL EUROPE ZRT.

The company, 100% owned by SIA and acquired in 2007, is based in Budapest (Hungary) 
and has a share capital of HUF 177 million (equal to € 560,000 as at 31 December 2015) and 
a shareholders' equity, including the result for the year, of € 5.3 million. SIA Central Europe, a 
leader in Hungary in payment systems and payment card processing, mainly provides financial 
and corporate institutions, payment card issuers and acquirers, with ATM and POS terminal 
management services, transaction switching, fraud monitoring and other payment system 
services.

In keeping with SIA’s three-year Strategic Plan, SIA Central Europe’s aim is to consolidate 
and expand the Group’s presence in Hungary and across its key operating areas (Austria, Poland, 
Romania, Slovakia, Czech Republic, Slovenia, Croatia) by offering innovative and competitive 
technological systems in the payments sector, for financial and corporate institutions, in 
compliance with European legislative requirements (SEPA, PSD, etc.).

SIA Central Europe has operated as a commercial hub since 2012 for all services offered 
by the SIA Group in Hungary and in Central European countries.

The 2015 financial statements show revenues of € 8.4 million and an operating result of 
€ 2.1 million. The financial year closed with net profits of € 1.8 million.
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PERAGO FSE LTD

The company is located in Pretoria (Republic of South Africa) and, based on the experience 
acquired as a result of the transformation of payment systems in the Republic of South Africa, 
has developed its own RTGS (Real Time Gross Settlement) system, considered by the market 
to be a sophisticated, modular and scalable system based on the most advanced technologies 
in the sector.

There were revenues of € 6.7 million in 2015 and an operating result of € 0.3 million, with 
a net profit of € 0.3 million.

The share capital is ZAR 30,000 (equal to € 2,000 at 31 December 2015) while 
shareholders' equity at year end was € 0.1 million.

EMMECOM S.R.L.

SIA S.p.A. has a 51% equity investment in the company through an acquisition finalised 
in June 2013, which included put and call options for acquisition of the remaining 49% which 
can be exercised by SIA, or the minority shareholders, starting from May 2016 and May 
2015 respectively. The company, based in Turin, specialises in fixed, mobile and satellite 
telecommunication networks. Established in 2000, Emmecom combines the quality services 
offered by the main telephone providers with development of solutions for specific target 
customers, that ensure the optimisation of costs, guarantee of savings (benchmark, cash flow, 
tariff consulting) and full services (telephone, access to Internet, added-value services, mobile 
telephone).

There was a value of production of € 13.4 million in 2015, an operating result of € 0.9 
million, with a net profit of € 0.5 million. At year-end, the shareholders' equity amounted to 
€ 1.5 million.

Equity investments in associated companies and other companies, recognised using the 
equity method, are as follows:

ATS S.P.A.

In December 2000, SIA acquired 30% of ATS S.p.A., which has a share capital of € 120,000. 
This is a software development company that operates mainly in the banking and finance 
sectors and has been an important SIA business partner for many years. In 2014 the company 
reported profits for approximately € 40,000.

TRUSTLINK LTD

SIA S.p.A. holds a 16.57% of the capital of the associated company Trustlink, down with 
respect to 2014 (27.4%). Trustlink is a service provider for the members of the SWIFT network 
in the Sub-Saharan area and carries out activities of development and maintenance of software 
applications for the financial and telecommunications sector. In 2014 the company reported a 
loss of ZAR 2,814,904, corresponding to approximately € 200,000.
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■■ 4. Non-current financial assets

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Financial assets at fair value  -  -  - 

Assets held until maturity  -  -  - 

Financial assets available for sale  15  -  15 

Hedging derivatives  -  -  - 

Total  15  -  15 

The value refers to the equity investment in Banca Etica, previously held by the incorporated 
RA Computer. 

■■ 5. Other non-current assets

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Improvements third party assets  418  805 (387)

Total  418  805 (387)

■■ 6. Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets were € 7,801,000 (€ 7,141,000 as at 31 December 2014).
Changes in deferred tax assets during the year were recognised to profit and loss for 

€ 949,000 and negative with contra-item in shareholders' equity for € 289,000.
The deferred tax assets allocated refer to temporary differences for the current year, which 

will be reversed in 2016 and therefore the allocation was carried out using the 27.5% tax rate, 
without having to adjust the amount recognised on the basis of the new 24% tax rate expected 
from 2017.
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■■ Current assets

■■ 7. Inventories

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Contract work - share within year  853  2,046 (1,193)

Total  853  2,046 (1,193)

■■ 8. Current financial receivables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Due from subsidiaries/parent company  2,008  7,019 (5,011)

Total  2,008  7,019 (5,011)

The amount refer to the loan disbursed in previous years to Perago FSE in order to enable 
it to conduct operations; the decrease is due to the discharge of the loan temporarily disbursed 
in 2014 to RA Computer to allow it to carry out the incorporation into SIA without having to wait 
out the time period otherwise required for the protection of third party creditors.

■■ 9. Current financial assets

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Assets held for trading  353  -  353 

Total  353  -  353 

Assets held for trading represent the value of the call option granted and sold by the 
executives of SIA and its Belgian branch, during the reserved capital increase resolved by the 
Shareholders' Meeting on 23 July 2015. The recognised value was calculated as € 0.25 for 
each of the 1,410,253 call options.

The main features of the call option were the following:

 › it is offered with newly-issued shares, with a 1:1 ratio;

 › it gives a right (and not an obligation) to the company to buy back the shares issued to the 
executives, within a certain period of time and under certain circumstances;

 › it lasts at most three years from the time the shares were subscribed (mid-2015);

 › it is an American option, that is, it may be exercised at any time during the period 
in question; it is however "conditional", in the sense that it may be exercised, at the 
discretion of the company, only if the employment contract of the executive (beneficiary of 
the shares) is terminated;

 › the strike price is equal to the share issue price.
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An external consultant was appointed to value the call option; for the results of this 
evaluation, we refer the consolidated Financial Statements.

■■ 10. Current tax assets

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Tax credits previous years  2,837  2,837  -   

IRAP  2,446  -    2,446 

Total  5,283  2,837  2,446 

The amount mainly refers to the IRES (corporate income tax) refund motion, presented in 
2013 for the non-deduction of IRAP (regional business tax) on personnel and similar costs for 
the years 2007-2011, as envisaged in art. 2, paragraph 1-quater, of Law Decree no. 201, 6 
December 2011, as well as to the IRAP receivable for € 2,446,000 net of the payables accrued 
in the year.

■■ 11. Current due from customers

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Receivables for invoices issued  69,707  79,588 (9,881)

Receivables for invoices issued - current  70,866  80,663 (9,797)

Due from customers reserve - current (1,159) (1,075) (84)

Receivables for invoices to be issued  56,365  12,460  43,905 

Receivables for invoices to be issued to subsidiaries/
parent companies  2,161  5,608 (3,447)

Receivables for invoices to be issued  54,204  6,852  47,352 

Total  126,072  92,048  34,024 

During the year SIA has gradually aligned the date of issue and delivery to the clients of 
the invoices to the invoice date. This practice, besides increasing transparency towards clients, 
aligning the company to the best international practice, has only a marginal impact on the 
actual collection times. The application of this method to assign the invoice date, implies that 
at the end of each month, and then also at the end of the year, the issue and the delivery of the 
invoice, and then also the invoice date, takes place a few days after the end of the month of 
accrual, when the transactions invoiced were recognised by the accounting systems, resulting 
then in a high number and value of invoices to be issued, with a decrease in receivables for 
invoices issued.
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Given the short-term nature of trade receivables, SIA believes that their carrying values, net 
of any bad debt provision, are a good approximation of fair values.

Changes in bad debt provision (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Opening (1,075)  1,545 

Increases (82)  -   

Decreases  -   (470)

Exchange rate differences and other changes (2)

Closing (1,159)  1,075 

We provide below a breakdown of trade receivables by past-due time.

Receivables by past-due time (thousands of euros)

from 0  
to 90 days

from 90  
to 180 days > 180 days Total

Trade receivables  6,065  2,897  4,376  13,338 

Total  6,065  2,897  4,376  13,338 

■■ 12. Other current assets

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Guarantee deposits  129  70  59 

Due from subsidiaries/parent company for consolidated tax  -    -   

Advances to suppliers  254  124  130 

Due from employees  76  72  4 

Other assets  2,879  2,722  157 

Tax receivables  8  8  -   

Prepayments and accrued income  12,625  12,893 (268)

Total  15,971  15,889  82 

■■ 13. Cash and cash equivalents

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Cash  12  13 (1)

Current account and bank deposits  105,236  68,762  36,474 

Total  105,248  68,775  36,473 

The increase is mainly due to the operating profit. 
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Liabilities and Shareholders' equity

■■ Liabilities and Shareholders' equity

■■ 14. Shareholders' equity

Share capital

The share capital is fully paid and is equal to € 22,274,620, divided into 171,343,227 
ordinary shares with a nominal value of € 0.13 each. During the year a capital increase 
reserved to the management for a total of € 183,333 was resolved and carried out.

Share issue premium

The share issue premium was equal to € 5,316,654 and refers to the capital increase 
carried out in 2015 and reserved to the management, in execution of the resolution of the 
Shareholders' Meeting of 23 July 2015.

Legal reserve

Before the capital increase reserved to the executives of the company, the legal reserve, 
at € 4,418,258, had already reached one-fifth of the share capital and, pursuant to art. 2430 
of the Italian Civil Code, was not increased last year.

Reserve for merger surplus

This reserve, equal to € 77.048.709 (€ 78.844.027 as at 31 December 2014), represents 
the difference generated by the merger by incorporation, carried out in 2007, between SSB 
S.p.A. and SIA S.p.A. After the merger, the incorporating company SSB S.p.A. changed its 
name to SIA S.p.A. The changes in the reserve over the year were the effect of the merger by 
incorporation of RA Computer.

Reserve for demerger surplus

This reserve was equal to € 5,698,828 (€ 1,425,801 as at 31 December 2014). The 
increase for the year is due to the differential between the carrying values deriving from the 
demerger of the Gateway business unit of TSP and the carrying amount of the corresponding 
equity investment.

FTA (First Time Adoption) reserve

This reserve had a total negative value of € 6,053,628 and represents the equity changes 
deriving from the first time adoption of IAS/IFRS accounting standards on 1 January 2014.

Valuation reserve

This reserve was recognised for a total negative value equal to € 1,041,098 (€ 1,990,844 
as at 31 December 2014) and represents the equity effects deriving from items that require 
an equity contra-item in compliance with IAS/IFRS standards. The change in the reserve during 
year resulted from the actuarial component of the employee severance indemnity and the 
seniority payments.
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Revaluation reserve for equity investments

This reserve was recognised for a total value of € 2,714,625, unchanged with respect to 
2014, and represents revaluations carried out in previous years related to TSP for € 1,271,884 
and SiNSYS for € 1,442,741.

Profits carried forward

Profits carried forward were equal to € 31,277,862 after the distribution of net income for 
2014 in execution of the resolution of the Shareholders' Meeting of 26 March 2015, allocating 
2014 profits to dividends for € 35,685,925 and profits carried forward for € 23,927,355.

■■ Non-current liabilities

■■ 15. Non-current financial payables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Other non-current financial payables  8,188  10,137 (1,949)

Total  8,188  10,137 (1,949)

The amount is related to the component with maturity greater than the twelve months of 
the financial leases for the acquisition of technology infrastructure.

■■ 16. Provisions for personnel

(thousands of euros)

Employee severance 

Opening balance  17,444 

Increases  

Provisions  4,594 

Changes from business combinations  3,595 

Exchange rate differences  -   

Other changes  -   

Decreases  

Payments carried out (5,459)

Changes from business combinations  - 

Exchange rate differences  -   

Other changes (1,845)

Final balances  18,329 
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Accounting data
Employee 
severance 
indemnity

Seniority  
payment

Number of employees as at 31.12.2015 1,498 685

Accounting Reserve as at 31.12.2014 18,145,928

Accumulated changes as at 31.12.2015 123,484 (324,597)

Accounting Reserve as at 31.12.2015 18,499,162

Changes in current value of obligation
Employee 
severance 
indemnity

Seniority  
payment

(+) DBO as at 31.12.2014 19,918,477 941,738

(+) Current Service Cost 0 45,666

(+) Interest Expense 27,153 1,059

(-/+) Actuarial (Gains)/Losses arising (1,869,616) 27,207

(-) (Balance of Fund movements) 123,484 (324,597)

(+) DBO as at 31.12.2015 18,199,499 691,073

Charges for defined-benefit schemes recognised in profit or loss
Employee 
severance 
indemnity

Seniority  
payment

Current Service Cost 45,666

Interest Expense 27,153 1,059

Actuarial (Gains)/Losses recognised 27,207

Total 27,153 73,932

Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)
Employee 
severance 
indemnity

Seniority  
payment

Actuarial (Gains)/Losses arising in the period to be recognised in OCI (1,869,616)

- Actuarial (Gains)/Losses for changes in demographic assumptions (104,428)

- Actuarial (Gains)/Losses from changes in financial assumptions (2,036,465)

- Other Actuarial (Gains)/Losses arising in the period 271,278

We note that the starting balance as at 31/12/2014 does not include the values related 
to the employee severance indemnity of the subsidiary RA Computer and the values of the 
employees of the Gateway business unit of TSP, these values were included by the actuary 
in the calculations of the values as at 31/12/2015. We also note that the data calculated 
by the actuary are always net of the employee severance indemnity set aside on the variable 
compensations since this is settled every year.
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Actuarial assumptions used

Financial assumptions:

Discount rate 
Eur Composite AA curve 

at 31.12.2015

Maturities (years) Rates

1 0.033%

2 0.132%

3 0.289%

4 0.492%

5 0.705%

7 1.111%

8 1.290%

9 1.464%

10 1.623%

15 2.072%

Inflation rate 1.50%

Expected rate of pay increase (including inflation) N.A.

Percentage of employee severance indemnity requested in 
advance 100%

Demographic assumptions:

Maximum retirement age
According to latest legal 

provisions

Mortality tables SI 2013

Average annual percentage of personnel exit* 2.26%

Annual probability of request for an advance 1.00%

* calculated for any cause of termination, in the first ten years after the assessment year

Sensitivity analysis Sensitivity

EMPLOYEE  
SEVERANCE INDEMNITY  

New DBO

Discount rate
+0.50% 17,141,197

-0.50% 19,338,101

Additional information
EMPLOYEE  

SEVERANCE INDEMNITY 

Duration (in years) 12.38

Payments expected
EMPLOYEE  

SEVERANCE INDEMNITY 

Payments expected as at 31.12.2016 401,137

Payments expected as at 31.12.2017 444,273

Payments expected as at 31.12.2018 494,004

Payments expected as at 31.12.2019 552,691

Payments expected as at 31.12.2020 649,184

Payments expected from 1.01.2021 to 31.12.2025 4,657,482

SIA S.p.A. financial statements as at 31 December 2015

169



■■ 17. Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities were € 307,000 against € 389,000 as at 31 December 2014.
During the year there was a decrease of € 94,000 with effects to income statement and 

an increase of € 12,000 with contra-item to shareholders' equity.

■■ 18. Provisions for risks and charges

(thousands of euros)

Charges  
for personnel Tax disputes Other provisions Total

Opening balance  837  458  941  2,236 

Increases     

Provisions for the year  1,073  -  74  1,147 

Other changes  -    -    -    -   

Decreases     

Use during the year (837)  - (324) (1,161)

Other changes  -    -    -    -   

Final balances  1,073  458  691  2,222 

 

The changes in the balance of the provisions for personnel charges result from new 
provisions and disbursements carried out during the year. The provision includes the cost 
needed to meet personnel reorganisation expenses. During the period, the amounts stated in 
the letters signed with the involved employees were set aside. The uses refer to the amounts 
that were disbursed to the employees who left the company in 2015.

The item Other provisions refers to the seniority payments to be recognised to the 
employees on the basis of the company complementary agreement. These values were 
adjusted according to the payments carried out during the year and the actuarial estimates 
carried out by the experts appointed.

The recognised amount related to the current disputes with the Revenue Office pertaining 
to the tax years 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009, substantially covers the estimate of legal fees 
which may be incurred for the protection of the company's rights. It should be noted that some 
disputes are still pending with the Revenue Office. One dispute concerns the services provided 
by the company SINSYS, subsequently merged into SIA, toward SIA itself which, according 
to the interpretation by the Revenue Office, should have been subject to VAT from the Italian 
organisation rather than from the parent company, although the VAT relating to the amounts 
agreed for said services had already been paid by SIA through the issuance of the so-called 
"self-invoicing". Another dispute concerns the transfer prices used by SiNSYS to calculate the 
revenue between the Belgian parent company and the Italian and Dutch subsidiaries: although 
the method chosen by the company (i.e. the so-called "profit split", as per the OECD guidelines) 
was acceptable, the criteria used by the company to allocate the costs among the three offices 
was disputed.

On 1 December 2015, the hearing of the disputes concerning the tax audits for 2007 and 
2008 for the cases above described was carried out in front of Section 1 of the Provincial Tax 
Commission of Milan.
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On 14 January 2016 the lower court issued a ruling, upholding in its entirety the appeals 
filed by the company.

Encouraged by the ruling of the lower court, even if an appeal by the Revenue Office cannot 
be ruled out, the company, together with its tax and legal advisers, continues to believe the 
criticism to be unfounded and the sanctions not applicable.

A third dispute concerns the depreciation rates applied to the installations used for the 
provision of business services that the Revenue Office has deemed to be too high by comparing 
the installations to simple electrical systems; also in this case, the company believes that it 
can demonstrate the rapidity of technological obsolescence of the installations and therefore 
the appropriateness of the rates applied. On 24 November 2015, the disputes concerning the 
tax audits were (jointly) discussed at the hearing in front of Section 25 of the Provincial Tax 
Commission of Milan. We are waiting for the judges of first degree to file the corresponding 
judgements.

The company believes that there are no reasons justifying an adjustment of the provision 
for risks, which currently includes the estimate legal expenses.

■■ 19. Other non-current liabilities

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Other non-current liabilities  5,659  -    5,659 

Total  5,659  -    5,659 

Non-current liabilities refer to the amounts set aside for the management long-term 
incentive plan and related to the share accrued that will be disbursed in 2018. As at 31 
December 2014 these items had a maturity of less than 12 months.

■■ Current liabilities

■■ 20. Current financial payables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Current bank debt  -    1 (1)

Other current financial payables  4,996  7,283 (2,287)

Total  4,996  7,284 (2,288)

 
Other current financial payables represent the short-term component (maturity of less 

than 12 months) of the amounts due to leasing companies for the acquisition of technology 
infrastructure.
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■■ 21. Current tax liabilities

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

IRES  5,511  1,859  3,652 

Total  5,511  1,859  3,652 

The value is calculated from the difference of the total tax for the year and the advances 
paid.

■■ 22. Current trade payables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Payables to suppliers - current  30,106  26,059  4,047 

Trade payables to subsidiaries/parent companies - current  1,437  3,886 (2,449)

Trade payables to associated companies - current  1,433  1,436 (3)

Total  32,976  31,381  1,595 

Given the short-term nature of trade payables, SIA believes that their carrying values are a 
good approximation of fair values.

■■ 23. Other current liabilities

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Client advances  691  2,650 (1,959)

Social security payables  16,097  16,849 (752)

Due to Directors and Statutory Auditors  533  533  -   

Due to employees  15,531  17,033 (1,502)

Accrued expenses and deferred income  2,762  279  2,483 

Tax payables  4,543  4,128  415 

Other liabilities  5,798  2,425  3,373 

Total  45,955  43,897  2,058 

Payables to employees mainly refer to the variable compensation component (MBO) of 
the management of the Group, as well as to the company bonus (VAP), agreed with the trade 
unions and granted to all SIA employees and executives according to the results achieved. The 
decrease from the previous year mainly reflects the payment of the 2014 Long Term Incentive, 
carried out at the end of 2015.

The increase in other liabilities is mainly due to higher amounts set aside for credit lines 
to be issued to clients.

The decrease of the advances from clients is due to lower project activities.
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Analysis of the items of the income statement

■■ 24. Revenues from sales and services

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Services  388,820  336,880  51,940 

Total  388,820  336,880  51,940 

 
The change in revenue is mainly due to the incorporation of RA Computer and TSP. For this 

reason the breakdown of the revenue and the comments on the main differences were made 
in the consolidated Financial Statements.

■■ 25. Other revenues and income

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Other revenue  450  487 (37)

Contingent assets  2,128  3,891 (1,763)

Capital gains  6  22 (16)

Total  2,584  4,400 (1,816)

 
Other revenue includes positive exchange rate differences for € 79,000 (€ 27,000 in 

2014).

■■ 26. Changes in inventories for third parties

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Third party inv. (2,118) (943)  1,175 

Internal capex on 3rd party projects  136  -   (136)

External capex on 3rd party projects  55  -   (55)

Value finished 3rd party projects  417  2,045  1,628 

Total (1,510)  1,102  2,612 
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■■ 27. Costs for raw and ancillary materials, consumables and goods

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Commodities and products (1,538) (1,185)  353 

Total (1,538) (1,185)  353 

The increase is mainly due to the purchases for a project carried out for a Central Bank.

■■ 28. Service costs

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Rental (27,355) (24,384)  2,971 

Maintenance (13,848) (13,370)  478 

Lines (10,532) (11,791) (1,259)

Outsourcing (10,812) (9,971)  841 

Property management (10,510) (9,745)  765 

Consulting (40,654) (36,493)  4,161 

Royalties (7,139) (5,246)  1,893 

General expenses (6,535) (5,684)  851 

Insurance (784) (842) (58)

Total (128,169) (117,526)  10,643 

 

We describe below the main changes from the previous year, noting that 2014 data does 
not include RA Computer and the TSP business unit.

Rental: higher costs referred to the contract with an operator for greater use of MIPS 
mainframe and full activation of the active-active hardware architecture to provide the e-money 
services simultaneously from two sites, reducing restarting times in the case of breakdown.

Maintenance: higher maintenance costs for the transmission network infrastructures and 
new application services, partly offset by savings from discarded or rationalised processing 
infrastructures.

Lines: renewal of contract with the main operator, at a lower rate.

Outsourcing: higher costs for services related to credit cards, back office, bank statements, 
security services and archive alignment.

Consulting: higher costs mainly from the incorporation of RA Computer and the development 
of new services, as well as non-recurring project activities.

Royalties: higher payments to international credit card management circuits, which have 
generated a corresponding increase in revenue for processing services.

General expenses: higher costs for external relations activities and corporate car rentals.
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The fees for auditing activities carried out on the separate and consolidated financial 
statements and the assessments of regular corporate bookkeeping, including tax return 
certifications, paid to Deloitte & Touche S.p.A by the parent company during the year, were 
€ 210,000.

■■ 29. Personnel costs

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Wages and salaries (86,354) (66,549)  19,805 

Social security costs (22,592) (18,419)  4,173 

Employee severance indemnity (4,594) (4,020)  574 

Payments to pension funds (2,559) (2,365)  194 

Restructuring costs (2,590) (2,638) (48)

Other costs (6,675) (9,283) (2,608)

Travel expenses (2,506) (1,646)  860 

Other collaborators (465)  -    465 

Directors and Statutory Auditors (1,327) (1,255)  72 

Directors (1,139) (1,067)  72 

Statutory Auditors (188) (188)  -   

Charge-back seconded personnel  740  476 (264)

Costs seconded personnel (475) (1,533) (1,058)

Capitalised internal personnel costs  2,070  1,460 (610)

Total (127,327) (105,772)  21,555 

The following table shows the workforce of SIA S.p.A. by category, on average for the year 
and at 31 December 2015.

31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Employees (year-end) Employees Executives Employees Executives Total Total

SIA  1,442  34  1,100  31  1,476  1,131 

Total  1,442  34  1,100  31  1,476  1,131 

31/12/2015 31/12/2014 31/12/2015 31/12/2014

Employees (average) Employees Executives Employees Executives Total Total

SIA  1,420  34  1,087  31  1,454  1,118 

Total  1,420  34  1,087  31  1,454  1,118 
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■■ 30. Other operating costs

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

VAT (12,503) (12,789) (286)

Tax charges (255) (305) (50)

Capital losses (11) (406) (395)

Other charges (3,524) (2,815)  709 

Total (16,293) (16,315) (22)

 
VAT charges were stable, despite the percentage of non-deductibility substantially 

decreasing, from 43% to 38%. This positive effect in fact was offset by higher service costs 
subject to VAT incurred by SIA S.p.A. for the merger by incorporation of RA Computer and the 
demerger of the TSP Gateway business unit.

Other charges include negative exchange rate differences for € 296,000 (€ 103,000 in 
2014) and amortisation/depreciation charges on improvements to third party goods.

■■ 31. Amortisation/Depreciation

(thousands of euros)

Depreciation Revaluations Net income

Tangible owned assets (3,858) (3,858)

Tangible assets acquired in finance lease (7,749) (7,749)

Total (11,607)  -   (11,607)

(thousands of euros)

Amortisation Revaluations Net income

Intangible owned assets (9,520)  -   (9,520)

Total (9,520)  -   (9,520)

Total amortisation/depreciation (21,127)  -   (21,127)

■■ 32. Adjustments trade receivables

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Adjustments trade receivables (82)  -  82 

Total (82)  -  82 

 
The adjustment to the bad debt provision was carried out on the basis of analysis of the 

individual credit positions and in compliance with internal policy rules.
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■■ 33. Income (charges) on equity investments  

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Adjustments value equity investments (136) (177)  41 

Dividends  6,800  6,800  -   

Total  6,664  6,623  41 

 
The value adjustment on equity investment refers to the adjustment of the carrying amount 

of the company Trustlink to its market value. Dividends refer to the amounts disbursed in 
2015 by the companies TSP for € 5,500,000 and SIA CE for € 1,300,000 in execution of the 
respective resolutions of the Shareholders' Meetings.

Adjustments value equity investments (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Write-downs (136) (177)  41 

Total (136) (177)  41 

       

Dividends (thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Subsidiaries  6,800  6,800  - 

Total  6,800  6,800  - 

■■ 34. Financial income

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Interest income  811  1,784 (973)

Total  811  1,784 (973)

Interest income decreased as a result of lower rates of return, despite average liquidity 
being greater in 2015 than in 2014.
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■■ 35. Financial charges

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Interest Paid (319) (348) (29)

Bank charges (191) (156)  35 

Total (510) (504)  6 

Interest paid refers to payables for leased tangible assets. The increase in bank charges 
is mainly due to the higher number of bank guarantees issued.

■■ 36. Income tax

(thousands of euros)

31/12/2015 31/12/2014
Changes

2015 on 2014

Current taxes (30,420) (24,250)  6,170 

Previous years' taxes  60  100  40 

Deferred tax assets  949 (3,542) (4,491)

Deferred tax liabilities  93  -   (93)

Total (29,318) (27,692)  1,626 

Current taxes increased with respect to the previous year due to the higher profits achieved, 
net of the benefit deriving from the deduction of personnel costs from the IRAP tax base.

Reconciliation between theoretical and effective tax rates (thousands of euros)

2015 2014

2015 2014  IRES  IRAP  IRES  IRAP 

Ordinary applicable tax rate  27.5% 3.90%   27.5% 3.90%

Profit (loss) for the year before 
taxes 102,323 87,979  28,139   24,036  

- IAS effects (6,800) (574)  (1,870)   0  

- Income exempt from IRES (24,148) (36,233)  (6,641)   (9,964)  

- Dividends 0 (6,800)  0   (1,870)  

- IRES non-deductible costs 25,616 22,987  7,044   6,321  

- IRAP taxable income 96,359 183,603   3,758   7,161

- IRAP-exempt income (1,747) (41,700)   (68)   (1,626)

- IRAP non-deductible costs 619 2,866   24   112

Total    26,672 3,714  18,524 5,646

Effective tax rate    26.07% 3.63%  21.05% 6.42%
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Breakdown of deferred tax assets and liabilities

(thousands of euros)

2015 2014

 Temporary  
diff. amount 

 Tax effect  
(x% tax rate) 

 Temporary  
diff. amount 

 Tax effect  
(x% tax rate) 

Deferred tax assets:

Bad debt provision  1,268 349 1,268 349

Personnel costs and expenses payable 19,824 5,452 17,899 4,922

Write-down of tangible assets 3,404 936 1,004 276

Write-down of intangible assets 324 102 239 73

Other 956 263 1,732 476

IAS effects 2,494 700 3,787 1,045

Total 28,269 7,801 25,928 7,141

Deferred tax liabilities:     

Dividends 66 20 406 113

Bad debt provision 44 12   

IAS effects 1,003 276 1,003 276

Total 1,114 308 1,409 389

SIA S.p.A.
The Chairman of the Board of Directors

Giuliano Asperti
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Information on fair value

The table below provides a breakdown of the assets and liabilities measured at fair value, 
by fair value hierarchy levels.

For the definition of the levels, the company refers to the hierarchy specified by IFRS 13, 
according to which the inputs of the valuation techniques adopted is allocated to one of three 
levels:

 › level 1:  includes quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the company can access at the valuation date;

 › level 2:  inputs other than the quoted prices included in the level 1, directly or indirectly 
observable for the asset or liability;

 › level 3:  unobservable input data for the asset or liability. 

(thousands of euros)

Carrying amount L1 L2 L3

Non-current financial assets

Financial asset available for sale  15  X 

Current financial assets

Assets held for trading  353  X 

Assets held to maturity  -  X 

Total  368 

Given the short-term nature of trade receivables and payables, SIA believes that their 
carrying values, net of any bad debt provision, are a good approximation of fair values.

(thousands of euros)

2015

Initial value  16 

Purchases/capital increases  353 

Sales/settlements  - 

Adjustment at fair value to shareholders' equity  - 

Other changes (1)

Final value  368 

The increase for the year corresponds to the value of the call option granted and sold by 
the executives of SIA and its Belgian branch, within the reserved capital increase resolved by 
the Shareholders' Meeting on 23 July 2015.
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■■ Information on the compensation of key managers 

As at 31 December 2015, the compensation due to key managers was € 3,318,000 
(€ 2,997,000 as at 31 December 2014). € 706,000 of this had been disbursed (€ 706,000 
as at 31 December 2014).

The total compensation accrued in 2015 to Directors and Statutory Auditors was 
€ 1,774,000 (€ 1,985,000 in 2014). The decrease derives from the incorporations carried 
out in 2015.

This compensation is recognised in profit and loss under "Personnel costs".
With regard to the statement of financial position items, we note other current liabilities 

for € 765,000 (€ 2,291,000 as at 31 December 2014) and other non-current liabilities for 
€ 1,666,000 (zero as at 31 December 2014). The changes are due to the recognition of the 
Long Term Incentive.

■■ Other transactions with related parties

The transactions carried out with related parties are part of the ordinary business activities 
of the companies of the Group and are carried out in compliance with the principle of substantial 
and procedural fairness, under the same conditions applied to transactions with independent 
third parties.

For the purposes of the preparation of this report, a related party is understood, pursuant to 
IAS 24, to be a person or an entity related to the entity that prepares the financial statements.

A person or a close family member of that person is related to the company that prepares 
the financial statements if this person:

 › has control or joint control of the company that prepares the financial statements;

 › has a significant influence on the company that prepares the financial statements;

 › is one of the key managers of the company that prepares the financial statements, or of 
its parent company.

An entity is related to the company that prepares the financial statements if any of the 
following conditions applies:

 › the entities are part of the same group (which means that each parent company, subsidiary 
and company of the group is related to the others);

 › an entity is associated to or a joint venture of the other entity (or an associated company 
or a joint venture belonging to a group to which the other company belongs);

 › both entities are joint ventures of a same third party;

 › an entity is a joint venture of a third company and the other entity is an associated 
company of the third entity;

Transactions with related parties
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 › the entity is a post-employment benefits plan set up for the employees of the entity that 
prepares the financial statements or a company related to this. If the entity that prepares 
the financial statements is also a plan of this type, the sponsoring employers are also 
related to the entity that prepares the financial statements;

 › the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified as a related party;

 › a person identified as a related party has a significant influence on the entity or is one of 
the key managers of the entity (or its parent company).

Among the transactions with related parties, we note transactions with the company ATS, 
of which SIA holds 30%. These transactions are not believed to have had a significant impact 
on either the income statement or the statement of financial position.

The incidence of these relationships on the items of the statement of financial position and 
the income statement as at 31 December 2015 is believed to be marginal.

We provide below a summary table of the relationships with related parties.

(thousands of euros)

Receivables 
31/12/2015

Payables  
31/12/2015 2015 costs 2015 revenue

Subsidiaries

TSP S.r.l.

Trade  1,050  384  508  1,500 

Dividends  -    -    -    5,500 

PI4PAY     

Trade  787  -    -    1,279 

SIA Central Europe     

Trade  447  362  1,450  1,639 

Dividends  -    -    -    1,300 

Emmecom     

Trade  28  179  161  67 

Perago FSE Ltd.     

Trade  963  512  4,576  205 

Financial  2,008  -    -    32 

Associated and Other     

ATS S.p.A.     

Trade  -    1,433  4,942  -   

The financial receivables from Perago refer to a loan disbursed to meet the cash 
requirements of the subsidiary, maturing the following year.

The services provided by SIA to the companies of the Group mainly refer to personnel 
seconded for operating needs of the companies, facility management for the operating 
systems and network services. The subsidiaries provide processing services to SIA, using their 
specialised competencies.

ATS provides to SIA specialised consulting.
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The objective of SIA is to maximise the return on net invested capital preserving the ability 
to operate over time, ensuring adequate returns for the shareholders and benefits for the other 
stakeholders, with a sustainable financial structure. The company achieves these objectives 
not only by obtaining satisfactory earnings and generating cash flows, but also by intervening 
on the dividend policy and on the capital structure.

The main indicators used by the company for capital management purposes are:

 › R.O.E. (Return on equity): this is calculated as ratio of the profit for the year to shareholders' 
equity. It is an indicator of the ability of SIA to remunerate its shareholders. The objective 
is that the indicator takes a value greater than the rate of return on a risk-free investment, 
according to the nature of the business managed.

 › Ratio of operating income and invested capital: the indicator represents the ability of profit 
to remunerate invested capital understood as sum of non-current and current assets.

The value of these indicators in 2015 is reported, together with the corresponding 2014 
values for comparison, in the special section of the Management Report.

Capital management policy
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Qualitative information on the risks is provided in a special section of the Management 
Report in the Consolidated financial statement: all risk factors, including financial ones, are 
reviewed.

The same section of the Management Report reports quantitative information on the risks 
of a non-financial nature.

The quantitative information on financial risks is instead reported below.

■■ Credit risk
SIA is marginally exposed to credit risk for its operating activities and for the management 

of financial resources and cash.
The quantitative information, which consist in the breakdown of trade receivables by 

past-due time, in the allocations to bad debt provision and in the indication of any significant 
position to individual counterparties, are reported in the comments on trade receivables and/
or cash and cash equivalents.

■■ Liquidity risk
The quantitative information consists in the indication of the liquidity reserves available 

at the reference date and in the breakdown by maturity of the payables and the other financial 
liabilities, in the tables below:

Reserves of liquidity (thousands of euros)

2015 2014

Cash and cash equivalents  105,248  68,775 

Current financial assets  353  -   

Committed lines not used (*)  28,250  27,750 

Total  133,851  96,525 

Breakdown of liabilities by residual maturity (thousands of euros)

Within 1 year
From 1  

to 2 years
From 2  

to 5 years
More than  

5 years Total

Bond loans  -    -    -    -    -   

Financial payables  4,995  3,763  4,425  -    13,183 

Financial liabilities  -    -    -    -    -   

Trade payables  32,976  -    -    -    32,976 

Other payables  51,468  308  5,659  -    57,435 

Total  89,439  4,071  10,084  -    103,594 

Policy for the management of financial risks

184

SIA › Management Report and Financial Statements as at 31|12|2015



This table reports the contractual cash flows, not discounted, of the gross financial debt 
at its nominal values of repayment and the interest payments, calculated using the conditions 
and the interest and exchange rates at the end of the year.

■■ Exchange rate risk
The company operates mainly in the euro area, therefore it is not significantly exposed to 

exchange rate risks. The amount of the contracts bought and sold in foreign currency is not 
substantial and therefore these do not have a significant impact on the values recognised.

We also refer to the information provided in the Notes to the separate financial statements 
showing the profits and losses due to fluctuations of the exchange rates, which provide 
indication of marginal values.

■■ Interest rate and market risks
The company is exposed to interest rate risk through its financial payables related to 

finance leases.
SIA holds the available liquidity mainly in current accounts and bank deposits, with fixed 

or variable rates.
In light of the above and given the expected curve of the interest rates in the euro area 

in the next few years, we do not expect economic impacts that would require the execution of 
special sensitivity analysis.

Financial assets (thousands of euros)

2015 2014

Fixed rate Variable rate Fixed rate Variable rate

Cash and cash equivalents  -  105,248  -  68,775 

Non-current financial assets  -  15  -  - 

Current financial assets  -  353  -  - 

Total  -  105,616  -  68,775 

Financial liabilities (thousands of euros)

2015 2014

Fixed rate Variable rate Fixed rate Variable rate

Bond loans  -  -  -  - 

Non-current financial liabilities  -  -  -  - 

Current financial liabilities  -  -  -  - 

Non-current financial payables  -  8,188  -  10,137 

Current financial payables  -  4,995  -  7,284 

Total  -  13,183  -  17,421 
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For groups of companies that are not required by Legislative Decree no. 38, 28 February 
2005 to prepare the consolidated financial statements in compliance with the "International 
Financial Reporting Standards" (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), art. 3 of said Decree offer the option to do so voluntarily. In compliance with art. 4 
of Legislative Decree no. 38, 28 February 2005, the parent company SIA S.p.A. has chosen 
to exercise this right and prepare its financial statements in compliance with international 
accounting standards.

The IASB has prepared a special accounting standard called IFRS 1, to regulate the change 
in accounting standards in a consistent and coordinated way; this requires:

 › the preparation of an opening statement of financial position at the transition date 
prepared according to the criteria set by IFRS;

 › the application of IFRS in the first financial statements prepared according to the new 
standards and in all periods used for comparison;

 › the preparation of a disclosure on the effects of the transition to the international 
accounting standards.

The application of IFRS must therefore take place retrospectively with reference to the 
transition date, i.e. 1 January 2014, and at least one set of comparative financial statements 
for 2014 must be prepared with the same IFRS standards in force from 1 January 2015.

In this section we provide the following information, as required by IFRS 1:

 › reconciliation between consolidated shareholder's equity according to Italian accounting 
standards and according to IFRS, as at 1 January 2014 (date of first-time adoption of 
international accounting standards, henceforth "FTA") and as at 31 December 2014 
(comparison period);

 › reconciliation between consolidated profit or loss, according to the Italian accounting 
standards and according to IFRS, for the first half of 2014 and for 2014 as a whole;

 › the corresponding explanatory notes on the nature of the main adjustments made to the 
consolidated shareholders' equity and profit or loss for the periods considered.

The reconciliation between the shareholder's equity as at 1 January 2014 and as at 31 
December 2014, as well as the reconciliation of the profit or loss as at 31 December 2014 
were audited by the auditing company. The report of the auditing company can be found at the 
end of this section.

Transition to IAS/IFRS - international 
accounting standards
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Consolidated SIA Group

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION- ASSETS (thousands of euros)

01/01/2014 
 ITA-GAAP

A) Receivables v/ shareholders for payments still due  - 

B) Fixed assets 69,391

 I) Intangible assets 48,560

 II) Tangible assets 15,118

 III) Financial assets 5,713

  1) Equity investments: 5,574

  2) Receivables  139

C) Current assets 269,471

 I) Inventories 2,935

  1) Raw materials, consumables and goods 565

  3) Contract work in progress 2,370

 II) Receivables 134,758

  1) Due from clients 118,721

  3) Due from associated companies  

  4-bis) Tax receivables 656

  4-ter) Deferred tax assets 10,668

  5) Other receivables 4,713

 II) Cash and cash equivalents 131,778

D) Accruals and deferrals 13,822

TOTAL ASSETS 352,684
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION- ASSETS (thousands of euros)

IAS/IFRS ADJUSTMENTS

01/01/2014 
ITA-GAAP SIA RA COMPUTER TSP CONSOLIDATED

01/01/2014
IAS/IFRS

Non-current assets 82,429 19,563 (267)  - 1,802 103,527

Property, plant and equipment 15,118 23,577 38,695

Intangible assets 48,560 771 (282) 1,802 50,851

Property investments

Equity investments 5,574 (4,800) 774

Contract work 2,370 2,370

Non-current trade receivables 139 139

Other receivables and non-current assets  - 

Deferred tax assets 10,668 15 15 10,698

Current assets 270,255  -  -  -  - 270,255

Inventories 565 565

Current financial receivables  - 

Current financial assets  - 

Current tax assets 656 656

Current trade receivables 132,543 132,543

Receivables different and other current 
assets 4,713 4,713

Cash and cash equivalents 131,778 131,778

Asset held for sale  - 4,800  -  -  - 4,800

Asset being disposed 4,800 4,800

TOTAL ASSETS 352,684 24,363 (267)  - 1,802 378,582
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION -  
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (thousands of euros)

01/01/2014 
ITA-GAAP

A) Shareholders' equity 216,289

I) Share Capital 22,091

IV) Legal reserve 4,418

VII) Other reserves 80,270

VIII) Profits (losses) carried forward 60,199

IX) Profit (loss) for the year 48,819

Minority interests:

X)  Share capital 773

XII)  Profit (loss) for the year (281)

B)  Provisions for risks and charges 5,876

C)  Employee severance indemnity 19,862

D)  Payables 108,634

4)  Due to banks 2,769

6)  Advances 5,438

7)  Due to suppliers 36,614

10) Due to associated companies/investee companies 1,721

12) Tax payables 10,964

13)  Due to social security institutions 19,508

14)  Other payables 31,620

D)  Accruals and deferrals 2,023

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 352,684
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
(thousands of euros)

IAS/IFRS ADJUSTMENTS

01/01/2014 
ITA-GAAP SIA RA COMPUTER TSP CONSOLIDATED

01/01/2014
IAS/IFRS

Shareholders' equity 216,289 748 (1) 27 1,802 218,865

Share capital 22,091 22,091

Share issue premium  - 

Treasury shares  - 

Valuation reserve  - 

Other reserves 144,887 748 (1) 27 1,802 147,463

Profit (loss) for the year 48,819 48,819

Shareholders' equity of third parties 492 492

Non-current liabilities 28,507 17,365 (266) (27)  - 45,579

Non-current financial payables 2,769 17,420 20,189

Provisions for personnel 19,862 (1,003) (266) (37) 18,556

Deferred tax liabilities 10 10

Provisions for risks and charges 5,876 948 6,824

Current liabilities 107,888 6,250  -  -  - 114,138

Current financial payables 6,250 6,250

Current tax liabilities 10,964 10,964

Current trade payables 45,796 45,796

Payables different and other liabilities 51,128 51,128

Liabilities held for sale  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Liabilities being disposed  - 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 352,684 24,363 (267)  - 1,802 378,582
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (thousands of euros)

31/12/2014
ITA-GAAP

A) Value of production 436,394

 1) Revenues from sales and services 426,295

 3) Change in work in progress 1,214

 4) Increases in own work capitalised 4,141

 5) Other revenues and income 4,744

B) Costs of production 341,227

 6) For raw and auxiliary materials, consumables and goods 36,976

 7) For services 99,112

 8) For use of third-party assets 37,774

 9) For personnel 125,211

 10) Amortisation, depreciation and write-downs 24,288

 12) Provisions for risks 112

 14) Sundry operating costs 17,754

Difference between the value and cost of production (A-B) 95,167

C) Financial income and charges 1,629

 16) Other financial income 1,782

 17) Interest and other financial charges (176)

 17-bis) Exchange gains and losses 23

E) Extraordinary income and charges (2,638)

 20) Income 62

 21) Charges (2,700)

Profit before taxes (A-B+C+D+E) 94,158

 22) Income tax for the year, current and deferred (33,317)

Profit (loss) including minority interests 60,841

 22 bis) Profit / loss for the year - minority interests (77)

Profit / Loss for the year 60,764
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (thousands of euros)

IAS/IFRS ADJUSTMENTS

31/12/2014
ITA-GAAP SIA RA COMPUTER TSP CONSOLIDATED

31/12/2014
IAS/IFRS

Revenues from sales and services 426,295 426,295

Other revenues and income 4,450 4,450

Changes in inventories for third parties 1,214 1,214

Costs for raw and ancillary materials, 
consumables and goods (29,473) (29,473)

Service costs (138,269) 6,598 (290) (131,961)

Personnel costs (131,194) 10 (10) (2) (131,195)

Other operating costs (16,748) (16,748)

EBITDA 116,275 6,608 (300) (2) 0 122,582

Amortisation/Depreciation (23,709) (5,586) 192 4,434 (24,669)

Value adjustments of tangible and 
intangible assets  - 

Adjustments trade receivables (112) (112)

Allocation to provision for risks  - 

EBIT 92,454 1,022 (108) (2) 4,434 97,801

Financial income 1,818 1,818

Financial charges (214) (348) (562)

Net income before tax 94,058 674 (108) (2) 4,434 99,057

Income tax (33,217) (33,217)

Profit (loss) for the year 60,841 674 (108) (2) 4,434 65,840

Net income attributable to minority 
interests (77) (77)

Net income attributable to the Group 60,764 674 (108) (2) 4,434 65,763
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SIA S.p.A.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - ASSETS (thousands of euros)

01/01/2014 
 ITA-GAAP

A) Receivables v/ shareholders for payments still due  -   

B) Fixed assets 79,701

 I) Intangible assets 24,207

 II) Tangible assets 12,740

 III) Financial assets 42,754

  1) Equity investments: 42,667

  2) Receivables 87

C) Current assets 229,686

 I) Inventories 944

  1) Raw materials, consumables and goods  - 

  3) Contract work in progress 944

 II) Receivables 114,979

  1) Due from clients 86,035

  3) Due from associated companies 14,791

  4-bis) Tax receivables 2,837

  4-ter) Deferred tax assets 9,638

  5) Other receivables 1,678

 II) Cash and cash equivalents 113,763

D) Accruals and deferrals 12,326

TOTAL ASSETS 321,713
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - ASSETS (thousands of euros)

IAS/IFRS 
ADJUSTMENTS

01/01/2014 
ITA-GAAP

01/01/2014
IAS/IFRSSIA

Non-current assets 84,452 19,563 104,015

Property, plant and equipment 12,740 23,577 36,317

Intangible assets 23,013 771 23,784

Property investments  - 

Equity investments 37,867 (4,800) 33,067

Contract work  - 

Non-current trade receivables  - 

Other receivables and other non-current assets 1,194 1,194

Deferred tax assets 9,638 15 9,653

Current assets 232,461 (7,617) 224,844

Inventories 944 944

Current financial receivables 2,036 2,036

Current financial assets 0  - 

Current tax assets 2,837 2,837

Current trade receivables 98,783 98,783

Receivables different and other current assets 14,098 (6,800) 7,298

Cash and cash equivalents 113,763 (817) 112,946

Asset held for sale 4,800 4,800 9,600

Asset being disposed 4,800 4,800 9,600

Total Assets 321,713 16,746 338,459
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  
(thousands of euros)

01/01/2014 
ITA-GAAP

A) Shareholders' equity 216,538

I) Share Capital 22,091

IV) Legal reserve 4,418

VII) Other reserves 82,985

VIII) Profits (losses) carried forward 60,292

IX) Profit (loss) for the year 46,752

B) Provisions for risks and charges 5,864

C) Employee severance indemnity 15,945

D) Payables 82,980

4) Due to banks 2,384

6) Advances 23,033

7) Due to suppliers 2,262

10) Due to associated companies/investee companies 1,721

12) Tax payables 8,213

13) Due to social security institutions 18,231

14) Other payables 27,136

D) Accruals and deferrals 386

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 321,713

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
(thousands of euros)

IAS/IFRS 
ADJUSTMENTS

01/01/2014 
ITA-GAAP

01/01/2014
IAS/IFRSSIA

Shareholders' equity 216,538 (6,052) 210,486

Share capital 22,091 22,091

Share issue premium  - 

Treasury shares  - 

Valuation reserve  - 

Other reserves 147,695 (6,052) 141,643

Profit (loss) for the year 46,752 46,752

Non-current liabilities 21,809 17,365 39,174

Non-current financial payables 17,420 17,420

Provisions for personnel 15,945 (1,003) 14,942

Deferred tax liabilities 113 113

Provisions for risks and charges 5,751 948 6,699

Current liabilities 83,366 5,433 88,799

Current financial payables 6,250 6,250

Current tax liabilities 2,521 2,521

Current trade payables 26,036 26,036

Payables different and other liabilities 54,809 (817) 53,992

Liabilities held for sale  -  -  - 

Liabilities being disposed  - 

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 321,713 16,746 338,459
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INCOME STATEMENT (thousands of euros)

31/12/2014
ITA-GAAP

A) Value of production 346,179

 1) Revenues from sales and services 336,880

 3) Change in work in progress 1,102

 4) Increases in own work capitalised 3,247

 5) Other revenues and income 4,950

B) Costs of production 264,308

 6) For raw and auxiliary materials, consumables and goods 1,883

 7) For services 92,928

 8) For use of third-party assets 35,438

 9) For personnel 100,667

 10) Amortisation, depreciation and write-downs 16,507

 12) Provisions for risks  - 

 14) Sundry operating costs 16,885

Difference between the value and cost of production (A-B) 81,871

C) Financial income and charges 8,351

 15) Income from equity investments 6,800

 16) Other financial income 1,783

 17) Interest and other financial charges (156)

 17-bis) Exchange gains and losses (76)

D) Value adjustments of financial assets (178)

 19) Write-downs (178)

E) Extraordinary income and charges (2,638)

 20) Income 0

 21) Charges (2,638)

Profit before taxes (A-B+C+D+E) 87,406

 22) Income tax for the year, current and deferred (27,792)

Profit / Loss for the year 59,614
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INCOME STATEMENT (thousands of euros)

IAS/IFRS 
ADJUSTMENTS

31/12/2014
ITA-GAAP

31/12/2014
IAS/IFRSSIA

Revenues from sales and services 336,880 336,880

Other revenues and income 4,400 4,400

Changes in inventories for third parties 1,102 1,102

Costs for raw and ancillary materials, consumables  
and goods (1,185) (1,185)

Service costs (124,124) 6,598 (117,526)

Personnel costs (105,782) 10 (105,772)

Other operating costs (16,315) (16,315)

EBITDA 94,976 6,608 101,584

Amortisation/Depreciation (15,920) (5,586) (21,506)

Value adjustments of tangible and intangible assets  -  - 

Adjustments trade receivables  -  - 

Allocation to provision for risks  -  - 

EBIT 79,056 1,022 80,078

Adjustments value equity investments (178) (178)

Dividends 6,800 6,800

Financial income 1,784 1,784

Financial charges (157) (348) (505)

Net income before tax 87,305 674 87,979

Income tax (27,691) (27,691)

Profit (loss) for the year 59,614 674 60,288
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■■ Reconciliation of consolidated shareholders' equity under 
Italian accounting standards and IAS/IFRS accounting 
standards

RECONCILIATION OF ITA GAAP AND IAS/IFRS CONSOLIDATED 
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (thousands of euros)

01/01/2014 31/12/2014

Consolidated shareholder's equity under Italian accounting standards 216,289 176,450

Finance leases (93) (200)

 - Plants and equipment in finance lease 23,577 17,220

 - Due to leasing companies (23,670) (17,420)
 
Intangible assets 2,291 7,398

 - Projects developed internally (282) (243)

 - Reversal consolidation differences on goodwill 2,573 7,778

 - Projects under development  -  (137)
 
Provisions for risks and charges (948) (941)

- seniority payments (948) (941)
 
Provisions for personnel 1,306 (2,052)

- employee severance indemnity 1,306 (2,052)
 
Other effects 20 922

- Taxes 20 922
 
Attribution to minority interests of IAS/IFRS effects  -   -  

TOTAL EFFECTS IAS/IFRS TRANSITION 2,576 5,127
 
CONSOLIDATED IAS/IFRS SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 218,865 181,577
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■■ Reconciliation of shareholders' equity under Italian accounting 
standards and IAS/IFRS

RECONCILIATION OF ITA GAAP AND IAS/IFRS SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (thousands of euros)

01/01/2014 31/12/2014

Shareholders' equity under Italian accounting standards 216,538 175,891

Finance leases (93) (200)

 - Plants and equipment in finance lease 23,577 17,220

 - Due to leasing companies (23,670) (17,420)

Intangible assets 771 1,542

 - Projects developed internally  -    -   

 - Reversal differences on goodwill 771 1,542

 - Projects under development  -    -   

Provisions for risks and charges (948) (941)

- seniority payments (948) (941)

Provisions for personnel 1,003 (1,740)

- employee severance indemnity 1,003 (1,740)

Receivables from subsidiaries (6,800) (6,800)

- dividends accrued and not collected (6,800) (6,800)

Other effects 15 770

- Taxes 15 770

TOTAL EFFECTS TRANSITION IAS/IFRS (6,052) (7,369)
 
IAS/IFRS SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 210,486 168,523
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■■ Reconciliation of consolidated profit and loss under Italian 
accounting standards and IAS/IFRS 

RECONCILIATION OF CONSOLIDATED ITA GAAP AND IAS/IFRS PROFIT OR LOSS 
(thousands of euros)

2014

Consolidated profit or loss under Italian accounting standards 60,764

Finance leases (107)

 - Interest paid on finance leases (348)

 - Lease payments 6,598

 - Depreciation asset in finance lease (6,357)

Intangible assets 5,107

 - Projects developed internally (290)

 - Amortisation of goodwill 771

 - Amortisation/ projects developed internally 192

 - Amortisation consolidation differences 4,434

Personnel (2)

 - Seniority payments 67

 - Employee severance indemnity (69)

Other effects  -  

Attribution of IAS /IFRS effects to minority interests  -  

TOTAL EFFECTS IAS/IFRS TRANSITION 4,999
 
IAS/IFRS CONSOLIDATED PROFIT OR LOSS 65,763
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■■ Reconciliation of profit or loss under Italian accounting 
standards and IAS/IFRS

RECONCILIATION OF ITA GAAP AND IAS/IFRS PROFIT OR LOSS (thousands of euros)

2014

Profit or loss under Italian accounting standards 59,614

Finance leases (107)

 - Interest paid on finance leases (348)

 - Lease payments 6,598

 - Depreciation asset in finance lease (6,357)
 
Intangible assets 771

 - Amortisation of goodwill 771
 
Personnel 10

 - Seniority payments 67

 - Employee severance indemnity (57)
 
Other effects  - 

Attribution of IAS /IFRS effects to minority interests  - 

TOTAL EFFECTS IAS/IFRS TRANSITION 674
 
IAS/IFRS PROFIT OR LOSS 60,288

Description of the general standards set by IFRS 1

The accounting standards IFRS already adopted by the European Union were applied 
retrospectively to the opening statement of financial position at the transition date, i.e. 1 
January 2014, in compliance with the provisions of IFRS 1 – First time adoption, with some 
exceptions, as described below.

The opening statement of financial position on 1 January 2014 reflects the following 
differences in treatment with respect to the financial statements at the end of the previous year 
(31 December 2013), prepared in compliance with Italian accounting standards:

 › all assets and liabilities for which recognition is required by IFRS, including those for which 
recognition is not required by Italian accounting standards, were recognised and measured 
according to IFRS, thus exercising the right offered by IFRS 1;

 › all assets and liabilities for which recognition is required by Italian accounting standards, 
but not allowed by IFRS, were derecognised;

 › some items were reclassified according to IFRS provisions.

The effects of these adjustments were recognised in the opening shareholders' equity at 
the FTA date of IFRS (1 January 2014).
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For first-time application, IFRS 1 provides the option of requesting some exemptions from 
the provisions of international accounting standards. This option was exercised in the following 
cases:

Business combinations
We made use of the exemption allowing retroactive application of the relevant international 

accounting standards and we applied IFRS 3 to all business combinations completed after 1 
January 2012, as follows:

 › for the business combinations carried out before this date, the book value calculated 
according to the accounting standards at the transition date to IFRS was confirmed;

 › for the business combinations carried out after this date, we reinstated the value of the 
goodwill originated at their date of completion according to IFRS.

Tangible and intangible assets
Tangible and intangible assets may be recognised at an "estimated" book value (at the 

transition date) represented by its fair value or by its revalued cost, rather than at the value 
obtained through retroactive application of the relevant international accounting standards (IAS 
16, IAS 17, IAS 38 and IAS 40). We decided to not make use of this exemption and therefore 
used the general method of the retroactive application.

Adjustments for exchange rate differences
IAS 21 provides for the recognition of certain translation differences among the items of 

the statement of comprehensive income, in a separate shareholders' equity item; on disposal 
of a foreign company, the translation differences related to this company are re-classified from 
shareholders' equity to profit or loss. However, companies adopting IFRS for the first time do 
not have to comply with these requirements for the differences observed at the transition date 
and therefore the adjustments for exchange rate differences may be taken equal to zero at the 
transition date. We decided to make use of this exemption.

Equity investments
When a company prepares its separate financial statements, it must recognise its equity 

investments at cost or in compliance with IAS 39. In the first case, in the opening statement 
of financial position of the separate financial statements, drafted in compliance with IFRS, the 
company must measure the equity investment at the cost calculated in compliance with IAS 
27 or at the deemed cost, equal to the fair value at the transition date or the carrying amount 
according to the previous accounting standards at this date. The equity investments in the 
separate financial statements are measured at the cost calculated in compliance with IAS 27.

Transition of the subsidiaries
If a subsidiary adopts the international accounting standards for the first time after its 

parent company, it must, in its financial statements, measure the asset and the liabilities 
alternatively:

 › at the carrying amounts that would be recognised in the consolidated Financial Statements 
of the parent company, at the transition date chosen by this, if no adjustments were carried 
out for the consolidation method and the effects of the business combination in which the 
parent company has acquired the control;
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 › at the carrying amounts expected at the time of the transition to international accounting 
standards by the subsidiary.

In practice, subsidiaries adopting IFRS after their parent company are allowed to use for 
their separate financial statements the accounting data sent to the parent company for the 
purposes of the consolidated Financial Statements of Group, instead of re-calculating their 
carrying amounts. The SIA Group has exercised this option, therefore subsidiaries adopting 
IFRS after the parent company will have to use at their FTA date the accounting data sent to 
the parent company for the preparation of the consolidated Financial Statements of the Group.

Description of items in reconciliation of Italian accounting standards and IAS/IFRS

Goodwill from business combinations
According to the provisions of IFRS 3, goodwill resulting from business combinations 

is no longer systematically amortised, but tested for impairment at least once a year, with 
recognition to profit or loss of any impairment identified.

On first-time application of IFRS, the carrying amount of goodwill resulting from business 
combinations is maintained equal to the carrying amount measured according to the previous 
accounting standards. A company can choose not to apply IFRS 3 retroactively to previous 
business combinations; however if any business combination is re-measured according to IFRS 
3, the company must re-measure all business combinations completed after that date.

On first-time application of IFRS, as said before, the company has chosen to apply the 
provisions of IFRS 3 to all business combinations completed after 1 January 2012, proceeding 
as follows:

 › for business combinations carried out before this date, the book value calculated under 
the accounting standards at the FTA date was confirmed;

 › for business combinations carried out after this date, the goodwill value originated at their 
completion date was reinstated.

The adjustment then consists in the reversal of the amortisations recognised after 1 
January 2013 for all goodwill recognised at the FTA date.

Finance leases
According to the standard of the prevalence of substance over form, IAS 17 requires the 

asset object of a finance lease agreement (that is, the agreement that transfers to the lessee, 
in the substance, the risks and the benefits related to the ownership of the asset) to be 
recognised in the financial statements of the lessee, against a liability for the amounts due to 
the leasing company. Any lease payment is split between repayment of principal and interest 
charge: the first goes to reduce the outstanding lease liability, the second is recognised in profit 
and loss.

After the initial recognition, the value of the asset is subject to depreciation and impairment, 
if any, under IAS 16, like all other assets bought directly from the lessee.

Therefore tangible assets acquired through finance lease contracts (in the case of the 
SIA Group, hardware), according to this recognition method, are recognised in the statement 
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of financial position under "Tangible assets" and this item is offset by a financial debt to the 
leasing companies.

The adjustment accounts for the differences in the recognition of lease payments accrued 
at the transition date and the calculation of the accumulated depreciation on the carrying value.

Intangible assets
Both Italian accounting standards and international accounting standards allow the 

recognition of intangible assets at historical cost (as chosen by the company) or at fair value. 
The amortisation of intangible assets with defined useful life must be carried out by the 
company from the time when the asset becomes available. International accounting standards 
also require the identification of a systematic and adequately formalised process for the 
execution, at least once a year, of an impairment test on the intangible assets not yet available 
for use or with an indefinite useful life (not amortised).

According to the definition of the requirements for the recognition of the intangible assets 
given in IAS 38, some categories of costs that could be capitalised according to Italian 
accounting standards can no longer be capitalised according to international accounting 
standards (for example, training costs, start-up costs, etc.). Similarly, among internally generated 
intangible assets, IAS 38 does not allow capitalisation of research costs, which therefore must 
be recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred.

The composition of intangible assets, including those generated internally, was analysed to 
identify any capitalised cost that does not meet IAS capitalisation requirements and therefore 
must be derecognised. With regard to the parent company, we did not identify previously 
capitalised costs not meeting the capitalisation requirements set by IAS 38. Such costs were 
instead identified for the subsidiary RA Computer and therefore the capitalised costs not 
meeting the capitalisation requirements set by IAS 38, with the respective amortisations, were 
adjusted.

Dividends
The parent company SIA S.p.A., in its financial statements, benefits of the profits of its 

subsidiaries through the dividends it receives. According to Italian accounting standards, 
dividends are recognised at the time when, as a result of the resolution taken by the 
Shareholders' Meeting of the associated/subsidiary company to distribute dividends out of 
profit, or even reserves, the right to collect them accrues to the parent company. With regard 
to dividends from subsidiaries, the Italian accounting standards allow the recognition of these 
dividends to be brought forward, to the time when the corresponding profits have accrued, 
according to the distribution proposal approved by the Directors of the subsidiary, if the parent 
company has full control on the Shareholders' Meeting of the subsidiary.

IAS 18 provides for the dividends to be recognised when the right for the shareholders to 
receive the payment arises, which in this case is the time of the resolution of the Shareholders' 
Meeting. Therefore, on first-time application of IFRS, we have adjusted the dividends accrued, 
but not yet approved by the Shareholders' Meetings of the subsidiaries at the end of the year.

Provisions for personnel
IAS 19 regulates the accounting treatment of all categories of "benefits" to the employees, 

that is, all types of compensation (in cash, in kind, in securities of the company or other entities, 
etc.) that the company grants to its employees because of services provided to the company.
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The company grants to some of its employees, in addition to severance indemnities, other 
benefits: seniority payments are granted to those who stay with the company for a certain 
number of years.

The portion of employee severance indemnity kept within the company (according to 
applicable regulations and the allocation choice made by the employee) represents a "post-
employment benefit" of the defined-benefit type and therefore, according to IAS 19, the amount 
already accrued must be projected to the future to estimate the amount to be paid at the time 
of the termination of the employment and then discounted using the "projected unit credit 
method" to account for the time before the actual payment. The calculation of this liability then 
follows an actuarial logic.

The portion of employee severance indemnity transferred outside the company represents 
instead a "defined-contribution scheme" and therefore the charge is calculated according to 
the contributions due without the need to apply actuarial methodologies.

The estimate of the values according to IAS 19 has required the support of an independent 
actuary who, keeping into account the characteristics of the personnel involved and on the 
basis of demographic and financial assumptions, has calculated the residual maturity of the 
employment contracts for each individual or homogeneous group and the actuarial component. 
The adjustment represents, then, the difference between the actuarial calculation and the 
employee severance indemnity fund set aside in the financial statements according to the 
accounting method specified by the Italian accounting standards.

The independent actuary also carried out actuarial calculations on the liabilities 
corresponding to seniority payments, the cost of which was until now recognised at the time 
of the accrual/payment of the premium, according to the Italian accounting standards. These 
calculations were based on assumptions on the future premiums to be recognised to current 
employees, current seniority and working age limits, estimated exit rates, as well as the 
estimated annual growth of the average pro-capita premium. The adjustment represents the 
recognition of the current value of the seniority payments recognised to the employees.

The reconciliation statements as at 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014 were audited 
by the auditing company Deloitte & Touche S.p.A., within the auditing mandate granted to this.
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Board of Statutory Auditors' Report

SIA S.p.A.
Registered office: Via Francesco Gonin 36, Milan

Share Capital € 22,274,620= fully paid-up
VAT no. / Tax code / Milan Companies’ Register no. 10596540152.

R.E.A. Milan no. 1385874

Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors  
to the Shareholders' Meeting pursuant to art. 2429,  
par. 2, Italian Civil Code and Legislative Decree  
no. 127, 9 April 1991

To the Shareholders' Meeting of SIA S.p.A.
In the year ended 31 December 2015, we undertook our activities in accordance with legal 

requirements and the Code of Conduct for Boards of Statutory Auditors, issued by the Consiglio 
Nazionale dei Dottori Commercialisti e degli Esperti Contabili (CNDCEC), the professional body 
for certified accountants in Italy.

■■ Supervisory activities

We monitored your company’s compliance with legal and statutory requirements and the 
principles of proper business management.

We attended the Shareholders’ and Board Meetings and during these meetings, based on 
the available information, we did not observe any violation of legal and statutory requirements, 
nor any transaction that was manifestly imprudent or risky, implied a potential conflict of 
interest or such to compromise the integrity of the company’s assets.

During the meetings held, we obtained information from the Directors regarding the 
operating performance and outlook, as well as regarding transactions considered significant 
in terms of size or characteristics that were carried out by the Company and its subsidiaries. 
Based on the information obtained, we have nothing of note to report in this regard.

We met with the independent auditing company, and from the exchange of information no 
significant data or information came to light worth mentioning in this report.

We exchanged information with the statutory auditors of the subsidiaries, if not already 
members of the Board of Statutory Auditors of SIA S.p.A., with no significant data or information 
emerging worth mentioning in this report.

We obtained information from the Head of Risk Governance, with no significant data or 
information emerging worth mentioning in this report.
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We obtained information from the company’s Internal Audit Department, with no significant 
data or information emerging worth mentioning in this report.

We met with the members of the Supervisory Board and on the basis of their information 
provided we did not identify issues with regard to the correct implementation of the organisational 
model worth mentioning in this report.

We became acquainted with and oversaw, as part of our duties and responsibilities, the 
adequacy and operation of the Company’s organisational structure, also through the collection 
of information from the various department heads, and we have no comments to make in this 
regard.

We became acquainted with and oversaw, as part of our duties and responsibilities, 
the company’s administrative/accounting system, as well as its ability to present business 
operations and events reliably and correctly, by obtaining information from the various department 
heads, the independent auditors and through the analysis of company documentation. We have 
no comments to make in this regard.

As described in the Management Report, the following significant events took place in the 
period, among others: a) the partial demerger of TSP in favour of the parent company SIA came 
into force on 1 January 2015; b) the merger by incorporation of RA Computer into SIA came 
into force on 1 January 2015; c) the Board of Directors of the parent company SIA S.p.A. at the 
meeting of 25 June 2015 and the Shareholders' Meeting on 23 July approved the share capital 
increase reserved to the executives of the company and its Belgian branch, with exclusion of 
the option rights pertaining to the shareholders of the company pursuant to art. 2441, par. 8, 
of the Italian Civil Code. The capital increase reserved to management was therefore approved 
and carried out for a total of € 183,333.

Among the significant events occurred after the end the year we note: a) SIA acquired a 
68.89% stake (through share purchases and a capital increase) in UBIQ S.r.l. with registered 
office in Parma, a start-up established in 2012 from a spin-off of Parma University; b) SIA 
acquired a 51% stake in LM Enterprise S.r.l., established in 2011, with registered office in 
Rome, which provides consulting services.

No complaints as set forth in art. 2408 of the Italian Civil Code were received.
During the year in question, the Board of Statutory Auditors did not issue any of the 

opinions envisaged by law.
With the approval of the financial statements for the year ended at 31 December 2015, 

the mandate given to the auditing company Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. will expire. Today, at the 
end of the procedure within our competence, we have issued a reasoned proposal for audit 
mandate to be granted by the next Shareholders' Meeting, pursuant to art. 13 of Legislative 
Decree. 39/2010.

Our supervisory activities, as described above, did not reveal any other significant fact to 
be mentioned in this report.

■■  Separate and consolidated financial statements

For groups of companies that are not required by Legislative Decree no. 38, 28 February 
2005 to prepare the consolidated financial statements in compliance with the "International 
Financial Reporting Standards" (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), art. 3 of said Decree offer the option to do so voluntarily.

In compliance with art. 4 of Legislative Decree no. 38, 28 February 2005, the parent 

SIA S.p.A. financial statements as at 31 December 2015

207



company SIA S.p.A. has chosen to exercise this right and prepare its financial statements 
in compliance with international accounting standards. The process of adoption of IAS/IFRS 
accounting standards began therefore on 1 January 2015 and the date of First Time Adoption 
was set to 1 January 2014. The adoption of international accounting standards will make 
it easier to compare the results of the company with those of foreign companies, which is 
consistent with the ongoing process of internationalisation of the Group, besides being a 
precondition for the listing of the company in a regulated market.

We reviewed the draft financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, provided 
to us by the Board of Directors on 10 March 2016.

With regard to said draft financial statements, the following should be noted.
Since we were not charged with the audit of the financial statements, we oversaw their 

general layout and compliance with the law with regard to its preparation and structure, and in 
this regard we have no comments to make.

We have verified compliance with the legal provisions relevant to the preparation of the 
Management Report and we have no comments to make in this regard.

To the best of our knowledge, the Directors, in drawing up the financial statements, did not 
depart from the legal requirements laid down under art. 2423, par. 4, of the Italian Civil Code.

In the Management Report and the Notes, the Directors have informed us that a trusted 
external consultant was appointed to carry out an impairment test on the value of the equity 
investments and goodwill recognised respectively in the separate and consolidated financial 
statements. 

For all items tested for impairment, the expert report confirmed the carrying amounts of 
the previous year and therefore no impairments were recognised, with the exception of the 
€ 0.1 million impairment recognised in the separate financial statements on the carrying 
amount of the equity investment in the associated company Trustlink, adjusted to the market 
values deriving from a transaction on the capital between independent third parties.

As for the transactions with related parties, the information provided confirms that these 
transactions form part of the normal business activities of the companies of the Group and are 
carried out in compliance with the principle of substantial and procedural fairness, under the 
same conditions applied for transactions with independent third parties.

On 18 March 2016, the auditing firm Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. issued its own report 
pursuant to art. 14 of Italian Legislative Decree 39, 27 January 2010, which did not contain 
any findings. In the report Deloitte & Touche confirmed that the financial statements as at 31 
December 2015 give a true and fair view of the financial and economic position of the Company. 
The auditing firm also expressed its opinion on the consistency between the Management 
Report and the separate financial statements as at 31 December 2015.

In accordance with Italian Legislative Decree 127/1991, the Company also prepared the 
consolidated financial statements and Management Report.

The Board of Statutory Auditors oversaw the general layout and structure of these 
documents as well as their compliance with legal requirements regarding their preparation and 
structure. We have no comments to make in this regard.

On 18 March 2016, the auditing firm Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. issued the independent 
auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements, which did not contain any findings 
and in which the firm confirmed that the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 
2015 give a true and fair view of the financial position and profit or loss of the Group.
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The auditing firm also expressed its opinion regarding the consistency between the 
consolidated management report and the company’s consolidated financial statements as at 
31 December 2015.

■■ Conclusions

Considering also the results of the activities carried out by the independent auditors and 
described in these reports, the Board supports the proposal made by the Board of Directors to 
the Shareholders' Meeting to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2015, as drafted by the Directors, and has no objections to make on the proposal of the Board 
of Directors to allocate 2015 profits partly to legal reserves (€ 36,666), partly to dividend 
distribution (€ 49,689,535.83) and partly to profits carried forward (€ 23,279,008.17).

Lastly, we note that, with the approval of the financial statements as at 31 December 
2015, the mandate of the Board of Statutory Auditors comes to an end; it will be therefore 
necessary to appoint a new Board at the next Shareholders' Meeting.

Milan, 18 March 2016

The Board of Statutory Auditors
Prof. Mario Cattaneo - Chairman
Giorgio Silva - Standing Auditor
Pier Luigi Diociaiuti - Standing Auditor
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